
 

By receiving this Agenda Pack electronically you will save the Authority approx. £2.44 in 
printing costs 

 
 

Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. 
Rhowch wybod i ni os mai Cymraeg yw eich 

dewis iaith. 
We welcome correspondence in Welsh. Please 
let us know if your language choice is Welsh. 

 

Cyfarwyddiaeth y Prif Weithredwr / Chief 
Executive’s Directorate 
Deialu uniongyrchol / Direct line /: 01656 643148 / 
643694 / 643513 
Gofynnwch am / Ask for:  Democratic Services 
 
Ein cyf / Our ref:       
Eich cyf / Your ref:       
 
Dyddiad/Date: Thursday, 18 July 2024 

 

Dear Councillor,  
 
COUNCIL 
 
A  meeting of the Council will be held Hybrid in the Council Chamber Civic Offices, Angel Street, 
Bridgend, CF31 4WB on Wednesday, 24 July 2024 at 16:00. 
 
AGENDA 
 
1.  Apologies for absence    

 To receive apologies for absence from Members. 
 

2.  Declarations of Interest    
 To receive declarations of personal and prejudicial interest from Members/Officers in 

accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct adopted by Council from 1 September 
2008.   
 

3.  Approval of Minutes   5 - 30 

 To receive for approval the minutes of 13/03/2024 and 17/04/2024 
 

4.  Presentation to Council by Representatives of Dwr Cymru Welsh Water  
 

31 - 32 

5.  To receive announcements from:    

 (i) Mayor (or person presiding) 
(ii) Chief Executive 
 

6.  To receive announcements by the Leader  
 

 

7.  Revenue Budget Outturn 2023-24  
 

33 - 68 

8.  Capital Programme Outturn 2023-24 and Quarter 1 Update 2024-25  
 

69 - 94 

9.  Treasury Management Outturn Report 2023-24  
 

95 - 118 

10.  To receive the following Questions from:   
 

 

 Question from Cllr Graham Walter to the Leader 
 

Public Document Pack



Could the Leader confirm how many member referrals raised between 7/5/22 and 
31/12/2023 remain ‘Open’ 
 
Question from Cllr Ian Williams to the Cabinet Member Resources 
 
Can the Cabinet member for Resources please confirm whether or not all outsourced 
service companies are paying staff the "real living wage "? 
 
Question from Cllr Tim Thomas to the Leader 
 
Will the Leader comment on the timeliness of this council to reply to public and external 
correspondence? 
 
Question from Cllr Martin Williams to the Leader 
 
In light of the recent change of contractor for kerbside waste & recycling collection and the 
management of the recycling centres I would have expected an improvement in 
performance as they attempt to make a name for themselves. 
  
This hasn’t been the case and standards have slipped with non-collections across vast 
swathes of the borough on a daily basis coupled with recycling centres unable to take 
various materials due to operating issues. 
  
As the new arrangements were implemented on his watch could the Leader please give his 
assurances that Plan B are adhering to the contract they signed up to, and if not, BCBC will 
levy any financial penalties we are permitted under the contract? 
 

11.  Urgent Items    

 To consider any item(s) of business in respect of which notice has been given in 
accordance with Part 4 (paragraph 4) of the Council Procedure Rules and which the person 
presiding at the meeting is of the opinion should by reason of special circumstances be 
transacted at the meeting as a matter of urgency.   
 

12.  Exclusion of the Public    
 The following item is not for publication as it contains exempt information as defined in 

Paragraph 12 of Part 4 and Paragraph 21 of Part 5, Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) (Wales) 
Order 2007. 
 
If following the application of the public interest test Council resolves pursuant to the Act to 
consider this item in private, the public will be excluded from the meeting during such 
consideration. 
 
 

13.  Redundancy and Early Retirement Costs  
 

119 - 122 

Note: This will be a Hybrid meeting and Members and Officers will be attending in the Council 
Chamber, Civic Offices, Angel Street Bridgend / Remotely via Microsoft Teams. The meeting 
will be live and recorded for subsequent transmission via the Council’s internet site. For 
further details please contact cabinet_committee@bridgend.gov.uk or tel. 01656 643148 / 
643694 / 643513 / 643159. 
 
Yours faithfully 
K Watson 
Chief Officer, Legal and Regulatory Services, HR and Corporate Policy  

mailto:cabinet_committee@bridgend.gov.uk


 
Councillors: Councillors Councillors 
S Aspey 
H T Bennett 
A R Berrow 
F D Bletsoe 
S J Bletsoe 
JPD Blundell 
E L P Caparros 
N Clarke 
RJ Collins 
HJ David 
C Davies 
C L C Davies 
P Davies 
S Easterbrook 
M J Evans 
N Farr 
P Ford 

J Gebbie 
W R Goode 
RM Granville 
H Griffiths 
S J Griffiths 
GH Haines 
D T Harrison 
M L Hughes 
D M Hughes 
RM James 
P W Jenkins 
M R John 
M Jones 
MJ Kearn 
W J Kendall 
M Lewis 
J Llewellyn-Hopkins 

RL Penhale-Thomas 
J E Pratt 
R J Smith 
JC Spanswick 
I M Spiller 
T Thomas 
JH Tildesley MBE 
G Walter 
A Wathan 
A Williams 
AJ Williams 
HM Williams 
I Williams 
MJ Williams 
R Williams 
E D Winstanley 
T Wood 



This page is intentionally left blank



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 13 MARCH 2024 

 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE COUNCIL HELD HYBRID IN THE COUNCIL CHAMBER CIVIC OFFICES, ANGEL STREET, BRIDGEND, CF31 
4WB /REMOTELY VIA MICROSOFT TEAMS ON WEDNESDAY, 13 MARCH 2024 AT 16:00 
 
 

Present 
 

Councillor W J Kendall – Mayor and Chairperson 
 
H T Bennett A R Berrow F D Bletsoe S J Bletsoe 
JPD Blundell E L P Caparros N Clarke RJ Collins 
HJ David C Davies P Davies S Easterbrook 
M J Evans N Farr P Ford J Gebbie 
W R Goode M Jones M Lewis RL Penhale-Thomas 
J E Pratt R J Smith JC Spanswick T Thomas 
JH Tildesley MBE G Walter A Wathan A Williams 
AJ Williams HM Williams I Williams MJ Williams 
R Williams E D Winstanley T Wood J Llewellyn Hopkins 
S Aspey MJ Kearn I M Spiller  
 
 
Apologies for Absence 
 
C L C Davies, G Haines and D Harrison 
 
Officers: 
 
Mark Galvin Senior Democratic Services Officer - Committees 
Rachel Keepins Democratic Services Manager 
Carys Lord Chief Officer - Finance, Housing & Change 
Claire Marchant Corporate Director Social Services and Wellbeing 
Janine Nightingale Corporate Director - Communities 
Michael Pitman Technical Support Officer – Democratic Services 
Mark Shephard Chief Executive 
Kelly Watson 
Lindsay Harvey 

Chief Officer Legal and Regulatory Services, HR and Corporate Policy 
Corporate Director – Education and Family Support 

 
 
 

P
age 5

A
genda Item

 3



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 13 MARCH 2024 

 

Declarations of Interest 
 
 

2. Declarations of Interest 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

The following declarations of interest were made:- 
 
Councillor JP Blundell prejudicial interest in Agenda item 8. Councillor Blundell left the meeting whilst this 
item was being considered. 
 
Councillor I Williams prejudicial interest in Agenda item 8. Councillor Williams left the meeting whilst this 
item was being considered. 
 
The Chief Executive, all Directors and Chief Officers declared a prejudicial interest in Agenda item 7 and  
left the meeting whilst this item was being considered. 
 
Councillor M Evans declared a personal interest in Agenda item 8. as a member of Pencoed Town Council 
 
Councillor T Thomas declared a personal interest in Agenda item 8. as through his employment he has 
engaged with the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities on Local Development Plans in 
England. 
 

Date Decision Made 
 

13 March 2024 

 
 

3. Approval of Minutes 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

RESOLVED:                                        That the Minutes of a meeting of Council dated 17 January 2024, be  
approved as a true and accurate record. 

 

Date Decision Made 
 

13 March 2024 

 
 

4. To receive announcements from: 
 

 

P
age 6



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 13 MARCH 2024 

 

Decision Made 
 

Announcements were received from the following dignitaries (no decisions made):- 
 

 The Mayor 
 
As part of the Mayoral announcements he asked all Members to stand in silent tribute as a mark of respect 
to previous County Borough Councillor Clive James, who had recently sadly passed away. Members and 
Officers stood for a minutes silence. 
 
The Mayor also advised that Subject Overview and Scrutiny Committee 1 scheduled for 18 March will now 
be rescheduled instead on 11 April 2024. 
 
• Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member Social Services and Health 
• Cabinet Member – Education 
• Cabinet Member – Climate Change and the Environment 
• Cabinet Member – Community Safeguarding and Wellbeing 
• Cabinet Member – Finance, Resources and Legal 
• Cabinet Member – Housing, Planning and Regeneration 
• Chief Executive 
 
The Deputy Leader (and Cabinet) and Group Leaders paid tribute to the Leader following the public 
announcement of his intention to stand down as Leader of the Council from May 2024.   
 

Date Decision Made 
 

13 March 2024 

 
 

5. To receive announcements by the Leader 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

Council received the Leader’s announcements (no decision made). 
 
As part of the Leader’s announcement he confirmed that he would be standing down as Leader from the 
date of the Annual meeting of Council onwards. He emphasised what an honour it had been to be Leader 
of the Council since October 2016 and thanked all Members and Officers he had worked alongside within 
that time for their invaluable support. 
   

Date Decision Made 
 

13 March 2024 

P
age 7



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 13 MARCH 2024 

 

 
 

6. Single Transferable Vote (STV) 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

The Chief Executive presented a report, the purpose of which, was to allow Council to consider whether it 
wishes to consider changing the voting system for local elections to the Single Transferrable Vote (STV). 
 
An Executive summary of the report detailed the following information:- 
 
• Council now has the option of changing the voting system from a ‘First Past the Post’ (FPtP) to a 

‘Single Transferable Vote’ (STV) system.  
• FPtP is well understood by everybody but STV, whilst a more complex process, should provide 

more proportionate weighting to an individual’s vote. 
• Changing the voting system to STV would require a boundary review of all current County Borough 

wards to ensure there is a minimum of 3 Councillors per ward and no more than 6 Councillors per 
ward. 

• In STV, voters rank candidates in order of preference, marking a ‘1’ against their first preference, a 
‘2’ against their second preference, and so on, for as many candidates as there are on the ballot 
paper if they wish to.    

• With STV, counting takes place in rounds with surplus votes from elected candidates and votes 
from eliminated candidates being transferred to the next preferred candidate until all seats have 
been filled. 

• Surplus votes are transferred at a much lower value and eliminated candidate votes are transferred 
at the value they were received. 

• The complexities involved mean counting can take at least 2 or 3 days to complete. 
• Council must decide if it wishes to go out to consultation before it can make a resolution at Council 

by the 15 November 2024 to change the system which must then be used for at least the 2027 and 
2032 local elections. 

• Consultation must be with every local government elector, Town and Community Councils and 
other key stakeholders. 

 
Members made the following points on the report:- 
 

 If there was, for example in the future, 6 members per Ward there may be a risk in professionalising 
the vote of a County Borough Councillor which could be unmanageable and/or lead to some 
disconnect between Councillors and the smaller communities they represent; 

 Some members were supportive of STV, but not in the current financial climate. It was suggested 

P
age 8



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 13 MARCH 2024 

 

that it should be financially supported by Welsh Government; 

 A Member felt that to make the change now, may result in voting confusion so soon after the 
implementation of the Boundary Review; 

 A Member stated that he was in favour of proportional representation as this would in all probability 
better reflect how constituents voted overall and encourages members in a particular area to 
proactively work together, regardless of their political affiliation; 

 A Member asked why STV had been selected and which variant of this would be adopted. He 
asked if the proportionate representation vote had been considered (as an alternative). 

 
Following consideration of the report by Members, it was 
 

RES     RESOLVED:                                       That Council determined at this time, not to go out to consultation 
with persons entitled to vote as electors at a local government 
election, Town and Community Councils and such other persons as 
the Council considers appropriate, on the issue of adopting the 
Single Transferable Voting system at the 2027 local elections and 
the following local elections in 2032. 

      

Date Decision Made 
 

13 March 2024 

 
 

7. Pay Policy Statement - 2024/2025 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

The Cabinet Member – Finance, Resources and Legal presented a report, the purpose of which, was to 
seek Council approval for the Pay Policy Statement for 2024/2025. This was in response to legislative 
requirements and to provide openness and accountability in relation to how the Council rewards  
its staff. 
 
The updated Pay Policy Statement for approval was attached at Appendix 1 to the report. 
 
This had been produced in accordance with the requirements of the Localism Act 2011, which requires all 
local authorities to develop and make public their policy on all aspects of Chief Officer remuneration. 
 
In order to achieve further transparency, reference to the pay of other relevant groups has been included 
within the Pay Policy Statement. 
 

P
age 9



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 13 MARCH 2024 

 

Since its introduction on 1 April 2012, the Pay Policy has developed to take account of relevant guidance, 
legislation and changes to the Council’s senior management structure over recent years. The pay structure 
relating to this group of staff is at Appendix B of the report, within the Pay Policy, which should also be  
noted. 
 
Other amendments, relate to the Council’s accreditation with the Real Living Wage Foundation to become 
a Real Living Wage employer. The accreditation with the Real Living Wage Foundation demonstrates the 
Council’s commitment to pay the Living Wage rates, which are normally announced in the autumn, with an 
expectation to be paid by May. 
 
The Deputy Leader emphasised that Officers occupying the lower graded posts within the Authority as 
evidenced in the report’s appendices, were in some cases barely above minimum wage and that this 
needed to be addressed nationally going forward when pay awards were being offered and subsequently 
introduced/implemented.  
 
RESOLVED:                                                 That Council approved the Pay Policy Statement 2024/2025 

attached at Appendix 1 to the report. 
 

Date Decision Made 
 

13 March 2024 

 
 

8. Adoption of the Replacement Local Development Plan 2018-2033 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

The Corporate Director – Communities presented a report which had been prepared to submit to Council, 
in order to seek formal adoption of the Replacement Local Development Plan (RLDP) as required by 
Regulation 25 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Development Plan) (Wales) Regulations 2005 (as 
amended). 
 
The report which contained some considerable information in its supporting Appendices, advised Council 
of the binding Inspector's Report on the Examination into the Bridgend RLDP 2018 – 2033, which detailed 
recommended changes needed to ensure the Local Development Plan (Plan) is sound, while meeting the 
relevant legal and statutory requirements. 
 
The two such changes that had been recommended following examination of the Local Development Plan 
by Welsh Government and the Planning Inspectorate was to remove the Parc Afon Ewenni out of the 
Development Plan for housing, due to the fact that it was considered as a flood risk area. The second 

P
age 10



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 13 MARCH 2024 

 

change was to designate the Ewenny Road site at Maesteg from a housing site to a Strategic housing site. 
 
Members made for example, the following points and/or asked the under mentioned questions, that were 
responded to by Officers:- 
 

  As building costs have increased expedientially during the time the Local Development Plan has 
been put together, does the local authority have the ability to revisit any previous S106 funding 
contributions committed to new developments by site developers for added amenities, such as the 
provision of new schools, playground areas, etc, in order to ensure that the funding so allocated is 
relevant to the size of the development that is being provided; 

  Adequate healthcare provision and facilities should be considered as an integral part of the 
provisions of the RLDP. 

  If a planning application was proposed that departed from the RLDP, then could this be considered 
as a recommendation of the Development Control Committee to a full Council meeting, where 
deemed appropriate? 

  Could I have an assurance that there is sufficient scope and viability to support transport 
infrastructure proposals and traffic flow across the County Borough, for example at Junction 36, 
with proposals for the construction of further residential and commercial developments in areas, as  
for example, the Kenning and Hy Bont developments; 

  Members needed to note that Council today either needed to agree to accept, or conversely, reject 
the RLDP in its entirety at today’s meeting, as opposed to recommending any amendments to the 
same. 

  Were there sufficient resources in place to ensure the delivery of the delayed Penprisk Bridge and 
Railway Crossing re-development proposals at Pencoed?  

 
RESOLVED:                                                        That Council: 
 
a) Noted the findings of the binding Inspector's Report attached at Appendix 1 (to the cover report) 

and approved adoption of the Bridgend RLDP 2018 – 2033. 
 
b) Authorised the Corporate Director - Communities and Group Manager - Planning and Development 

Services to make minor typographical or factual corrections, presentational changes or 
consequential amendments to the RLDP arising from the Inspector’s recommended changes in 
accordance with paragraph 12.1 and Appendix A of the Inspector's Report (Appendix 1). 

 
c) Authorised the Corporate Director - Communities and Group Manager - Planning and Development 

Services to make the necessary arrangements to publish the RLDP, including making the Plan 

P
age 11



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 13 MARCH 2024 

 

available on the Council's website and at deposit locations in accordance with Regulation 25 of the 
Town and Country Planning (Local Development Plan) (Wales) Regulations 2005 (as amended). 

 
d) Authorised continued use of adopted SPGs prepared to supplement the policies of the existing 

adopted LDP (2006-2021) as material considerations in the determination of planning applications 
until these SPGs are replaced or otherwise withdrawn. 

 

Date Decision Made 
 

13 March 2024 

 
 

9. Related Party Transactions 2023-24 for Statement of Accounts 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

The Chief Officer – Finance, Housing and Change presented a report, the purpose of which, was to inform 
Council of the requirement for Members to formally declare any related party transactions for the 2023-24 
financial year by completing the declaration attached at Appendix A to the report, even if it was a nil return, 
and that this must be completed no earlier than 31 March 2024 and returned by Wednesday  
10 April 2024. The Officer added that it was a requirement to declare any related party transactions of  
Members under the Accounts and Audit (Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2018. 
 
RESOLVED:                                                That Council noted the requirement for Members to: 
 

 formally declare any related party transactions for the 2023-24 financial year; 

 complete and date the return no earlier than 31 March 2024; 

 submit the return by Wednesday 10 April 2024. 
 

Date Decision Made 
 

13 March 2024 

 
 

10. Elected Member Personal Safety Protocol 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

The Monitoring Officer submitted a report, seeking Council approval of the Elected Member Personal 
Safety Protocol and for delegated authority to be given to the Monitoring Officer and Chief Officer – 
Finance, Housing and Change, to consider and approve any requests for funding appropriate security 
measures where a Member is at personal risk or significant threat of harm in carrying out their role. 
 

P
age 12



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 13 MARCH 2024 

 

The Protocol was attached at Appendix A to the report and the Monitoring Officer confirmed that this had 
been shared previously with the Council’s Democratic Services Committee, who had given their support to 
this. 
 
The Protocol also made reference to the Authority’s Lone Working Guidance, which Members were 
encouraged to familiarise themselves with to ensure their own personal safety. This was to be read in 
conjunction with the Protocol in order to reduce the risks of lone working as far as is reasonably practicable  
 
Members made the following points in respect of the report:- 
 

 They welcomed the Personal Safety Protocol and its targeting of harassment to Members by 
primarily certain members of the public, through avenues such as Social Media, email, letters, 
texts, phone calls or in person; 

 A Member wished that the Democratic Services were kept informed at least annually on the 
success of the Protocol, in order to assess that it was fit for purpose in terms of supporting the 
safety of Councillors, acknowledging that it may require some modifications to ensure this is best 
achieved; 

 That in addition to the Protocol, consideration be given to individual wellbeing support being put in 
place for any Member, on a case by case basis, when it is considered this is necessary; 

 That consideration also be given for a mechanism to be put in place, so that Members can have 
direct contact with the Police on cases of threat or harassment etc, or via a referral from a Senior 
Officer of the local authority; 

 The Leader confirmed that the Personal Safety Protocol had been shared with the new 
Superintendent of South Wales Police, who had offered to meet with local Members to offer advice 
on courses of action that could be pursued should any Member feel that their safety is being 
compromised in any way. Key contact Officers within the Police could also be identified, in order 
that any action required is swiftly dealt with. 

 The Monitoring Officer confirmed in response to a question, that threats from one Councillor to 
another could be dealt with via herself, the Ombudsman or direct through the Police, depending 
upon the severity of each case that may arise; 

 That consideration be given to a Memorandum of Understanding being introduced between BCBC 
and the South Wales Police in order to further give weight to the Personal Safety Protocol. 

 
RESOLVED:                                                        That Council: 
 
a) Considered and approved the Elected Member Personal Safety Protocol attached at Appendix A to 

the report; and 

P
age 13



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 13 MARCH 2024 

 

b) Delegated authority to the Monitoring Officer and the Chief Officer – Finance, Housing and Change 
to consider and determine any requests for funding appropriate security measures where a 
Member is at personal risk or significant threat of harm in carrying out their role.  

 

Date Decision Made 
 

13 March 2024 

 
 

11. Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales Annual Report 2024/25 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

The Monitoring Officer presented a report, in order to advise Council of the Annual Report of the 
Independent Remuneration Panel (IRWP) for Wales in respect of the level and range of remuneration the 
Authority must make available to its elected members for the 2024/25 municipal year. 
 
The aim of the IRPW is to support local democracy and give communities their voice, through setting up an 
appropriate and fair remuneration framework, which encourages inclusion and participation. The IRPW 
make determinations on the following: 
 
• the salary structure within which members are remunerated; 
• the type and nature of allowances to be paid to members; 
• whether payments are mandatory or allow a level of local flexibility; 
• arrangements in respect of family absence. 
 
For its Annual Report 2024/25 the main elements of change affecting the Local Authority include: 
 
• Basic Salary for Elected Members of Principal Councils Determination 1; 
• Salaries paid to Senior, Civic and Presiding members of Principal Councils – Determination 2; 
• Salaries for Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees (JOSC) – Determination 3; 
• Payments made to co-opted members of Principal Councils and Fire and Rescue Authorities -  

Determination 5. 
 
 
RESOLVED:                                          That Council noted the Annual Report for 2024/25 and approved: 
 
(1) The adoption of the relevant Determinations of the Panel contained within the Annual Report 

(attached as Appendix 1); 
 

P
age 14



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 13 MARCH 2024 

 

(2) Those posts (shown in the revised Members’ Schedule of Remuneration at Schedule 1 of Appendix 
2) who will receive a senior / civic salary; 

 
(3) The revised Members’ Schedule of Remuneration (Appendix 2 of the report) and for it to become 

effective from 1 April 2024; 
 
(4) That the Members’ Schedule of Remuneration be updated with any changes to senior / civic salary  

positions subsequently made by Council during the 2024/25 municipal year. 
 

Date Decision Made 
 

13 March 2024 

 
 

12. Information Report for Noting 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

The Group Manager, Legal and Democratic Services informed Council of an information report for noting, 
that had been published since the last scheduled meeting.  
 
RESOLVED:                                    That Council acknowledged the publication of the report referred to in 

paragraph 3.1 of the report. 
 

Date Decision Made 
 

13 March 2024 

 
 

13. To receive the following Question from: 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

Councillor R Penhale-Thomas to the Cabinet Member – Climate Change and the Environment (response 
circulated previously to members) 
 
Supplementary questions were asked by Councillor Penhale-Thomas and Councillor Ian Spiller (no 
decision made) 
 

Date Decision Made 
 

13 March 2024 

 
 

P
age 15



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 13 MARCH 2024 

 

14. Notice of Motion Proposed by Councillor Alex Williams: 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

Following a proposal by Councillor Williams, Council agreed to defer this Notice of Motion to the next 
scheduled meeting of Council. 
 

Date Decision Made 
 

13 March 2024 

 
 

15. Urgent Items 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

There were no urgent items. 

Date Decision Made 
 

13 March 2024 

 
 
 
 
To observe further debate that took place on the above items, please click this link 
  

P
age 16

https://youtu.be/FkKY9Rq0NDY


COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 17 APRIL 2024 

 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE COUNCIL HELD HYBRID IN THE COUNCIL CHAMBER CIVIC OFFICES, ANGEL STREET, BRIDGEND, CF31 
4WB /REMOTELY VIA MICROSOFT TEAMS ON WEDNESDAY, 17 APRIL 2024 AT 16:00 
 
 

Present 
 

Councillor W J Kendall – Mayor/Chairperson 
 
H T Bennett A R Berrow F D Bletsoe S J Bletsoe 
JPD Blundell E L P Caparros N Clarke RJ Collins 
HJ David C Davies C L C Davies P Davies 
S Easterbrook M J Evans N Farr P Ford 
J Gebbie W R Goode RM Granville H Griffiths 
S J Griffiths D T Harrison M L Hughes D M Hughes 
RM James P W Jenkins M R John T Wood 
MJ Kearn M Lewis J Llewellyn-Hopkins RL Penhale-Thomas 
J E Pratt R J Smith JC Spanswick I M Spiller 
T Thomas G Walter A Wathan A Williams 
AJ Williams HM Williams I Williams MJ Williams 
R Williams E D Winstanley G Haines  

 
 

    
 
Officers: 
 
Mark Galvin Senior Democratic Services Officer - Committees 
Lindsay Harvey Corporate Director Education and Family Support 
Rachel Keepins Democratic Services Manager 
Carys Lord Chief Officer - Finance, Performance & Change 
Claire Marchant Corporate Director Social Services and Wellbeing 
Janine Nightingale Corporate Director - Communities 
Michael Pitman Technical Support Officer – Democratic Services 
Alex Rawlin Corporate Policy & Public Affairs Manager 
Mark Shephard Chief Executive 
Kelly Watson Chief Officer Legal, HR and Regulatory Services 
 
 

P
age 17



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 17 APRIL 2024 

 

 
Declarations of Interest 
 
 

1. Apologies for absence 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors M Jones and JH Tildesley  

Date Decision Made 
 

Not applicable 

 
 

2. Declarations of Interest 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

The following declarations of interest were made:- 
 
Councillor H Bennett – personal interests in Agenda item 4., as an employer of BAVO and Agenda item 7., 
as a member of the Taskforce Working Group previously set up in relation to this matter. 
 
Councillor JP Blundell – personal interests in Agenda item 8., as a Local Authority Governor of a school 
mentioned in the report and Agenda item 7., as a member of the Taskforce Working Group previously set 
up in relation to this matter. 
 
Councillor E Winstanley – personal interests in Agenda item 7., as a member of the Taskforce Working 
Group previously set up in relation to this matter and Agenda item 9., as a School Governor and a 
employee at Awen Cultural Trust. 
 
Councillor M Evans – prejudicial interest in Agenda item 7., as a member of Pencoed Town Council and in 
light of her giving her observations on proposals relating to this item previously. 
 
Councillor R Williams – prejudicial interest in Agenda item 7., as a member of Pencoed Town Council who 
had also responded on the item in a previous consultation exercise. 
   

Date Decision Made 
 

Not applicable 

 
 

P
age 18



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 17 APRIL 2024 

 

3. Approval of Minutes 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

RESOLVED:                                      That the minutes of a meeting of Council dated 28 February 2024 be 
approved as a true and accurate record. 

 

Date Decision Made 
 

17 April 2024. 

 
 

4. Presentation to Council by Representatives of BAVO 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

The Chief Executive presented a report, that introduced representatives of BAVO to give a presentation on 
the work that they do. 
 
Ms. Kay Baker, Operations and Partnerships Manager introduced herself and her colleagues to the 
meeting. 
 
She highlighted the role of BAVO and outlined some key statistics of the organization for the last financial 
year. 
 
BAVO provided support and development in respect of the third sector, through providing a wide range of 
free information, advice and support services and by representing the views of the sector to government 
and policy makers. 
 
Ms. Baker advised that 482 organisations were members of BAVO and funding streams for BAVO were 
obtained from Welsh Government, BCBC and Bro Morgannwg Health Board, as well as certain other 
avenues of grant funding and earned income or service level agreements. The last financial year, BAVO 
supported 177 individuals and directly placed 68 individuals into placements. 
 
There had been 1,594 support enquiries spanning 284 organisations within the last 12 months and 134 
volunteers had received relevant training. Grant funding had also been provided to key organisations 
through BAVO, with the aid of a Funding Portal. 
 
BAVO had also arranged a series of networks and forums, with the aim of establishing partnership working 
arrangements with organisations and 434 people had engaged in these within the above period. 
 
In terms of Community Navigation, BAVO had processed 477 referrals dealt with by the organisations 

P
age 19



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 17 APRIL 2024 

 

Community Navigators. 
 
The presentation was concluded with Ms. Baker advising that BAVO had a user-friendly web site which 
detailed an interactive mapping system and links to key pages, for example, Community Development, 
Funding directives, training opportunities available and information regarding volunteers that included 
information regarding the recruitment of new volunteers. 
 
Members applauded the work of BAVO and the help and assistance this gives to communities as a whole 
and more personally to people living in those communities. 
 
Community Centres had invaluable support from the organisation and a member encouraged closer 
working in the 3 main valley areas, between Community Navigators and Community Co-ordinators, in 
order to possibly then link in for the same purpose with key departments of the Council, for example with 
the Authority’s Employability Team. 
 
A Member also paid tribute to BAVO supporting Caerau Menshed, in order to make them more sustainable 
through funding and training in areas such as health and safety and first aid, which enabled them to 
provide extra services to its members. 
 
A Member asked if BCBC could do anything more to support BAVO, then they should engage with the 
Council further regarding this. 
 
Finally, it was suggested that further strategic engagement could possibly be sought by BAVO with the 
likes of other providers such as Halo and Awen Trust. 
 
RESOLVED:                                                      That both the report and the presentation be noted. 
      

Date Decision Made 
 

17 April 2024 

 
 

5. To receive announcements from: 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

Announcements were received from the following dignitaries (no decisions made):- 
 
• The Mayor 
• Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member Social Services and Health 

P
age 20



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 17 APRIL 2024 

 

• Cabinet Member – Education 
• Cabinet Member – Climate Change and the Environment 
• Cabinet Member – Community Safeguarding and Wellbeing 
• Cabinet Member – Finance, Resources and Legal 
• Cabinet Member – Housing, Planning and Regeneration 
• Chief Executive 
 

Date Decision Made 
 

No decision made. 

 
 

6. To receive announcements by the Leader 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

Council received the Leader’s announcements (no decision made). 

Date Decision Made 
 

No decision made. 

 
 

7. Town and Community Council Size Policy April 2024 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

The Chief Executive presented a report, the purpose of which, was to consider a Town and Community 
Council Size Policy, to assist with the review of town and community councils currently underway. 
 
The report Executive Summary was as follows:- 
 

 The Terms of Reference for the review of town and community council arrangements, approved by 
Council on the 21st June 2023, noted that that there is not necessarily an ideal fixed size, but that a 
community council will need to be of a large enough size to make it viable as an administrative unit 
of local government and therefore able to support any future collaboration with the Council. 

 Following initial consultation, having a clear policy on the size of a community council would assist 
the drafting of proposals in liaison with the Member panel. 

 There is some evidence of democracy deficit in all of the community councils with less than 5,000 
electors i.e. all but one ward were uncontested at the Local Elections in May 2022. 

 It is proposed to have an ideal minimum size of electorate for a community council to be in the 
region of 5,000 electors with an upper electorate limit in the region of 10,000 electors, and for town 
councils to have a minimum electorate in the region of 9,000 but with no maximum limit. 

P
age 21



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 17 APRIL 2024 

 

 Existing community councils with smaller electorates may need to be abolished and merged with 
other community councils, but the intention will always be to maintain their identities within the new 
larger community council. This will be achieved, as far as it is practical to do so, by maintaining 
their boundaries as a ward in the new community council as well as considering, in exceptional 
circumstances, increasing the representation of the abolished community council on the new 
council. 

 Community Councils with an electorate in excess of the maximum electorate may be abolished to 
create 2 new separate community councils, but this will be achieved without splitting existing wards 
i.e. maintaining the existing identity of individual wards from the original council. 

 In setting the ratio of Councillors to electors, it is proposed to use the Aston Business School 
guidelines published in 1992 to provide a level of flexibility when determining the ratios. 

 Once approved, the draft proposals for the new town and community council arrangements from 
May 2027 will go out for consultation. Following a period of analysis of representations received 
from the consultation, which will be shared with the Member panel, a report on the final proposals 
will be brought back to full Council. 

 
Members made some observations on the report, including:- 
 

1. The views of Town and Community Council’s on the report’s proposals need to be sought, as well 
as a similar report being submitted to a future meeting of the Council’s Town & Community Council 
Forum; 

2. Why did the Council choose the Aston model over the National Association of Local Councillors 
model (as the latter is arbitrary); 

3. A Member supported the minimum limit in sizes for Community Council’s, but did not support an 
upper size limit for these bodies, as referenced in the report; 

4. Did the report’s proposals take into account the provisions of the new Local Development Plan, 
when considering new residential developments proposed throughout areas of the County 
Borough; 

5. When the next/final stages are pursued, precepts are re-looked at in Town/Community Council 
areas in conjunction with this; 

6. Why are distinctions being made between Town and Community Council’s given that some 
Community Councils can be larger than Town Council’s in the same County Borough area; 

7. It was important for smaller community areas to have their ‘voice heard’, and that this is not diluted 
by any future setting of lower limit proposals in some areas 

 
In terms of point 3. above, members unanimously agreed that this be an amendment to the 
recommendation of the report. 

P
age 22



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 17 APRIL 2024 

 

 
RESOLVED:                                           That Council approved the Town and Community Council size  

policy set out in the report which will form the baseline for drafting 
the proposed Town and Community Council structure to go out for 
consultation, without any maximum size levels for neither Town 
Councils nor Community Councils. 
 

 

Date Decision Made 
 

17 April 2024 

 
 

8. School Modernisation Programme - Bryntirion Comprehensive School - 
Four classroom extension, Highway Works 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

The joint report of the Corporate Director – Education and Family Support and the Chief Officer – Finance, 
Housing and Change in relation to the above matter, sought Council approval to: 
 
• vire £141k of capital budgets detailed in this report for the purpose of active travel/highway 

improvements associated with the delivery of a four-classroom block at Bryntirion Comprehensive 
School; and 

 
• include a scheme for active travel/highway improvements in respect of Bryntirion Comprehensive  

School in the capital programme with a budget of £141k. 
 

            The report confirmed that Active travel/highway improvements have been conditioned as part of the 
planning consent in respect of a scheme for additional accommodation at Bryntirion Comprehensive 
School. 
  
 A funding bid for these works was submitted to Welsh Government, however, the bid was unsuccessful. 
Consequently, the local authority will need to fund the works so that the building can be brought into 
beneficial use. 
 
Council approval is sought to vire School Modernisation budgets within the capital programme for this 
purpose and to include the active travel/highway improvements as a separate scheme in the capital 
programme. 
 

P
age 23



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 17 APRIL 2024 

 

Members posed the undermentioned questions on the report:- 
 

 The Cabinet Member - Education sought assurance that all the 3 projects referred to in the report 
had now been completed and that there was therefore no further expenditure required to be 
committed to these projects. It was confirmed that this was the case. 

 A Member asked for a breakdown of the costs regarding professional fees incurred for the works 
and it was confirmed that this would be provided to the Member and other Members who wished to 
receive this, outside of the meeting. 

 The Corporate Director – Education and Family Support gave information upon the request of a 
Member on the breakdown of the works undertaken that amounted to £141k for Active 
Travel/Highway Improvements, which involved a number of dropped kerbs, tactile paving works 
and the provision of signage at a number of locations nearby Bryntirion Comprehensive School 

 A Member referred to paragraph 3.2 of the report, noting that active travel and highway 
improvements were a condition of planning. She asked if this had applied to all active travel and 
highway improvements in the past and would also do so with any future such school improvements 
and expansions works in the County Borough going forward. 

 
RESOLVED:                                             That Council approved the following:- 
 
• The virement of £141k of capital budgets detailed in the report for the purpose of active travel 

/highway improvements associated with the delivery of the four-classroom block at Bryntirion 
Comprehensive School; and 

 
• The inclusion of a separate scheme for active travel/highway improvements in respect of Bryntirion 

Comprehensive School in the Capital Programme, with a budget of £141k. 
 

Date Decision Made 
 

17 April 2024 

 
 

9. Corporate Plan Delivery Plan for 2024-2025 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

The Chief Officer – Legal and Regulatory, HR and Corporate Policy submitted a report, in order to present 
a proposed one-year Corporate Plan Delivery Plan (CPDP) for 2024-25 for Council approval. 
 
By way of some background, the report confirmed that Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC) currently 
has a high level, five-year Corporate Plan 2023-28. The Council took a new approach for 2023-24 and did 

P
age 24



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 17 APRIL 2024 

 

not include commitments or performance indicators in the Corporate Plan. Instead, the Council developed 
a one-year delivery plan so it could be more agile and flexible to the changing operating environment. 
 
The Policy and Public Affairs manager advised that Council approved the Medium-Term Financial Strategy 
2024-25 to 2027-28 at its meeting on 28 February 2024, including a detailed budget for 2024-25. Council 
officers have used the budget information to review the Corporate Plan Delivery Plan for 2023-24 and 
propose the draft Corporate Plan Delivery Plan for 2024-25 in Appendix 1 (to the report). The Plan had 
been scrutinised by Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee (COSC) twice, at their meetings on 30 
January 2024 and 19 March 2024. 
 
The Leader advised that this item had been considered by Cabinet yesterday and some proposed changes 
were suggested that would be incorporated in the final draft of the Delivery Plan. He added that the Plan 
needed to evolve with time, to reflect and take account of the current and future challenges the Authority 
will inevitably face going forward. 
 
Members asked the following questions that were responded to by the Policy and Public Affairs Manager:- 
 

 It was noted that there 88 Performance Indicators detailed in the Plan – what steps would be take 
in order to ensure that these were all both measurable and meaningful in terms of improving 
service delivery. It was also considered that a key aim of the Corporate Plan and its Delivery Plan, 
should be to make broader and increased engagement with both the community and various 
representative groups. This would result in increased engagement then with service users; 

 A Member felt that the document could be more streamlined as there was a considerable amount of 
different information contained therein. This would assist in increased focus on the Plan and its 
delivery of key outcomes.   

 
RESOLVED:                                                          That Council:- 
 
• Approved the proposed Corporate Plan Delivery Plan for 2024-25 as set out in Appendix 1. 
• Considered the proposed work of Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee to support the 

Corporate Performance Team looking at how best to measure service user perspectives as part of 
the Council’s performance management framework. 

   

Date Decision Made 
 

17 April 2024 

 
 

P
age 25



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 17 APRIL 2024 

 

10. Disclosure and Barring Service Policy 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

The Group Manager, HR and Organisational Development presented a report, the purpose of which, was 
to seek Council approval for the revised Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) Policy with effect from 1st 
May 2024. 
 
The updated DBS Policy was attached at Appendix 1 to the covering report. 
 
The DBS Policy had been updated to reflect that rechecks will only be undertaken every three years for 
employees governed by the Care Standards Act 2000. 
 
The revised Policy has been shared with Heads of Service, Corporate Safeguarding Board and the Trade 
Unions, the Officer advised. 
 
Council noted, that the Medium Term Financial Strategy 2024-25 to 2027-28 approved by Council on the 
28 February 2024 included a budget reduction proposal of £30,000 to be achieved by amending the 
Disclosure and Barring Service Policy to only recheck every three years for employees governed by the 
Care Standards Act 2000, not for all employees who require a DBS (CEX10).  The approval of the revised 
DBS Policy by Council will ensure the budget reduction proposal is achieved 
 
Members made some points on the report, that included the following:- 
 

 That the wording of paragraph 2.5 of the report needed amending to reflect that the Council has 
adopted a best practice rechecking policy for employees governed by the Care Standards Act 2000 
every 3 years, as opposed to all employees as was detailed in the second part of that paragraph. 

 
RESOLVED:                                        That Council approved the revised DBS Policy attached at Appendix 

1 of the report, with effect from 1 May 2024. 
 

Date Decision Made 
 

17 April 2024 

 
 

11. Information Report for Noting 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

The Chief Officer - Legal and Regulatory Services, HR and Corporate Policy, reported on the Information 
Report which had been published since the last meeting of Council. 

P
age 26



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 17 APRIL 2024 

 

 
RESOLVED:                                That Council acknowledged the publication of the document listed in 

paragraph 3.1 of the report. 
 

Date Decision Made 
 

17 April 2024 

 
 

12. To receive the following Questions from: 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

      1. Councillor T Thomas to the Cabinet Member – Climate Change and the Environment (response   
circulated previously to members) 

            Supplementary questions were asked by Councillor Thomas and Councillor P Davies. 
2.  Councillor S Bletsoe to the Cabinet Member – Housing, Planning and Regeneration (response 

circulated previously to members). 
       Supplementary questions were asked by Councillor S Bletsoe and Councillor M Williams. 
 

Date Decision Made 
 

No decision made 

 
 

13.  Notice of Motions Proposed by: 1) Councillor Alex Williams and 2) 
Councillor J Gebbie 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

1. The Notice of Motion proposed by Councillor Alex Williams was withdrawn at the request of 
Councillor Williams, in order that the Notice of Motion proposed by Councillor Jane Gebbie could 
be debated in full. 

 
2.  Councillor Gebbie, Deputy Leader gave a detailed submission of the reasons for her Notice of 

Motion entitled Protected Characteristics for Care Experienced People, shown at Agenda item 13 
(2) on today’s Agenda. She added that care experienced individuals were the most vulnerable 
people in society for a number of reasons, some of which were affected by their care experiences 
throughout their future lives. 

 
Following the Deputy leader’s speech speech why she considered the Notice of Motion was so 
important and should be supported by Council, a Member supported the motion and recommended 
that it be forwarded on to all our care providers, particularly as when young people came out of a 

P
age 27



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 17 APRIL 2024 

 

care environment they quite often found themselves having to be accommodated in Homeless 
shelters provided by accommodation providers, whether this be temporary accommodation or one 
of a more semi-permanent setting. 
 

            The Cabinet Member for Housing, Planning and Regeneration also supported the Motion adding 
that BCBC was the second Council in Wales looking to adopt this. 

 
            The Deputy Leader confirmed that the Authority were endeavouring to our stakeholders and she 

would also liaise with Officers, in order to see if it could be included in our Commissioning 
Contract(s). 

 
            The Leader concluded debate on the item, by stating that the Notice of Motion builds on the 

previous work of the Cabinet Committee Corporate Parenting and he added further, that the 
Council would work with partners such as the Public Health Board and the Regional Partnership 
Board, in order to assist them to deliver on this agenda, as well as looking to encourage other 
public sector organisations to consider adopting this also. 

 
RESOLVED:                                    That the Council unanimously supported the Notice of Motion proposed 

by the Deputy Leader, together with the caveats as detailed above.   
     

Date Decision Made 
 

17 April 2024 

 
 

14. Urgent Items 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

There were no urgent items. 

Date Decision Made 
 

No decision made 

 
 
 
 
To observe further debate that took place on the above items, please click this link 
  

P
age 28

https://youtu.be/-fYNJMhJBtM


 

Meeting of: 
 

COUNCIL 

 

Date of Meeting: 
 

24 JULY 2024 

 

Report Title: 
 

PRESENTATION TO COUNCIL BY REPRESENTATIVES OF 
DWR CYMRU WELSH WATER  

 

 

Report Owner / 
Corporate Director: 

 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 
Responsible 
Officer: 
 

 
MARK GALVIN  

SENIOR DEMOCRATIC SERVICES  
OFFICER – COMMITTEES 

 

 
Policy Framework 
and Procedure 
Rules: 
 

   
There is no impact on the policy framework and procedure 

rules. 

 
Executive 
Summary: 

   
  The report and accompanying presentation will update 

Council on the latest work and developments of the 
above organisation, as well as to outline to Members 
similar presentations to be given to future meetings of 
Council, by other Stakeholders. 

 
 

1. Purpose of Report 
 

  1.1      The purpose of this report is to advise Council of a presentation proposed to be 
delivered by representatives of Dwr Cymru Welsh Water. 

 
2. Background 
 
2.1      Council will be accustomed to receiving presentations from its key partners, 

stakeholders and other organisations periodically in the past.  
 
3. Current situation / proposal 

 
3.1 The presentation will be given to Council at its April meeting by Steve Wilson, 

Managing Director, Wastewater Services and Andrew Bowen, Director Network 
Alliance (roadwork issues).  

 
3.2      Further presentations will be scheduled periodically for future Council meetings from 

partner organisations and agencies, with the next two provisionally being Parc Prison 
and Halo (September and November Council meetings). 

 
4. Equality implications (including Socio-economic Duty and Welsh 

Language) Page 31

Agenda Item 4



 
4.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic 

Duty and the impact on the use of the Welsh Language have been considered 
in the preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales the Council must 
consider the impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the 
review of policies, strategies, services and functions. It is considered that there 
will be no significant or unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report. 

 

5. Well-being of Future Generations implications and connection to 
Corporate Well-being Objectives 

 
5.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of 

this report. It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable 
impacts upon the achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a result of this 
report. 

 

6. Climate Change Implications 
 

6.1 There are no climate change implications arising from this report. 
 

7. Safeguarding and Corporate Parent Implications 
 

7.1 There are no safeguarding or corporate parent implications arising from this 
report. 

 

8. Financial Implications 
 
8.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

 

9. Recommendation 

 
9.1 That Council is recommended to note the presentation as referred to at paragraph 3.1 

of the report. 
  

Background documents 
 
None. 

Page 32



 
 
Meeting of: 
 

 
COUNCIL 

 
Date of Meeting: 
 

 
24 JULY 2024 

 
Report Title: 
 

 
REVENUE BUDGET OUTTURN 2023-24  

 

 
Report Owner/ 
Corporate Director: 
 

 
CHIEF OFFICER – FINANCE, HOUSING AND CHANGE 

 
Responsible 
Officer: 
 

 
JOANNE NORMAN 

GROUP MANAGER – BUDGET MANAGEMENT 

 
Policy Framework 
and Procedure 
Rules: 
 

 
As required by section 3 (budgetary control) of the 
Financial Procedure Rules, Chief Officers in 
consultation with the appropriate Cabinet Member are 
expected to manage their services within the approved 
cash limited budget and to provide the Chief Finance 
Officer with such information as is required to facilitate 
and monitor budgetary control. 
 

 
Executive 
Summary: 
 

• The net revenue budget for 2023-24 was £342.334 
million. The overall outturn at 31st March 2024 was a 
net over spend of £7.054 million. 

• The overall over spend on the Council budget is 
primarily due to ongoing pressures within the Social  
Services and Wellbeing Directorate and in respect of 
Home to School Transport, Homelessness and Legal 
Fees. 

• The budget approved for 2023-24 included budget 
reduction proposals totalling £2.608 million. At 31st 
March there was a shortfall on the savings target of 
£246,000, or 9.43% of the overall reduction target. 

• During 2023-24 Directorates drew down funding from 
specific earmarked reserves. The final draw down 
from revenue reserves was £12.186 million.  An 
additional £6.952 million of other earmarked reserves 
also needed to be unwound to meet the in-year over 
spend, along with the transfer of £102,000 from the 
Council Fund.  

 
 

1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Council with an update on the Council’s 

revenue financial position for the year ended 31st March 2024.  

Page 33

Agenda Item 7



 
2. Background 
 
2.1 On 1st March 2023, Council approved a net revenue budget of £342.047 million for 

2023-24 based on the provisional local government settlement received from Welsh 
Government (WG) in December 2022. The Welsh Government announced its final 
local government settlement on 28th February 2023 which included an increase in 
the Revenue Support Grant (RSG) for the Council of £287,106, increasing the net 
revenue budget for 2023-24 to £342.334 million. The reasons for this increase were 
outlined in a report to Council on 15th March 2023, but were mainly in respect of the 
transfer into the final local government settlement of the Fire and Rescue Authority 
(FRA) SCAPE grant.    

 
2.2 As part of the Performance Management Framework, budget projections are 

reviewed regularly and reported to Cabinet on a quarterly basis. The delivery of 
agreed budget reductions is also kept under review and reported to Cabinet as part 
of this process.  

 
3.  Current situation / proposal 

 
3.1 Summary financial position at 31st March 2024 
 
3.1.1 The Council’s net revenue budget and final outturn for 2023-24 is shown in Table 1 

below. 
 
Table 1- Comparison of budget against actual outturn at 31st March 2024 
 

Directorate/Budget Area 
Original 
Budget 

Current 
Budget 

Final Outturn  
Q4 

Final Over / 
(Under) 
Spend  

Projected 
Over / (Under) 

Spend 
  2023-24 2023-24 2023-24 2023-24 Qtr 3 2023-24 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Directorate           
Education and Family Support 137,488 145,861 147,214 1,353 1,139 
Social Services and Wellbeing 92,791 99,386 111,213 11,827 12,584 
Communities  30,545 34,382 34,502 120 249 

Chief Executive’s 24,003 25,410 25,949 539 1,265 

Total Directorate Budgets 284,827 305,039 318,878 13,839 15,237 

Council Wide Budgets           

Capital Financing  7,203 7,142 3,064 (4,078) (2,909) 

Levies 9,189 9,189 9,181 (8) (9) 

Apprenticeship Levy 650 750 831 81 38 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 16,054 16,054 15,566 (488) (451) 

Insurance Premiums 1,363 1,363 764 (599) (125) 

Repairs & Maintenance 670 460 0 (460) (40) 

Pension Related Costs 430 430 457 27 27 

Other Corporate Budgets 21,948 1,907 2,153 246 (1,481) 

Total Council Wide Budgets 57,507 37,295 32,016 (5,279) (4,950) 

Net Council Tax Collection     (1,506) (1,506) 0 

Transfers from Earmarked 
Reserves     (6,952) (6,952) 0 

Transfer from Council Fund     (102) (102) 0 

Total 342,334 342,334 342,334 0 10,287 

Page 34



3.1.2 The overall outturn at 31st March 2024 is a net over spend of £7.054 million 
comprising £13.839 million net over spend on directorates and a net under 
spend of £5.279 million on Council wide budgets. The outturn position also takes 
into account additional council tax income collected over budget of £1.506 million 
during the financial year. 

 
3.1.3 Further detail is provided on the more significant under and over spends and 

movements since quarter 3 in section 3.3. 
 
3.1.4 The main financial pressures during 2023-24 were in the service areas of Social 

Services and Wellbeing (SSWB), Home to School Transport (HtST),  
Homelessness and Legal Fees.  

 
3.1.5 In 2022-23, the SSWB Directorate experienced pressures of work to meet 

statutory duties against a backdrop of an exponential increase in demand in 
children’s social care, and an increase in the number of independent residential 
placements in Children’s Services, along with pressures in learning disabilities 
and older persons’ residential placements. Budget growth of £8.174 million was 
approved by Council as part of the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) for 
2023-24, £2.480 million of which was to address the implementation of the Real 
Living Wage for care workers. The SSWB Directorate continues to see an 
increase in demand and this budget growth was insufficient to meet that 
increase, with the outturn showing a £11.827 million over spend in 2023-24. A 3 
year sustainability plan to improve outcomes for Children and Family Services in 
Bridgend was approved by Council on 20th September 2023, with an immediate 
budget virement of £1 million approved for Children’s services. Council also 
agreed the additional use of up to £2.5 million of earmarked reserves in 2023-24 
to support the service whilst a more permanent funding solution was sought. 
This has been drawn down in full in 2023-24 or the social services outturn 
position would have been £14.327 million. A recurrent budget of £2.5 million was 
approved by Council as part of the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 
budget setting process in February 2024 to provide this as a permanent budget 
to Children’s Services in 2024-25. 

 
3.1.6 There has also been an over spend on Home to School Transport of £1.780 

million in 2023-24. Several retendering exercises on HtST took place in 2022-23 
with market conditions not being favourable, due to high levels of inflation and 
shortage of drivers and escorts.  These procurement exercises resulted in 
generally higher costs across many contracts.  Further HtST contracts were 
subject to retender exercises in 2023-24, and higher costs continued to be 
experienced. Budget growth of £1.2 million was approved by Council as part of 
the MTFS budget setting process in February 2024, and as this budget area can 
be volatile with small changes in demand resulting in relatively high costs being 
incurred, this budget will require close monitoring during 2024-25.  

 
3.1.7 Budget growth of £2.192 million was approved by Council as part of the MTFS 

budget setting process in February 2021 with a further £700,000 approved in 
March 2023, to continue the commitment to focus support for homeless 
individuals. However, the Council has seen a significant increase in the provision 
of temporary accommodation, from 601 households and 965 individuals between 
April 2022 to March 2023, to 659 households and 1,034 individuals between 
April 2023 and March 2024. There is an over spend on Housing & 
Homelessness of £240,000 in 2023-24. 

Page 35



 
3.1.8 Legal fees continued to be a pressure in 2023-24, specifically in relation to public 

and private law childcare cases, along with an increase in the volume of complex 
cases that have required King’s Counsel. The net over spend in Legal, 
Democratic and Regulatory services is £553,000. Budget growth of £300,000 
was approved by Council as part of the MTFS budget setting process in 
February 2024 towards the increase in legal fees for children’s services. 

 
3.1.9 Going forward there are increased pressures on council tax collection and an 

increase in eligibility for council tax support through the Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme (see paragraph 3.3.5) due to the continuing cost of living crisis.  

 
3.1.10 A budget pressure of £550,000 was approved by Council in February 2024 to 

mitigate emerging pressures in 2024-25 which will be allocated in line with need 
and reported through quarterly monitoring reports. 

 
 Budget virements/technical adjustments 
 
3.1.11 There have been a number of budget virements and technical adjustments 

between budgets since the quarter 3 Revenue Forecast was presented to 
Cabinet in January 2024.  

 
3.1.12 The main virements and technical adjustments since quarter 3 are outlined 

below: 
 

Budget Virement 
 

 Service vired from / to Amount 

Balance of one-off contribution from Communities Directorate 
to Corporate Contingency.  £400,000 originally vired in quarter 
2 to fund demolition works at Brackla car park based on 
estimated costs. Tenders now received with reduced 
contribution required from Corporate Contingency in this 
financial year. 

£289,034 

 
 Technical Adjustment 
 

 Service vired from / to Amount 

Allocation of funding retained centrally in respect of Soulbury 
pay award for 2022 and 2023  – confirmed in December 2023. 

£60,270 

Allocation of corporately held funding for Feasibility works in 
line with spend. 

£127,500 

Allocation of corporately held funding for Revenue minor works 
in line with spend. 

£82,116 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 36



 Budget Reduction Proposals 
 
3.2 Monitoring of Budget Reduction Proposals  
 
 Prior Year Budget Reductions 
 
3.2.1 As outlined in previous monitoring reports during the year, there were still £280,000 

of outstanding prior year budget reduction proposals that had not been met in full. 
Directors have been working to realise these savings during the 2023-24 financial 
year. The position at year end is summarised in Appendix 1 with a summary per 
directorate provided in Table 2.  

 
 Table 2 – Outstanding Prior Year Budget Reductions  
 

 

Total 
Budget 

Reductions 
Required 

Total 
Budget 

Reductions 
Achieved 

Shortfall 

DIRECTORATE /BUDGET 
REDUCTION AREA 

£’000 £’000 £’000 

Social Services and Wellbeing 115 115 0 

Communities 165 0 165 

TOTAL 280 115 165 

 
 
3.2.2 Table 2 shows that of the £280,000 prior year budget proposals outstanding, 

£115,000 have been realised, leaving a shortfall of £165,000. Proposals still not 
achieved include: 

 
o COM 2 – Re-location of Community Recycling Centre from Tythegston to 

Pyle (£60,000 shortfall). The new site opened during quarter 4, however the 
timing of the opening meant that the saving could not be implemented in 
2023-24. The majority of the saving will now be made in 2024-25 once the 
exit terms of the lease have been finalised. The service will endeavour to 
meet any shortfall in the saving through one-off efficiencies in 2024-25 to 
deliver a balanced budget position. 

o COM 3 – change the composition of household food waste bags (£35,000 
shortfall). The budget reduction proposal was delayed until the outcome of 
national research had been completed to ensure any potential changes in 
legislation did not impact on this proposal. The new waste contractors from 
1st April 2024 have been advised of the change of composition, therefore the 
saving will be made in full during 2024-25.  

o COM 4 – remove Business in Focus from running Enterprise Centres in 
Bridgend (£20,000 shortfall). The review of Business in Focus continues to 
be explored to identify operating efficiencies with a view to restructuring the 
management agreement with Business in Focus to deliver this saving in full 
in 2024-25. 

o COM 5 – commercially let a wing of Ravens Court to a partner organisation 
of business (£50,000 shortfall). Demand for office space at this time is limited 
and the re-letting market is extremely challenging therefore the Council has 

Page 37



been unable to rent a wing of Ravens Court as anticipated. Discussions are 
ongoing with a number of parties in relation to the available accommodation 
at Ravens Court moving forward.  

 
 Budget Reductions 2023-24 
 
3.2.3 The budget approved for 2023-24 included budget reduction proposals totalling 

£2.608 million, which is broken down in Appendix 2 and summarised in Table 3 
below. The year end position is that £2.362 million has been achieved, leading to an 
overall shortfall on the savings target of £246,000, or 9.43% of the overall reduction 
target.  

 
 Table 3 – Monitoring of Budget Reductions 2023-24 
 

 

Total Budget 
Reductions 
Required 

Total Budget 
Reductions 
Achieved 

Shortfall 

DIRECTORATE /BUDGET REDUCTION AREA £’000 £'000 £'000 

Education and Family Support 40 0 40 

Schools 2,118 2,118 0 

Social Services and Wellbeing 0 0 0 

Communities 375 169 206 

Chief Executive's 75 75 0 

TOTAL 2,608 2,362 246 

 
3.2.4 The most significant budget reduction proposals not achieved in full are:- 
 

• EDFS1 – Delegation of school transport responsibilities to The Bridge Pupil 
Referral Unit (£40,000 shortfall). During 2023-24, officers investigated the 
practicalities and implications of this bespoke transport arrangement. It was 
determined that without capital investment in a bespoke vehicle and additional staff 
resources the proposal could not be delivered. Since September 2023, the 
approach taken in relation to supporting Post-16 learners with college passes has 
been changed, with the £40,000 budget reduction now anticipated to be made on 
the Post-16 transport budget. 

• COM1 – closure of each of the Community Recycling Centre sites for one weekday 
per week (£46,000 shortfall). Public consultation on this proposal was undertaken 
between 30th June and 12th September 2023, with the outcome reported to 
Cabinet on 21st November 2023, when the proposal was approved. A marginal 
saving was made in 2023-24, with the full saving being realised in 2024-25.  

• COM 2 – Charging Blue Badge Holders for parking (£40,000 shortfall). The traffic 
management team were engaged in the introduction of the default national speed 
limit (20mph) in built up areas, and therefore the saving proposal was not achieved 
in 2023-24 due to the processes required to introduce any change. The Traffic and 
Transport team is currently depleted due to unplanned staff absences and it is 
currently envisaged the project will advance in Autumn 2024. Shortfalls against this 
savings target will be met through one-off efficiencies in 2024-25 to deliver a 
balanced budget position. 

• COM5 – commercially let two wings of Ravens Court to a partner organisation or 
business (£120,000 shortfall) – Demand for office space at this time is limited and 

Page 38



the re-letting market is extremely challenging, therefore the Council was unable to 
let two wings of Ravens court as anticipated. Discussions are ongoing with a 
number of parties in relation to the available accommodation at Ravens Court 
moving forward.  
 

3.2.5 As outlined in the MTFS reports to Cabinet and Council, MTFS Principle 7 states 
that “Savings proposals are fully developed and include realistic delivery timescales 
prior to inclusion in the annual budget. An MTFS Budget Reduction Contingency 
Reserve will be maintained to mitigate against unforeseen delays”. An MTFS 
Budget Reduction Contingency reserve was established in 2016-17. This reserve 
has been used to meet specific budget reduction proposals in previous years on a 
one-off basis pending alternative measures. It has not been used in 2023-24 to 
mitigate shortfalls as service areas were committed to identifying alternative one-off 
under spends in the service areas affected. This approach has also enabled the 
MTFS Budget Reduction Contingency reserve to be maintained going into 2024-25 
where the level of savings required to be made is £13.045 million in 2024-25, 
compared to £2.608 million in 2023-24, and therefore at much higher risk of not 
being achieved in full.  

 
3.3 Commentary on the financial position at 31st March 2024 
 

Financial position at 31st March 2024 
 
A summary of the financial position for each main service area is attached in 
Appendix 3 to this report and comments on the most significant variances are 
provided below.  

 
3.3.1 Education and Family Support Directorate  
 

The net budget for the Directorate for 2023-24, including school delegated budgets, 
was £145.861 million and the actual outturn was £147.214 million, following draw 
down of £649,000 from earmarked reserves, resulting in an over spend of £1.353 
million. The main variances are: 

 

EDUCATION & FAMILY SUPPORT 
DIRECTORATE 

Net  
Budget  

Actual 
Outturn 

Actual 
Variance 

Over/(under) 
budget  

% Variance 

  £'000 £'000 £'000   
Learner Support 6,984 8,179             1,195  17.1% 
Family Support 3,602 3,100              (502) -13.9% 
Home to School Transport 8,625 10,405             1,780  20.6% 
Catering Services 2,195 1,539              (656) -29.9% 
Education Directorate Support Unit 661 490              (171) -25.9% 

Integrated working 786 712                (74) -9.4% 

Corporate health and safety 411 286              (125) -30.4% 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



Schools’ delegated budgets 
 
Total funding delegated to schools in 2023-24 was £123.603 million (including Post-
16 grant funding of £7.475 million), along with £1.761 million one-off earmarked 
reserve (EMR) funding for energy budgets. 
 
The schools’ delegated budget is reported as balanced in any one year as any 
under spend or over spend is automatically carried forward, in line with Welsh 
Government legislation, into the new financial year before being considered by the 
Corporate Director - Education and Family Support in line with the ‘Guidance and 
Procedures on Managing Surplus School Balances’ as set out in the Financial 
Scheme for Schools. 
 
The year-end position for 2023-24 was:- 
 

• Net overall school balances totalled £6.898 million at the start of the financial year. 
During 2023-24 school balances decreased by £4.493 million to £2.405 million at 
the end of the financial year, representing 1.92% of the total funding allocated in 
2023-24. 

• Out of a total of 59 schools, there are 21 schools with a deficit balance (20 primary 
and 1 special school) and 20 schools (13 primary and 7 secondary) that have 
balances in excess of the statutory limits (£50,000 primary and £100,000 for 
secondary and special schools) in line with the School Funding (Wales) Regulations 
2010.  These balances will be analysed in line with the Council’s agreed ‘Guidance 
and Procedures on Managing Surplus School Balances’. 

• Council approved an MTFS efficiency savings target against School Delegated 
Budgets of 3% in 2024-25, with an indicative 2% for 2025-26 and 1% thereafter. 
The 3% target in 2024-25 equates to £3.441 million, therefore the school delegated 
budgets will require close monitoring throughout 2024-25.  The Financial Scheme 
for Schools requires schools to obtain permission from both the Corporate Director 
– Education and Family Support and the Section 151 Officer to set a deficit budget. 
Schools with deficits of greater than £50,000 in a primary school or greater than 
£150,000 in a secondary or special school are requested to attend termly support 
and challenge meetings with senior Local Authority officers.  In addition, any 
unplanned deficits that occur within the financial year due to unforeseen 
circumstances must be reported as soon as they become known to the school. 

• A summary of the position for each sector and overall for 2023-24 is provided 
below:- 

 

  
Balance 
brought 
forward 

One off 
EMR 

funding 

Funding 
allocated 
in 2023-24  

Total 
Funding 
available 

Actual 
Spend 

Balance 
at year 

end 

  £’000 £'000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Primary 2,875 1,364 54,159 58,398 58,115 283 

Secondary 3,734 208 57,729 61,671 59,083 2,588 

Special 289 189 11,715 12,193 12,659 -466 

Total 6,898 1,761 123,603 132,262 129,857 2,405 

 
 

Page 40



 Central Education and Family Support Directorate budgets 
 
Learner Support 

• There is a net over spend of £1.195 million in Learner Support budgets.  

• This firstly relates to an over spend of £627,000 on the inter-authority recoupment 
budget due to an increase in demand for Bridgend pupils in out of county 
placements as there are insufficient spaces at Heronsbridge and Ysgol Bryn 
Castell. The increase in out of county placements has been sustained in 2023-24, 
increasing from 16 in Summer 2022, up to 21 for Summer 2023, 22 in Autumn 2023 
and 21 in Spring 2024.   

• There has also been an increase in demand for additional learning needs (ALN) 
support at schools resulting in an over spend of £570,000, in particular sensory 
support and communication, complex medical needs, and relationship support. The 
number of pupils supported in 2022-23 was 174 increasing to 277 in 2023-24. In 
addition to the increase in demand, there has been an overall reduction in Welsh 
Government grants supporting ALN spend from £835,584 in 2022-23 to £425,383 in 
2023-24. 

• Council approved £500,000 of additional funding as part of the MTFS 2024-25 to 
2027-28 for learning support to meet the costs of increased demand for Bridgend 
pupils in out of county placements and for increased demand for additional learning 
needs support at schools as part of the Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

• Adult Community Learning (ACL) has also over spent by £135,000 in 2023-24 
which is primarily due to Welsh Government changing the grant terms and 
conditions resulting in already committed in-year expenditure no longer being 
eligible and unable to be claimed.  In addition, the Medium Term Financial Strategy 
approved by Council in February 2024 included a budget reduction proposal to 
remove the core funding for the ACL provision from 2024-25, therefore any future 
spend in this service area will need to be in line with grant terms and conditions to 
avoid any over spend in 2024-25.   

 
Family Support 

• The under spend of £502,000 primarily relates to in-year receipt of additional grant 
funding (£131,000) and maximisation of the Children and Communities Grant 
(£190,000) in quarter 4. The two additional grants are the Youth Endowment Fund 
(£262,000 – 18 months from September 2023 to March 2025) and the Turnaround 
grant (£59,000 – two years, ending March 2025). 

• The remaining under spend is due to staff vacancies as a result of the selective 
recruitment freeze in 2023-24 and has supported over spends in other service 
areas within the directorate. A review of the Family Support budgets is currently 
underway, with a revised structure to be implemented in the first half of 2024-25.  

 
Home-to-school transport (HtST) 

• The revenue outturn report for 2022-23 highlighted a £1.316 million over spend on 
the HtST budget. This was primarily as a result of retendering exercises that had 
taken place, which had been impacted by unfavourable market conditions. This had 
subsequently resulted in higher costs across many contracts in line with difficulties 
associated with the aftermath of the pandemic, namely the shortage of drivers and 
escorts and increased fuel costs internationally.  

• The over spend on the HtST budget increased by £464,000 in 2023-24 up to £1.780 
million.  Actual spend increased from £9.508 million in 2022-23 up to £10.405 
million in 2023-24, therefore the pressure was partly mitigated by an in year 
allocation from the central price inflation budget. The main reason for the increased 

Page 41



over spend is that further retendering exercises took place in September 2023 for 
Special School contracts resulting in an increase of £698,000 compared with 2022-
23, highlighting that market conditions are still predominantly unfavourable for HtST 
contracts. 

• Council have approved a £1.2 million budget pressure for 2024-25 as part of the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy which will contribute to the increased costs of 
HtST that have continued to be experienced in 2023-24. 

• Bridgend County Borough Council launched a full public consultation on proposed 
changes to the home-to-school and college transport arrangements in April 2024 
which are expected to make just over £1 million in budgetary savings for the local 
authority. The Medium Term Financial Strategy approved by Council in February 
2024, includes an indicative £792,000 budget reduction proposal on the HtST 
budget in 2025-26.  
 
Catering Services  

• Catering Services has an under spend of £656,000 in 2023-24. 

• £237,000 of this under spend is due to a one-off receipt of a working balance from 
Paypoint who administered Free School Meal holiday vouchers on behalf of the 
authority until the end of the May 2023 half term holiday. The deposit was held open 
until quarter 3 of 2023-24 to maximise the number of vouchers that had been issued 
being redeemed by families. 

• Secondly, as reported in quarter 3, Welsh Government announced on 20th 
December that they had completed their review on the Universal Primary Free 
School Meals (UPFSM) unit rate and had agreed an increase per meal to £3.20 
from £2.90 effective from January 2024.  However, in recognising the additional 
costs incurred in delivering the UPFSM offer at pace, additional one-off funding was 
also released by WG in 2023-24 to cover the period April to December 2023 
(£100,000).  

• Finally, quarter 4 saw an overall increase in the uptake of school meals and Year 4 
also moved over to the UPFSM, resulting in an increase in income of £185,000 in 
the final quarter of 2023-24. 

• Price inflation on food has been particularly volatile in 2023-24, with a recent 
reduction in food inflationary levels seen. The cost of food purchases will be closely 
monitored going into 2024-25 to determine whether the inflationary pressures in this 
area impact on cost recovery in this service area in 2024-25, or whether it will be 
mitigated by the 30p increase per meal introduced after the February 2024 half-term 
in line with the Council’s Fees and Charges policy. 

• The under spend in 2023-24 is not anticipated to be a recurring under spend due to 
the one off nature of the income and grant funding received. In addition, the 
increase in roll out of UPFSM should be matched by an equal increase in food and 
staffing costs to deliver Welsh Government’s commitment for all primary school 
children in Wales to get free school meals by 2024, with Year 6 being the final year 
for the scheme to be rolled out in Bridgend from September 2024.  
 
Education Directorate Support Unit (EDSU) 

• The under spend of £171,000 is due to the selective recruitment freeze in 2023-24. 
Part of this under spend will be utilised towards the MTFS budget reduction for the 
EDSU of £63,000 in 2024-25, with consideration given to the balance of the under 
spend being used to support budget reduction proposals that have been identified 
as not currently being able to be delivered in full in 2024-25. 
 
 

Page 42



Integrated Working 

• The under spend of £74,000 relates primarily to staff vacancies as Early Help and 
Edge of Care services are currently undergoing a review by the Education and 
Family Support and SSWB directorates. It is anticipated that the revised structure 
will be implemented early in 2024-25. 
 
Corporate Health and Safety Unit 

• The under spend of £125,000 within the Corporate Health and Safety Unit primarily 
relates to staff vacancies. Part of this under spend will be utilised towards the MTFS 
budget reduction for the Corporate Health and Safety Unit of £40,000 in 2024-25, 
with the remaining vacant posts having been, or due to be, recruited to. 

 
3.3.2 Social Services and Wellbeing Directorate  
 

The net budget for the Directorate for 2023-24 was £99.386 million and the actual 
outturn was £111.213 million following draw down of £5.660 million from earmarked 
reserves, resulting in an over spend of £11.827 million. The over spend looks lower 
than the projected over spend reported at quarter 3 of £12.584 million due to the full 
draw down in quarter 4 of the £2.5 million earmarked reserve established in respect 
of the Children’s Services sustainability plan approved by Council in September 
2023. 
 
The main reasons for the £11.827 million over spend are:- 
 

• The Directorate has continued to experience both service and financial pressures in 
meeting statutory duties with a backdrop of a continued exponential increase in 
demand in Children’s social care.  There were 11,940 contacts received during 
2023-24 compared to 8,334 in 2022-23.  This 43.3% increase impacts on the 
workforce required to assess and safeguard children.  Whilst the overall number of 
care experienced children has reduced, the number of independent residential 
placements has remained static throughout the year, ending the year at 19.  The 
budget covers between 6-8 placements depending on the unit cost. In addition, 
there are at any time a small number of placements which are Operating Without 
Registration (OWR). Given the additional risks of children living in settings without 
the protection accorded by regulation, these placements are risk managed and 
have higher staff ratios, which drive up the cost of the service. The 3 year 
sustainability plan to improve the way that children and families are supported in 
Bridgend was agreed by Council on 20th September 2023 with an immediate  
revenue budget virement of £1 million approved for Children’s services together 
with the additional use of up to £2.5 million of earmarked reserves whilst a more 
permanent funding solution was sought. The £2.5 million earmarked reserve was 
drawn down in full during quarter 4 against Children’s Social Care Commissioning 
and Social Work and Management and Administration budgets to address the 
workforce over spends in these areas.    

• Council approved £2.5 million recurrent funding as the balance of the £3.5 million 
budget pressure for Children’s Services on the 28th February as part of the Medium 
Term Financial Strategy 2024-25 to 2027-28. This permanent budget pressure for 
2024-25 replaces the temporary earmarked reserve funding drawn down in 2023-
24. Progress is being made with implementing the plan, particularly to progress the 
steady and safe reduction of agency workforce, through improved retention and 
recruitment of a permanent workforce, including successful grow your own scheme 
and international recruits. A new emergency residential assessment service has 
been opened and this is helping to reduce costs of making additional placements. 

Page 43



However, even one additional placement can have massive budgetary implications 
meaning, despite progress, spend has been contained, rather than reduced. 

• There continues to be pressures in learning disabilities and older people’s services 
driven by the complexity of need. The Social Services Improvement Board is 
overseeing a number of actions to address the growth in the adult services budget. 
These include accelerating the work to transform learning disabilities. An 
independent review highlighted the need to:- 

• Invest to save to ‘right size and right price’ care packages to support people 
to live as independently as possible. 

• Support people to retain and regain independence with a target set for 80% 
of all assessments where long term care and support at home is indicated 
to go through short term service including enabling and reablement.. 

• In relation to the pathways between care and support and preventative 
services, to maximise the opportunity for people to have wellbeing 
outcomes met through community connection and resources in their 
community.  
 

• Further actions for 2024-25 are being developed into a 3 year service and financial 
strategic plan for adult services to be considered by Cabinet in Autumn 2024 
following engagement over the summer period. 

• Council approved £1.970 million towards the increased costs of home care for 
adults with learning disabilities and £1 million towards additional residential/nursing 
placement costs due to new admissions for older people and older people with 
mental health needs as part of the Medium Term Financial Strategy 2024-25 to 
2027-28. 
 
The most significant variances for the directorate are : 
 

SOCIAL SERVICES AND 
WELLBEING 
DIRECTORATE 

Net  
Budget 

Actual 
Outturn 

Actual 
Variance 

Over/(under) 
budget 

% 
Variance 

  £'000 £'000 £'000  

Adult Social Care 65,964 72,864 6,900 10.5% 

Prevention and Wellbeing 7,492 7,097 (395) -5.3% 

Childrens Social Care 25,930 31,252 5,322 20.5% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 44



Adult Social Care 
 

There is a net over spend of £6.900 million on the Adult Social Care budget. The 
most significant variances contributing to this over spend were: 
 

ADULT SOCIAL CARE 

Actual Variance 

Over/(under) 

budget 

£'000 

Learning Disabilities Home Care 2,288 

Homes For Older People 1,792 

Learning Disabilities Residential Care 1,078 

Assessment and Care Management 812 

Learning Disabilities Day Opportunities 760 

Mental Health Homecare 591 

Older People Direct Payments 281 

Physical Disability/Sensory Impairment Home Care 231 

Physical Disability/Sensory Impairment Direct Payments 194 

Physical Disability/Sensory Impairment Residential/ Nursing 65 

Equipment & Adaptions 55 

Mental Health Residential Care (118) 

Learning Disabilities Direct Payments (154) 

Mental Health Supported Accommodation (231) 

Older People Home Care (510) 

 

• Learning Disabilities Home Care – the over spend of £2.288 million is as a result of 
the number of hours of care covered by home care services having increased along 
with an increase in the complexity of people’s needs – e.g. the need for waking 
nights required rather than sleep-in. The pressure on this service area has 
continued in quarter 4, resulting in an increase of £295,000 from the projected over 
spend of £1.993 million at quarter 3.  During quarter 4 the service area benefited 
from £371,000 of additional funding through the maximisation of the Housing 
Support Grant.  However, whilst a specialist brokerage process commenced in 
December 2023 to ensure specialist placements across Adult Social Care are 
strictly commissioned through a rigorous process which supports value 
maximisation, market competition and scrutiny, the transformation programme 
achieved cashable savings of £42,000 in 2023-24 with the full effect of these in 
2024-25 anticipated to be £209,000. These results are being regularly reported to 
the Social Services Improvement Board. 

 

• Homes For Older People – the over spend of £1.792 million is mainly due to 
increased Residential/Nursing placement costs (£1.708 million) which has 
increased by £596,000 since quarter 3.  The service area has seen an increase in 
demand in 2023-24, as at the start of the 2023-24 financial year there were 416 
placements increasing to 455 in quarter 4.  All contributions towards residential care 
are financially assessed in accordance with the Social Services and Wellbeing 
(Wales) Act 2014 but the average income received each year will vary in total 
depending on the financial position of the people needing care during the financial 
year – e.g. if there are a large number of people who have no savings or assets, 

Page 45



and are therefore reliant on the local authority paying their contribution in full, then 
this will decrease the overall average income received per person.   
 

• Learning Disabilities Residential Care – there is an over spend of £1.078 million 
which is primarily due to increased costs for existing placements due to changing 
needs (£1.121 million) which is partially offset by under spends on the Breakaway 
Respite Service (£43,000) due to staff vacancies. The quarter 3 position was a 
projected over spend of £811,000 with the increase to quarter 4 being due to 3 new 
placements (of which 1 was a transition from Children’s Services), along with 
increases in costs for existing placements within the residential and nursing service.   

 

• Assessment and Care Management – there is an over spend of £812,000 which is 
comparable to the quarter 3 projection of an over spend of £821,000, due to the 
need to have agency cover due to demands in the system particularly linked to 
supporting the acute hospital and timely discharges and the complexity of court 
protection work in learning disabilities.  There is a plan which is being implemented 
to reduce and then eliminate the use of agency social workers in adult social care 
as the new operating model is implemented.  

 

• Learning Disabilities Day Opportunities – the over spend of £760,000 mainly relates 
to placement numbers exceeding the available budget for external day services 
(£500,500). Secondly, whilst the learning disabilities home care budget also has an 
over spend as people continue not to return to internal day services, new people are 
taking up the vacant day services placements with increasing numbers of older 
people with dementia and physical frailty in the service. Thirdly, transport costs are 
higher (£287,000) due to the service having to hire vehicles on a short term basis as 
the service continues to experience delays in the delivery of replacement vehicles 
due to chassis parts being difficult to obtain, which are now planned to be received 
over the Summer. The delays were originally due to a backlog of orders from Covid 
but further impacted by the Ukraine war, and are still being experienced so further 
pressures relating to vehicle hire are expected in the first half of 2024-25.  A 
learning disabilities transformation programme has been established which is 
focussed on embedding progressive practice, reviewing current high cost care and 
support packages and cost effective commissioning. There are outcome surgeries 
and panels to ensure that practice is strength based, a review of day opportunities 
and commissioning colleagues are undertaking a deep dive into the supported living 
contract 
 

• Mental Health Home Care – this includes supported living, short breaks and 
domiciliary care. The over spend of £591,000 is mainly due to increased needs of 
people with supported living packages of care. The over spend has decreased since 
quarter 3 by £88,000 due to a net reduction of 2 placements taking the total to 48.  

 

• Older People Direct Payments – there is an over spend of £281,000 across the 
Direct Payments budgets in this area. The main reason for the over spend is the 
increasing complexity of cases, however it has decreased from the projected 
£302,000 over spend reported at quarter 3 due to a net reduction of 12 cases.  
 

• Physical Disability/Sensory Impairment Home Care – there is an over spend of 
£231,000 which has increased since the quarter 3 projected over spend of 
£101,000 due to an increase in the number of placements from 89 reported at 
quarter 3 to 119 by the end of quarter 4. 

Page 46



 

• Physical Disability/Sensory Impairment Direct Payments - there is an over spend of 
£194,000 which is comparable to the £198,000 over spend projected at quarter 3. 
The over spend relates to an increasing complexity of cases that impact on the 
average cost of direct payments support. 

 

• Physical Disability/Sensory Impairment Residential/Nursing – the over spend of 
£65,000 is due to higher placement numbers than budget. This is comparable with 
the quarter 3 projected over spend of £61,000. 

 

• Equipment & Adaptions – the over spend of £55,000 has reduced from the quarter 3 
projected over spend of £84,000. The over spend position is because of continuing 
demand for equipment due to the need to support individuals in line with Welsh 
Government’s rehabilitation and recovery model.  

 

• Mental Health Residential Care – the under spend of £118,000 has decreased from 
the quarter 3 projected under spend of £185,000.  This is due to there being an 
increase in the number of placements from 40 at quarter 3 to 43 in quarter 4. 

 

• Learning Disabilities Direct Payments – the under spend of £154,000 has improved 
from the projected under spend at quarter 3 of £112,000. The underlying under 
spend is due to reimbursements being reclaimed from people using the service 
where balances in accounts have exceeded the permitted contingency. The 
increase in under spend since quarter 3 is due to reductions in existing packages of 
support. 
 

• Mental Health Supported Accommodation – the £231,000 under spend primarily 
relates to utilisation of Innovation Grant Funding to support staffing budgets in this 
service area (£262,000). 
 

• Older People Home Care – the £510,000 under spend primarily relates to staffing 
under spends as a result of the recruitment challenges in the home care sector. 
Agency staff have been utilised to supplement the workforce where available, 
however the market is showing an improving picture and it is anticipated that there 
will be a reduction in the use of agency staff in 2024-25. The under spend also 
reflects maximisation of the Regional Integrated Fund and Transformation grant 
funding - £140,000. The under spend has reduced from the projected under spend 
of £765,000 reported at quarter 3 due to an increase in the number of Independent 
Domiciliary Care packages which have increased from 560 at quarter 3 to 603 in 
quarter 4. 

 
Prevention and Wellbeing 

• There is an overall under spend of £395,000 within Prevention and Wellbeing. 
Council approved a budget pressure of £2 million for Adult Social Care as part of 
the 2023-24 to 2027-28 Medium Term Financial Strategy. £305,000 was allocated 
to the Local Community Co-ordinators service. Due to delays in recruiting to the 
posts, there was an under spend of £111,000 on staffing. These posts have now 
been filled. 

• The balance of the under spend relates to maximisation of grant funding 
opportunities, which mostly took place in quarter 4, including Shared Prosperity 
Fund (£144,000), Playworks (£16,000), Age Friendly (£25,000) and Children and 
Communities Grant (£133,000). 

Page 47



Children’s Social Care 
 
There is a net over spend of £5.322 million on the Children’s Social Care Budget, 
which is a decrease on the projected net over spend of £7.585 million at quarter 3, 
due primarily to the full £2.5 million draw down of the Children’s Services 
sustainability earmarked reserve in quarter 4.  
 
The most significant variances contributing to this over spend were:- 
 

CHILDREN’S SOCIAL CARE 

Actual Variance Projected Variance 

Over/(under) Over/(under) 

Budget – outturn Budget – qtr 3 

£'000 £'000 

Care Experienced Children 5,609 5,329 

Commissioning & Social Work 55 2,335 

Management & Administration (34) 196 

Other Child & Family Support Services (123) (208) 

Family Support Services (185) (67) 

 

• The over spend of £5.609 million for Care Experienced Children is due to a 
combination of factors:- 

   
➢ The Independent Residential Care budget has over spent by £5.345 million which 

has increased by £110,000 from the quarter 3 projected over spend of £5.235 
million. The number of care experienced children in out of authority placements has 
reduced by 1 since quarter 3 however, there have been increases in agency costs 
for unregulated placements. The underlying over spend position is due to a number 
of factors and whilst the overall number of care experienced children has reduced, 
the number in independent residential placements (19) exceeds the budget which 
covers between 6-8 placements depending on the unit cost.  In addition, there are 
insufficient foster carer placements to meet needs and children requiring specialist 
provision sometimes with high staffing ratios to keep them safe and protected. 

➢ Children’s Residential Services have an under spend of £384,000 which is 
comparable with the projected under spend position of £346,000 at quarter 3. In 
2023-24 a budget pressure of £684,000 was approved for Children’s Services for 
staffing costs in residential settings. The underlying under spend relates to this 
growth as there was a delay in the opening of Golygfa’r Dolydd (Meadow’s View), 
the new build children’s home. Whilst the service had an increase in Eliminating 
Profit grant in quarter 4 of £237,284, this was offset by additional spend on both 
staffing and non-staffing, due to increases in take up of beds in the new residential 
provision. 

➢ There is a projected under spend on Independent Fostering Agency placements 
(£322,000) which has decreased slightly since the quarter 3 projected under spend 
of £344,000 as the number of placements has increased. The underlying under 
spend is due to other placement options being utilised including Special 
Guardianship Orders which are projecting an over spend of £476,000.  
 
 
 
 

Page 48



• Commissioning and Social Work – the over spend of £55,000 has decreased 
significantly since the projected over spend of £2.295 million at quarter 3 due to a 
£2.316 million draw down in quarter 4 from the £2.5 million Children’s services 
sustainability EMR against workforce pressures. The underlying over spend prior to 
draw down of the earmarked reserve is mainly due to having to rely on agency 
staffing across all the children’s social work teams due to the recruitment challenges 
and the need to operate above historic establishment levels to maintain safe 
caseloads, although good progress is being made in retaining and recruitment 
including international recruitment and conversion of some agency workers to 
permanent contracts.  The decision of the Council in relation to the sustainability 
plan now enables permanent recruitment to progress. 

 

• Management & Administration – the under spend of £34,000 has reduced since the 
projected over spend of £196,000 at quarter 3 due to a £184,000 draw down in 
quarter 4 from the £2.5 million Children’s services sustainability EMR.  The 
underlying over spend is due to agency workforce ensuring effective management 
oversight in accordance with inspection findings. All management positions have 
now been successful recruited to. 
 

• Other Child & Family Support Services – the under spend of £123,000 has reduced 
from the projected under spend of £208,000 reported at quarter 3 as there was a 
reduction in the anticipated refund from the Regional Adoption service based on a 
higher number of children from Bridgend being adopted than was anticipated at 
quarter 3.  The MTFS includes a £250,000 budget reduction proposal against the 
Bridgend County Borough Council contribution towards the regional Western Bay 
adoption service, which will require close monitoring to ensure its deliverability. 
 

• Family Support Services – the under spend of £185,000 has increased from the 
projected under spend of £67,000 at quarter 3. This is due to a combination of a 
decrease in demand on direct payments (£56,000) and Advocacy services 
(£60,000) along with maximisation of Housing Support Grant of £17,810, on  
Domestic Abuse service provision.  

  
3.3.3 Communities Directorate 

 
The net budget for the Directorate for 2023-24 was £34.382 million and the actual 
outturn was £34.502 million following draw down of £2.419 million from earmarked 
reserves, resulting in an over spend of £120,000. 
 
The Directorate has undertaken work on increasing fees and charges in-year 
including charges for green and bulky waste collections. Secondly, Corporate 
Landlord continue to work on several office rationalisation proposals, including 
Ravens Court and the Innovation Centre and maximising the use of the Civic 
Offices to enable deliverability of historic and in-year MTFS budget reduction 
proposals (see 3.2.2 and 3.2.4). Other opportunities are also being explored with 
service areas to ensure the best use of the corporate estate. Finally, maximising 
grant funding is an ongoing activity as the Directorate has a number of significant 
grant allocations, including £23 million over 3 years for the Shared Prosperity Fund. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 49



The main variances are: 
 

COMMUNITIES DIRECTORATE 
Net  

Budget 
Actual 

Outturn 

Actual 
Variance 

Over/(under) 
budget 

% Variance 

  £'000 £'000 £'000  

Climate Change Response 571 440  (131) -22.9% 

Waste Disposal & Collection 10,260 10,054  (206) -2.0% 

Fleet Services 135 618  483  357.8% 

Highways Services (DSO) 3,347 3,183  (164) -4.9% 

Engineering Services 214  44   (170) -79.4% 

Traffic & Transportation 871  697   (174) -20.0% 

Corporate Landlord 4,198  4,745   547  13.0% 

 
Climate Change Response 

• The under spend of £131,000 in the Climate Change Response budget is primarily 
due to staff vacancies (£81,000) and subsequent under spend on associated 
climate change supplies and services budgets (£50,000) as a result of the selective 
vacancy freeze. Part of this under spend will be utilised towards the MTFS budget 
reduction for the Climate Emergency Response Programme of £55,000 in 2024-25. 

 
Waste Disposal and Collection 

• There is a net under spend on the Waste Disposal and Collection budget of 
£206,000 which has improved from the projected net under spend of £99,000 
reported at quarter 3. The under spend is mainly due to additional income in relation 
to the joint service provision with the City and County of Swansea for the treatment 
of the Council’s domestic food waste with higher income levels being achieved 
during 2023-24 (£129,000), however, there are still underlying pressures on the 
waste budget, including: 

• £60,000 due to the delay in the achievement of the 2022-23 MTFS saving, 
COM 2 - Re-location of Community Recycling Centre from Tythegston to 
Pyle resulting in cessation of lease payments at the existing site. The new 
site opened during quarter 4, however the timing of the opening meant that 
the saving could not be implemented in 2023-24.  The majority of the saving 
will now be made in 2024-25 once the exit terms of the lease at Tythegston 
have been finalised. 

• £35,000 due to the delay in the achievement of the 2022-23 MTFS saving, 
COM 3 – change the composition of Household Food Waste Bags. The 
budget reduction proposal was delayed until the outcome of national 
research had been completed to ensure any potential changes in legislation 
did not impact on this proposal. The new waste contractors from 1st April 
2024 have been advised of the change of composition, therefore the saving 
will be made in full during 2024-25.  

• £50,000 due to the delay in the achievement of the 2023-24 MTFS saving, 
COM 1 – closure of each of the Community Recycling Centre sites for one 
weekday per week. Public consultation on this proposal was under taken 
between 30th June and 12th September 2023, with the outcome reported to 
Cabinet on 21st November 2023, when the proposal was approved. A 
marginal saving was made in 2023-24, with the full saving being realised in 
2024-25. 

Page 50



• The remaining pressure on the waste budget is due to an increase in 
subscribers for both the Absorbent Hygiene Products (AHP) (£139,000) and 
Garden Waste (£53,000) collection services. The AHP service has been 
promoted to further improve the recycling levels achieved in Bridgend which 
also mitigates the risk of fines imposed by Welsh Government (WG) if local 
authorities do not meet their recycling targets. It has seen an increase of 
6.2% since the start of the 2022-23 financial year. Garden waste 
subscriptions have increased by 20% over the last two years with the number 
of subscribers increasing from 6,249 in 2021-22 to 7,536. An annual 
subscription fee is charged for the service, and the garden waste collected 
also improves the recycling levels achieved in Bridgend, however it was not  
a fully cost-recovering service in 2023-24.  It is anticipated under the new 
waste contract from the 1st April 2024 that the service will be fully cost-
recovering in line with the Council’s Fees and Charges Policy. 

 
 Fleet Services 

• There is an over spend of £483,000 on Fleet Services which has worsened since 
the £350,000 over spend projected at quarter 3. As previously reported, the fleet 
services team operate on a break-even basis with re-charges for work undertaken 
on directorates, South Wales Police (SWP) and the general public’s vehicles, 
generating income to support staffing and overhead costs. Productivity levels 
continue to be impacted by long term sickness and ongoing issues with recruitment 
and retention difficulties. A market supplement has been introduced in line with the 
corporate Market Supplement Policy following comparisons with neighbouring 
authorities and remuneration of HGV technicians, which has seen some limited 
success in filling vacancies. A report outlining options for service operating models 
to mitigate the budget position of fleet services has been delayed due to officer 
availability but is now proceeding. 

 
Highways Services 

• The under spend of £164,000 within Highways Services is primarily due to core 
funded staff being utilised to support work on capital schemes. In these cases, the 
salary costs can be capitalised, thus generating one-off income for the service area. 
The under spend has reduced from the quarter 3 projected under spend of 
£250,000 due to additional street lighting maintenance (£45,000) being necessary 
to be undertaken. 

 
Engineering Services 

• There is a under spend on Engineering Services of £170,000. This is primarily due 
to an increase in the level of fee earning jobs (grant funded/non grant funded 
projects) and the differing chargeable rates allowed on the schemes.  

 
Traffic and Transportation 

• There is an under spend of £174,000 within Traffic and Transport Services. Parking 
Service is showing an under spend of £173,000. This is primarily due to better than 
forecast levels of income received in some car parks. This additional income is 
contributing to running parking services and pressures within the overall transport 
budget, e.g. Fleet Services, shopmobility service. 

• The remainder of the under spend relates to staff vacancies which will be utilised 
towards the MTFS budget reduction for strategic transport planning of £70,000 in 
2024-25. 

 

Page 51



Corporate Landlord 

• There is an over spend of £547,000 against Corporate Landlord. As reported in the 
2022-23 outturn report, there are shortfalls in income generated from properties run 
by the Council that relate to occupancy shortfalls which have continued into 2023-
24. It was reported at quarter 1 that there was an underlying shortfall in income at 
Bridgend Market of £100,000.  This increased to £373,000 by quarter 4 primarily 
due to the identification of Reinforced Autoclaved Aerated Concrete (RAAC) and the 
subsequent closure of the market and loss of rental income. 

• There is also a shortfall in income of £124,000 for the Innovation Centre and 
£134,000 on Industrial Units, and a strategy is being developed to reduce these 
income shortfalls in the longer term.  

• Corporate Landlord continue to seek to commercially let out wings of Ravens Court 
to a partner organisation or business. However, at present demand for office space 
is limited and the re-letting market is extremely challenging. As noted in section 
3.2.2 and 3.2.4 the £50,000 target for 2022-23 and the £120,000 target for 2023-24 
in relation to this MTFS proposal were not achieved in this financial year which 
represents a further £170,000 pressure on the Corporate Landlord estates budget. 
There is also another £73,000 MTFS saving across the estate budgets for 2024-25. 

• The over spend has been partially offset by staffing vacancies of £246,000 in line 
with the selective recruitment freeze. 

 
3.3.4 Chief Executive’s  
  

The net budget for the Directorate for 2023-24 was £25.410 million and the actual 
outturn was £25.949 million following draw down of £1.311 million from earmarked 
reserves, resulting in an over spend of £539,000. This is compared to a projected 
over spend position of £1.265 million at quarter 3. The main reason for the 
decrease in projected over spend since quarter 3 is the receipt in quarter 4 of an 
increase to the ‘Discretionary Housing Prevention’ grant for homelessness from 
Welsh Government of £257,000 and an increase in the Ukraine Humanitarian 
Response grant of £140,000.  Without this additional funding, the Housing and 
Homelessness service would have over spent by £637,000.   
 

The main variances are: 
 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S  

Net 

Actual 
outturn 

Actual 
Variance 

% 
Variance Budget Over/(under) 

 budget 

  £’000 £’000 £’000   

Legal, Democratic & Regulatory 6,074 6,627 553 9.1% 

ICT 4,367 4,284 (83) -1.9% 

Housing & Homelessness 4,177 4,417 240 5.7% 

Human Resources/ 
Organisational Development 

2,237 2,110 (127) -5.7% 

Partnerships 2,377 2,255 (122) -5.1% 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 52



Legal, Democratic & Regulatory 

• There is a net over spend of £553,000 across Legal, Democratic and Regulatory 
services, which shows an improved position from the quarter 3 projected net over 
spend of £718,000. In comparison, the over spend on legal fees for 2022-23 was 
£417,000, but this was partially offset by an earmarked reserve of £340,000 which 
was drawn down in that financial year. The remaining earmarked reserve for 2023-
24 of £125,000 was drawn down to partially mitigate the over spend position. 

• The over spend is primarily due to legal fees continuing to be a budget pressure. 
The pressures experienced in 2022-23 on public and private law childcare cases, 
along with an increase in volume of complex cases that have required King’s 
Counsel, are continuing into 2023-24 and the actual spends are based on the 
number and complexity of cases. Council approved a £300,000 budget pressure for 
2024-25 to support the increase in legal fees.  

• There is also a net over spend of £9,000 in Regulatory Services (Licencing, Public 
Health, Pest Control etc) due to under recovery of income, particularly in Taxi 
Licensing and Environmental Health. This has improved since the quarter 3 
projected over spend of £99,000 due to a refund of £74,000 being received in 
relation to the Shared Regulatory Service that provides regulatory services for 
Bridgend County Borough Council, Cardiff Council and the Vale of Glamorgan 
Council.  
 
ICT 

• There is a net under spend of £83,000 across ICT budgets. This has improved from 
the projected net over spend of £39,000 reported at quarter 3 due primarily to 
earmarked reserve funding being utilised to offset one off software upgrade costs 
during quarter 4.   

• This is partially offset by increased expenditure as a result of rising postage costs and 
under recoupment of printing recharge income as a result of hybrid working.  

 
Housing & Homelessness 

• There is an over spend of £240,000 on Housing & Homelessness. This is compared 
to the projected over spend position of £538,000 at quarter 3. 

• Budget growth of £2.192 million was approved by Council as part of the MTFS 
Budget setting process in February 2021 to continue the commitment to focus 
support for homeless individuals providing them with accommodation. An additional 
budget pressure of £700,000 was approved by Council in March 2022 based on 
increased numbers of households and individuals supported with accommodation. 
The core accommodation budget for 2023-24 is £2.722 million. 

• For 2023-24, Welsh Government (WG) initially provided grant funding of £898,694 
for accommodation under the “No One Left Out” funding stream, and £137,000 for 
financial assistance for families and individuals experiencing financial difficulties 
with accommodation under a Discretionary Homelessness Prevention Grant. During 
quarter 4 WG increased the Discretionary Homelessness Prevention Grant by 
£257,000. WG also increased the Ukrainian grant funding by £140,000 up to 
£212,000. The total revised funding received from WG relating to housing and 
homelessness services for 2023-24 was £1.505 million which is still significantly 
lower than the total grant allocation of £2.128 million which was received in 2022-
23.  

• Spend on Homelessness accommodation in 2023-24 totalled £5.092 million, 
compared with £4.790 million projected at quarter 3. As well as the core 
accommodation budget (£2.722 million), total WG homelessness accommodation 
grant funding (£1,174,000) and Ukrainian grant funding (£212,000) the service has 

Page 53



also seen an increase in rental income relating to Housing Benefits claimed by 
tenants who have been supported with homelessness accommodation (£419,000). 
The net impact is an over spend on homelessness accommodation of £565,000.  

• The accommodation spend is based on increased numbers of households and 
individuals supported, from 601 households and 965 individuals between April 2022 
to March 2023, to 659 households and 1,034 individuals between April 2023 to 
March 2024. The over spend is also partially due to the average length of stay in 
temporary accommodation increasing to an average length of stay of 158 days for 
2023-24 compared to 96 days for 2022-23. Also the makeup of households in 
temporary accommodation involves large households and families with disabilities 
for whom temporary accommodation is difficult to secure and often results in 
significantly higher costs. The budget will require close monitoring as we move into 
the new financial year in line with any further changes in support required for 
homelessness accommodation. 

• The projected over spend on accommodation is partially mitigated by the under 
spend of £133,000 on staff vacancies in line with the selective vacancy freeze and 
is comparable with the quarter 3 projection of £135,000. The service area plan to fill 
these vacancies, therefore they will not form part of the MTFS budget reduction to 
review provision of the Homelessness Service in 2024-25.  

• The other area of under spend in Housing relates to the Housing Deposits budget, a 
fund that is used to support initial set-up costs in temporary accommodation which 
has a £137,000 under spend.  

• To mitigate this over spend on Housing going forward, in the short term the Rapid 
Rehousing Transitional Plan sets out the intention to work in partnership with key 
stakeholders to prevent homelessness and to ensure that where prevention is not 
possible, homelessness is brief and people have access to the support required to 
live as independently as possible. Secondly, the service is seeking to expand the 
existing Alternative to Bed & Breakfast Accommodation (ABBA) service which is a 
partnership working model with Registered Social Landlords (RSLs) to reduce the 
usage of Bed and Breakfast Accommodation through the provision of suitable 
temporary accommodation units, with linked housing related support, supporting the 
move into independent accommodation. Finally, the service is undertaking feasibility 
work with Corporate Landlord to develop a procurement strategy whereby the 
Council purchases, owns and manages shared accommodation. 

• In the medium term, the service is working with RSLs to utilise capital income 
streams such as the Social Housing Grant to increase suitable housing stock over a 
5 year programme.  In 2023-24 £3.5 million of transitional capital has been invested, 
creating an additional 38 units of social housing in the borough.  Secondly, in 
November 2023 Cabinet agreed to join the Welsh Government private rent sector 
Leasing Scheme with the aim of increasing the supply of suitable, affordable 
accommodation in the borough and reduce demand on homelessness services. 

 
Human Resources & Organisational Development 

• There is a net under spend of £127,000 across Human Resources (HR) & 
Organisational Development services, which shows an improved position from the 
projected quarter 3 net under spend of £55,000. This is primarily due to an under 
spend on the core budget to support the Council’s apprenticeship scheme as 
apprentices have been successfully appointed into full time employment across the 
Authority. HR will be seeking to recruit additional apprentices in 2024-25, therefore 
this under spend is not recurring. 

 
 

Page 54



Partnerships 

• There is a net under spend of £122,000 across Partnership budgets which primarily 
relates to staff vacancies in line with the selective vacancy freeze. Part of this under 
spend will be utilised towards the MTFS budget reduction for Partnerships and 
Customer Services of £216,000 in 2024-25.  

 
3.3.5 Council Wide budgets 
  
 This section includes budgets, provisions and services which are council wide, and 

not managed by an individual directorate. The net budget for 2023-24 was £37.295 
million and the actual outturn was £32.016 million resulting in an under spend of 
£5.279 million.  

 
The most significant variances were:- 

 

COUNCIL WIDE BUDGETS 
Net  

Budget 
Actual 

Outturn 

Actual 
Variance 

Over/(under) 
budget 

% 
Variance 

  £'000 £'000 £'000  

Capital Financing 7,142 3,064 (4,078) -57.09% 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 16,054 15,566 (488) -3.04% 

Insurance Premiums 1,363 764 (599) -43.95 

Repairs and Maintenance 460 0 (460) -100% 

 
Capital Financing 

• The under spend of £4.078 million mainly relates to additional interest from current 
investments due to the higher level of interest rates agreed by the Bank of England 
Monetary Policy Committee.  The increase to 4.5% in May 2023 was the highest it 
has been since 2008, but this has further increased to 5% in June 2023 and 5.25% 
in August 2023. The rate has remained frozen at 5.25% since August 2023, 
however indications are that this will start to reduce during 2024. 

• It should be noted that this will not be a recurring under spend as the Council 
approved new Highways and Children’s Playground refurbishments in the Capital 
Programme in March 2023 to be funded from a combination of unallocated capital 
funding and prudential borrowing and this has not been drawn down in full to date. 

 
 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

• There is an under spend of £488,000 on the Council Tax Reduction Scheme. This is 
a demand led budget and take-up is difficult to predict. Take-up for 2023-24 is 
higher than in 2022-23 when the gross spend in this budget area was £14.885 
million, although part of this would be as a result of the council tax increase in April 
2023. The budget will be closely monitored in 2024-25 following the 9.5% council 
tax increase in April 2024,  as it is possible there could be an additional call on the 
scheme in view of the impact of the cost of living crisis on personal financial 
circumstances with the potential for an increase in the number of benefit claimants. 

 
Insurance Premiums 

• There is an under spend of £599,000 on Insurance Premiums. This primarily relates 
to a reduction in the overall fund liability following successful claims repudiated and 
settled at a lower amount, claims won and an exceptionally low year for claims 
received. The outturn for 2023-24 is considered to be a one-off under spend, with 

Page 55



the budget not having under spent since 2020-21, however the budget will continue 
to be reviewed going forward to determine if there are any further permanent budget 
reduction opportunities. 

 
Repairs and Maintenance 

• There is an under spend of £460,000 which is as a result of slippage on some minor 
works schemes and feasibility studies in 2023-24. 

 
3.3.6 Council Tax Collection 
 

• At quarter 3 it was reported that it was still early in the financial year to provide a 
realistic indication of projected council tax income for 2023-24, and whether the 
Council was likely to see a reduction in council tax income as more people have 
suffered financial hardship due to the current cost of living crisis, or whether 
additional income would be collected from the introduction of council tax 
premiums on empty properties.   

• The outturn for 2023-24 shows additional income of £1.506 million has been 
collected (+ 1.5%). £516,000 of this is in relation to the premium charge for 
empty properties, which was implemented on 1st April 2023, with the remainder 
being a combination of collection of arrears from previous financial years and 
additional in-year collection Premiums on second homes are being implemented 
from 1st April 2024. 

 
3.4 Review of Earmarked Reserves 
 
3.4.1  The Council is required to maintain adequate financial reserves to meet the needs 

of the organisation. The MTFS includes the Council’s Reserves and Balances 
Protocol which sets out how the Council will determine and review the level of its 
Council Fund balance and earmarked reserves. During 2023-24 Directorates drew 
down funding from specific earmarked reserves and these were reported to Cabinet 
through the quarterly monitoring reports. The final draw down from revenue 
reserves was £12.186 million and is summarised in Table 4 below. A more detailed 
breakdown of the movement on capital and revenue reserves is outlined in 
Appendix 4. 

 
Table 4 – Draw Down from Earmarked Reserves during 2023-24 

 

  

Draw down from 
Earmarked 

Reserves 2023-24                      

 £'000 

Education & Family Support  649  

Social Services & Wellbeing  5,660 

Communities  2,419 

Chief Executives  1,311 

Non-Directorate  2,147 

Total 12,186 

 
 
 
 

Page 56



3.4.2 The net over spend position of £7.054 million for 2023-24, as set out in 3.1.2, 
required the unwinding of £6.952 million of existing earmarked reserves, along with 
a transfer of £102,000 from the Council Fund (see para 3.4.3) to balance the budget 
at year end.  The main earmarked reserves that were unwound included capital 
programme reserves and those set aside for other high risk areas, which will reduce 
the funding available, for example, on capital expenditure going forward.  Given the 
overall over spend position, no new earmarked reserves could be created at year 
end. 

 
3.4.3  Table 5 below summarises the final position on all revenue useable reserves for the 

year, including the Council Fund. In addition there are currently £40.222 million of 
other earmarked reserves funding schemes within the capital programme.  

 
Table 5 – Summary of Movement on Revenue Earmarked Reserves 2023-24 
 

Opening 
Balance 1 
April 2023 

Reserve 

Movement at Quarter 4 
Closing 

Balance 31 
March 2024 Additions Reclassification 

Drawdown/ 
Unwound 

£'000  £'000 £'000 £’000 £'000 

      

9,832 Council Fund Balance - - (102) 9,730 

      
16,739 Corporate Reserves 3,143 (141) (9,045) 10,696 

19,182 Directorate Reserves 3,338 (6,326) (9,526) 6,668 

5,703 Equalisation & Grant Reserves 988 (232) (2,454) 4,005 

6,898 School Balances - - (4,493) 2,405 

48,522 Total Earmarked Reserves 7,469 (6,699) (25,518) 23,774 

      

58,354 Total Usable Reserves 7,469 (6,699) (25,620) 33,504 

 
 
3.4.4 In terms of financial reserves, the Council Fund balance represents 2.84% of the 

net revenue budget for 2023-24, or 4.30% of the net revenue budget excluding 
schools.  This is a reduction from the 4.84% of the net revenue budget, excluding 
schools, reported in 2023-24 and is a further movement away from MTFS Principle 
9 which states that:- 

 
The Council Fund balance should be set at a prudent but not excessive level. This 
will normally be maintained at a level of 5% of the Council’s net budget, excluding 
schools. 

 
4. Equality implications (including Socio-economic Duty and Welsh Language) 
 
4.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act 2010, Socio-

economic Duty and the impact on the use of the Welsh language have been 
considered in the preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales, the Council 
must consider the impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the 
review of policies, strategies, services and functions. It is considered that there will 
be no significant or unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report. 

 
 

Page 57



5. Well-being of Future Generations implications and connection to Corporate 
Well-being Objectives 

 
5.1 The Act provides the basis for driving a different kind of public service in Wales, with 

5 ways of working to guide how public services should work to deliver for people.  The 
well-being objectives are designed to complement each other and are part of an 
integrated way of working to improve well-being for the people of Bridgend. The 
allocation of budget determines the extent to which the Council’s well-being 
objectives can be delivered. It is considered that there will be no significant or 
unacceptable impacts upon the achievement of the well-being goals or objectives as 
a result of this report. 

 
6. Climate Change Implications 
 
6.1 There are no direct implications arising from this report. 
 
7. Safeguarding and Corporate Parent Implications 
 
7.1 There are no direct implications arising from this report. 
 
8. Financial Implications 
 
8.1 These are reflected in the body of the report. 
 
9. Recommendation 
 
9.1 Council is recommended to: 
 

• note the revenue outturn position for 2023-24. 
 
Background documents:  Individual Directorate Monitoring Reports 

Page 58



APPENDIX 1

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal

Original 

Reduction 

and RAG     

£000

Revised 

RAG     

£000

Total 

amount of 

saving 

achieved in 

23-24           

£000

Reason why not achieved Proposed Action in 2024-25 to achieve

RAG STATUS KEY

RED Not likely to be achieved at all in this financial year or less than 25%.

AMBER Reduction not likely to be achieved in full in financial year but greater than 25%

GREEN Reduction likely to be achieved in full

SOCIAL SERVICES & WELLBEING

SSW 2 

(2022-23)

Remodelling day service provision for older people and 

learning disability services
115 115

As reported in the 2022-23 Revenue 

outturn report, some efficiencies were 

identified, however external factors 

prevented the achievement of the full 

savings target. 

A review of the budgets within Adult Services was 

undertaken during quarter 2 to identify replacement 

savings against the £30,000 shortfall reported in 

quarter 1. Budget virements were actioned from Adult 

Services Non-residential income.  No further action 

required. 

Total Social Services & Wellbeing Directorate 115 115

COMMUNITIES

COM 2 

(2021-22)

Re-location of Community Recycling Centre from Tythegston 

to Pyle resulting in cessation of lease payments at existing 

site

60 0

As reported at quarter 3, positive 

progress was being made with 

Natural Resources Wales in relation 

to the licence at the new site in Pyle. 

The new site opened during quarter 4 

(14th March 2024) however the timing 

of the opening meant that the saving 

could not be implemented in 2023-24.

The majority of the saving will be made in 2024-25, 

once the exit terms of the lease have been finalised.  

The service will endeavour to meet any shortfall in the 

saving through alternative one off efficiencies in 2024-

25 to deliver a balanced budget position.

COM 3 

(2022-23)
Change the composition of Household Food Waste Bags 35 0

The budget reduction proposal was 

delayed in 2023-24 until the outcome 

of national research had been 

completed to ensure any potential 

changes in legislation did not impact 

on this proposal.  The new waste 

contractors from 1st April 2024 have 

been advised of the change of 

composition, therefore the saving will 

be made in full during 2024-25. 

The new waste contractors from 1st April 2024 have 

been advised of the change of composition, therefore 

the saving will be made in full during 2024-25. 

COM 4 

(2022-23)

Remove Business in Focus from running Enterprise Centres 

in Bridgend
20 0

Rising costs of utilities, general 

contractor rates and occupational 

levels/demand impacting on 

profitability of Business in Focus units 

and therefore ability to reduce 

running costs and deliver saving 

proposal. 

Review of Business in Focus operating model 

continues to be explored to identify operating 

efficiencies with a view to restructuring the 

management agreement with Business in Focus to 

deliver this saving in full in 2024-25. 

COM 5 

(2022-23)

Commercially let a wing of Ravens Court to a partner 

organisation or business
50 0

Demand for office space at this time 

is limited and the re-letting market 

extremely challenging, therefore 

unable to rent a wing of Ravens Court 

as anticipated. 

The shared use of space with public sector partners 

has been accelerated. Discussion are ongoing with a 

number of parties in relation to the available 

accommodation at Ravens Court moving forward.

Total Communities Directorate 165 0

GRAND TOTAL OUTSTANDING REDUCTIONS 280 115

REDUCTIONS SHORTFALL 165

PRIOR YEAR BUDGET REDUCTIONS CARRIED FORWARD INTO 2023-24

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



MONITORING OF 2023-24 BUDGET REDUCTIONS
APPENDIX 2

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Budget 

Reductions  

2023-24 

£'000

Value of 

saving 

achieved 

2023-24    

£'000

Reason why not achieved Proposed action in 2024-25 to achieve

EDUCATION & FAMILY SUPPORT

CENTRAL EDUCATION & FAMILY SUPPORT

EDFS1

Delegate some school transport responsibilities 

to The Bridge Pupil Referral Unit under a new 

delivery model to deliver efficiency savings

ž Minimal impact anticipated 

 Alternative service model to be implemented to deliver the identified 

efficiency

 Increased responsibility for school

40 0

During 2023-24 officers investigated the 

practicalities and implications of a 

bespoke transport arrangement for the 

Bridge Alternative Provision. It was 

determined that without capital 

investment to purchase a vehicle and 

additional staff resources that the 

proposal was not possible to be 

delivered.

The transport budget for The Bridge has been 

re-instated to 2022-23 levels.  Since September 

2023, the approach taken in relation to 

supporting Post 16 learners with college passes 

has been changed, with the £40K savings now 

anticipated to be made on the Post 16 transport 

budget.

Total Education and Family Support 40 0

SCH1
Efficiency savings against School Delegated 

Budgets - 2% for 2023-24

ž The annual saving represents a 2% efficiency per annum against 

individual school budgets 

 Risk of increased school deficit positions

 Implementation will be a matter for individual schools

 Potential to result in some teacher and other staff redundancies

 If efficiency is made solely from staffing budgets, this could range 

from a minimum of one teacher in our large primary schools and to 

five teachers in our larger secondary schools being made redundant 

over the MTFS period

2,118 2,118

The savings were implemented in 2023-

24 and schools budgets reduced 

accordingly. However, the overall 

consequential effect on schools is a 

significant contributory factor in that year 

end balances have fallen from £6.898 

million brought forward from 2022-23 to 

£2.405 million at the end of 2023-24. 

There are 21 schools with deficit budget 

situations (20 Primary and 1 Special).

None required - saving implemented in full in 

2023-24.

Total Schools 2,118 2,118

2,158 2,118

SCHOOLS

Total Education & Family Support Directorate

P
age 61



MONITORING OF 2023-24 BUDGET REDUCTIONS
APPENDIX 2

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Budget 

Reductions  

2023-24 

£'000

Value of 

saving 

achieved 

2023-24    

£'000

Reason why not achieved Proposed action in 2024-25 to achieve

COMMUNITIES

COM1
Closure of each of the Community Recycling 

Centre sites for one weekday per week

The waste contract related items would require both Contract 

variation negotiations with Kier to confirm the saving levels proposed 

along with public consultation regarding the reduced levels of 

service.

50 4

Public consultation on this proposal was 

under taken between the 30 June and 12 

September 2023, with the outcome 

reported to Cabinet on the 21 November 

2023, when the proposal was approved.  

A marginal saving was made in 2023-24, 

with the full saving being realised in 2024-

25.

None required - 2024-25 will see the delivery of 

this saving target in full.

COM2 Charging Blue Badge Holders for parking

There are currently a number of measures which assist in providing 

equitable access, particularly for those who are participants in the 

Blue Badge Scheme. These include reserved spaces for Blue 

Badge Holders in Off-Street Car Parks in convenient locations, 

guidance on the proportion of disabled parking spaces within new 

parking facilities, some on-street parking provision in town centre 

locations, the ability to park on double yellow lines for up to 3 hours 

as long as no obstruction is caused and the Shopmobility scheme 

operated within Bridgend Town Centre. In providing parking either at 

ground level or in multi-storey car parks, the Council incurs both 

capital and ongoing revenue costs which the Council must source 

from its own funds. The current position is that a concession is 

applied in Off Street Car Parks for persons displaying a Blue Badge 

which provides for unlimited parking free of charge.

40 0

The traffic management team were 

engaged in the introduction of the default 

national speed limit in built up areas. The 

saving proposal was not achieved in 

2023-24 due to the processes required 

to introduce any change.

The delivery of this proposal is linked to staffing 

within the Traffic and Transport section which is 

currently depleted due to unplanned staff 

absences.  It is currently envisaged that the 

project will advance in Autumn 2024. Shortfalls 

against this savings target will be met through 

one off efficiencies in 2024-25 to deliver a 

balanced budget position.

COM3
Commercially let two wings of Ravens court to a 

partner organisation or business

Savings would be predicated on reduction in utilities from not 

occupying the space and rental income
120 0

Demand for office space at this time is limited 

and the re-letting market extremely 

challenging, therefore unable to rent a wing 

of Ravens Court as anticipated. 

The Council continues to engage with the 

current occupiers of Ravens Court to ensure a 

prompt relocation and for the building to be 

closed down allowing full operational savings to 

be made. No wings were let to external parties 

during 2023-24 however detailed negotiations 

are ongoing which will help to deliver the 

operational savings to meet this proposal during 

2024-25. 

COM4

Use revenue savings accrued as a result of 

switching street lighting to LED's across the 

County

The savings are predicated from reduced energy bills in 22/23 as a 

result of the LED street lighting roll out.  This may be diminished in 

future years by rising energy costs overall

100 100 Full saving achieved in 2023-24 None required - saving made in full in 2023-24

P
age 62



MONITORING OF 2023-24 BUDGET REDUCTIONS
APPENDIX 2

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Budget 

Reductions  

2023-24 

£'000

Value of 

saving 

achieved 

2023-24    

£'000

Reason why not achieved Proposed action in 2024-25 to achieve

COM5 Reduction to Highways - Road Marking Budget

This reduction could have an impact on the enforcement of 

restriction as the remaining funding will be focused on markings that 

have wider safety implications

10 10 Full saving achieved in 2023-24 None required - saving made in full in 2023-24

COM6

Increase garden waste subscription cost to £46 

per household and £42 for pensioners 

(Currently £41.01 per household or £36.73 for 

pensioners)

Potential increase in fly tipping.  Loss of subscribers 30 30 Full saving achieved in 2023-24 None required - saving made in full in 2023-24

COM7
Increase bulky waste charges from £21.42 for 3 

items to £25.
Potential increase in fly tipping.   25 25 Full saving achieved in 2023-24 None required - saving made in full in 2023-24

Total Communities Directorate 375 169

CHIEF EXECUTIVES

CEX1 Reduction of ICT Printing Costs

Due to the increase in working from home across the authority, 

savings can be found in the ICT Print Strategy area.  These savings 

are in line with the cultural shift towards the paperless office agenda.

40 40 Full saving achieved in 2023-24 None required - saving made in full in 2023-24

CEX2

Efficiency saving target targeting supplies and 

services budgets across the Chief Executive's 

Directorate

Limited impact as review has identified small historic under spends 

against this budget category
35 35 Full saving achieved in 2023-24 None required - saving made in full in 2023-24

Total Chief Executive's Directorate 75 75

GRAND TOTAL REDUCTIONS 2,608 2,362

REDUCTION SHORTFALL

230 2,358

260 0

2,118 250

2,608 2,608

P
age 63



T
his page is intentionally left blank



REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING TO 31ST MARCH 2024 - YEAR END OUTTURN

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Expenditure 

Budget
Income 

Budget 

Net 

Budget 

Actual 

Outturn 

Actual 

Variance

Over/(under)

budget 

% 

Variance

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

EDUCATION AND FAMILY SUPPORT

School Delegated Budgets 139,192           (23,064)     116,128      116,128        -                  0.0%

Learner Support 8,200               (1,216)       6,984          8,179           1,195               17.1%

Family Support 7,991               (4,389)       3,602          3,100           (502)                 -13.9%

Business Support 16,508             (4,418)       12,090        12,912         822                  6.8%

Schools Support 1,550               (837)          713             650              (63)                   -8.8%

School Modernisation 3,890                -           3,890          3,871           (19)                   -0.5%

Vulnerable Groups Support 882                  (96)            786             712              (74)                   -9.4%

Other Education and Family Support 1,728               (60)            1,668          1,662           (6)                     -0.4%

TOTAL EDUCATION, EARLY YEARS AND YOUNG PEOPLE 179,941           (34,080)     145,861      147,214       1,353               0.9%

SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING

Adult Social Care 88,812             (22,848)     65,964        72,864         6,900               10.5%

Prevention and Wellbeing 8,472               (980)          7,492          7,097           (395)                 -5.3%

Childrens Social Care 27,061             (1,131)       25,930        31,252         5,322               20.5%

TOTAL SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING 124,345           (24,959)     99,386        111,213       11,827             11.9%

COMMUNITIES DIRECTORATE

Planning & Development Services 2,763               (2,023)       740             740               -                  0.0%

Strategic Regeneration 3,056               (1,280)       1,776          1,681           (95)                   -5.3%

Economy, Natural Resources and Sustainability 7,066               (5,390)       1,676          1,501           (175)                 -10.4%

Cleaner Streets and Waste Management 14,505             (1,968)       12,537        12,404         (133)                 -1.1%

Highways and Green Spaces 25,575             (12,410)     13,165        13,149         (16)                   -0.1%

Director and Head of Operations - Communities 290                   -           290             282              (8)                     -2.8%

Corporate Landlord 16,246             (12,048)     4,198          4,745           547                  13.0%

TOTAL COMMUNITIES 69,501             (35,119)     34,382        34,502         120                  0.3%

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

Chief Executive Unit 517                   -           517             525              8                      1.5%

Finance 39,431             (35,194)     4,237          4,272           35                    0.8%

HR/OD 2,635               (398)          2,237          2,110           (127)                 -5.7%

Partnerships 3,604               (1,227)       2,377          2,255           (122)                 -5.1%

Legal, Democratic & Regulatory 7,043               (969)          6,074          6,627           553                  9.1%

Elections 186                   -           186             209              23                    12.4%

ICT 5,501               (1,134)       4,367          4,284           (83)                   -1.9%

Housing & Homelessness 12,036             (7,859)       4,177          4,417           240                  5.7%

Business Support 1,349               (111)          1,238          1,250           12                    1.0%

 TOTAL CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 72,302             (46,892)     25,410        25,949         539                  2.1%

 TOTAL DIRECTORATE BUDGETS 446,089           (141,050)   305,039      318,878       13,839             4.5%

Council Wide Budgets 38,269             (974)          37,295        32,016         (5,279)              -14.2%

Net Council Tax Income (1,506)          (1,506)              0.0%

Transfers from Earmarked Reserves (6,952)          (6,952)              0.0%

Transfer from Council Fund (102)             (102)                 0.0%

 NET BRIDGEND CBC             484,358    (142,024)       342,334        342,334                      -    0.0%

NB: Differences due to rounding of £000's

APPENDIX 3

Budget 2023-24

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



           APPENDIX 4 

TOTAL MOVEMENT ON REVENUE AND CAPITAL EARMARKED RESERVES AS AT 31ST MARCH 

2024 

  Movement as at 31 March 2024  

Opening 
Balance  

01 Apr 23 Reserve 
Net Additions/ 

Reclassification 
Draw-down/ 

unwound 

Closing 
Balance 

31 Mar 24 

£'000   £'000 £'000 £'000 

         

  Corporate Reserves:       

766 Asset Management Plan - (336) 430 

1,768 Building Maintenance Reserve 355 (267) 1,856 

450 Capital Asset Management & Asbestos Fund - (327) 123 

631 Capital Feasibility Fund 71 (353) 349 

884 Change Management (308) (227) 349 

2,539 
Digital Transformation, ICT & Finance 
Systems 384 (1,475) 1,448 

800 Economic and Future Resilience Fund - (300) 500 

1,548 Insurance Reserve - (719) 829 

3,081 Major Claims Reserve 1,000 (3,581) 500 

906 MTFS Budget Contingency 1,500 - 2,406 

179 Property Disposal Strategy - (166) 13 

2,893 Service Reconfiguration - (1,000) 1,893 

294 Welfare Reform Bill - (294) - 

16,739 Total Corporate Reserves 3,002 (9,045) 10,696 

 Directorate Reserves:    
6,558 City Deal Reserve (6,558) - - 

11,670 Directorate Issues 4,092 (9,406) 6,356 

313 Looked After Children (127) - 186 

103 Porthcawl Regeneration - - 103 

272 School Projects Reserve (272) - - 

266 Wellbeing Projects (123) (120) 23 

19,182 Total Directorate Reserves (2,988) (9,526) 6,668 

 Equalisation & Grant Reserves:    
32 Building Control Reserve - (32) - 

16 Civil Parking Enforcement 47 - 63 

944 HWB Schools Infrastructure 414 (444) 914 

3,648 IFRS Grants 404 (1,957) 2,095 

153 Legal Fees (153) - - 

158 Local Development Plan - (21) 137 

752 Special Regeneration Fund - - 752 

- Rest Bay 44 - 44 

5,703 Equalisation & Grant Reserves: 756 (2,454) 4,005 

      
6,898 School Balances - (4,493) 2,405 

43,973 Capital Programme Contribution 9,571 (13,322) 40,222 

9,832 Council Fund Balance - (102) 9,730 

      

102,327 TOTAL RESERVES 10,341 (38,942) 73,726 

NB: Differences due to rounding of £000's 

 

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
Meeting of:  

 
COUNCIL 

 

 
Date of Meeting:  

 
24 JULY 2024 

 

 
Report Title:  

 
CAPITAL PROGRAMME OUTTURN 2023-24 AND QUARTER 

1 UPDATE 2024-25 
 

 
Report Owner / 
Corporate Director:  

 

 
CHIEF OFFICER – FINANCE, HOUSING AND CHANGE 

Responsible 
Officer:  

HUW POWELL  
CAPITAL ACCOUNTANT 

 

Policy Framework 
and Procedure 
Rules:  

Paragraph 3.5.3 of the Financial Procedure Rules requires 
that the Chief Finance Officer shall report quarterly to 
Cabinet and Council with an update on the Capital Strategy 
and the Prudential Indicators. This report fulfils that 
requirement. There is no impact on the policy framework or 
procedure rules. 

Executive 
Summary:  
 

• The report provides an update on the capital 

programme outturn position for 2023-24, the quarter 1 

spend and projected spend for 2024-25 as at 30 June 

2024, the revised capital programme for 2024-25 to 

2033-34 and the projected Prudential and Other 

Indicators for 2024-25. 

• Appendix A shows the budgets and spend for the 

individual schemes in 2023-24. 

• Appendix B shows the budgets, spend to date and 

projected year end spend as at 30 June 2024 for the 

individual schemes in 2024-25. 

• Appendix C shows the revised capital programme for 

2024-25 to 2033-34. 

• Appendix D provides details of the projected 

Prudential and Other Indicators for 2024-25. 

 
 
 
1. Purpose of Report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to: 

 

• Comply with the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) 
‘The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities’ (2021 edition) 

Page 69

Agenda Item 8



 

requirement to report performance against all forward looking indicators on a 
quarterly basis. 

• Provide an update to Council on the capital programme outturn for 2023-24 
(Appendix A). 

• Provide an update to Council on the capital programme position for 2024-25 as at 
30 June 2024 (Appendix B). 

• Ask Council to note the net slippage of £17.082 million in to 2024-25 as detailed 
in Appendix C. 

• Seek Council’s approval for the virements between schemes as detailed in 
Appendix C. 

• Seek Council’s approval of the new schemes/additions to the capital programme 
totalling £2.614 million as outlined in Appendix C. 

• Ask Council to note the projected Prudential and Other Indicators for 2024-25 
(Appendix D). 

 
2. Background  
 
2.1 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Wales) Regulations 2003 as 

amended, contain detailed provisions for the capital finance and accounting controls, 
including the rules on the use of capital receipts and what is to be treated as capital 
expenditure. They modify accounting practice in various ways to prevent adverse 
impacts on authorities’ revenue resources. 

 
2.2      As well as the legislation, the Council manages its Treasury Management and Capital 

activities in accordance with the following associated guidance: - 

• CIPFA’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice  

• CIPFA’s The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities  

• Welsh Government (WG) revised Guidance on Local Authority Investments 
 

2.3 The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities requires Local 
Authorities to have in place a Capital Strategy which demonstrates that the Authority 
takes capital expenditure and investment decisions in line with service objectives and 
properly takes account of stewardship, value for money, prudence, sustainability, and 
affordability. To demonstrate that the Council has fulfilled these objectives, the 
Prudential Code sets out a number of Indicators that must be set and monitored each 
year. The Council’s Capital Strategy 2024-25, incorporating the Prudential Indicators 
for 2024-25, was approved by Council on 28 February 2024.     

 
2.4 On 1 March 2023 Council approved a capital budget of £69.045 million for 2023-24 

as part of a capital programme covering the period 2023-24 to 2032-33. The 
programme was last updated and approved by Council on 28 February 2024.  

 
 
3. Current situation / proposal 
 
3.1 Capital Programme Outturn 2023-24 
 The original budget approved by Council on 1 March 2023 has been revised and 

approved by Council during the year to incorporate budgets brought forward from 
2022-23 and any new schemes and grant approvals during 2023-24. The revised 
programme for 2023-24, approved by Council on 28 February 2024 totalled £49.714 
million, of which £27.279 million was to be met from Bridgend County Borough 

Page 70



 

Council (BCBC) resources, including capital receipts, revenue contributions from 
earmarked reserves and borrowing, with the remaining £22.435 million coming from 
external resources. 

 
3.1.2 Appendix A provides details of the individual schemes within the capital      

programme, showing the budget available in 2023-24 compared to the actual spend. 
Since the last report presented to Council on 28 February 2024 there have been a 
few minor amendments to the 2023-24 programme. The main changes are: 

 

• New approvals of £0.829 million, as a result of additional Welsh Government grant 
funding of £0.371 million for School Maintenance (in addition to an additional 
revenue contribution of £0.030 million)  and £0.030 million for Unadopted Roads, 
£0.143 million contribution from Coychurch Crematorium and £0.285 million 
revenue/earmarked reserve contributions as a result of revised expenditure 
profiles across a number of schemes. 
 

• These additions are offset by reductions of £1.065 million in the programme, 
including £0.062 million for the Community Focused Schools scheme, £0.033 
million for the Flying Start Extension and £0.893 million for Telecare. These are 
as a result of some items of expenditure on the schemes being deemed to be 
revenue in nature, and so expenditure as well as the equivalent amount of funding 
was transferred to revenue. The Digital Transformation budget has also been 
reviewed and reduced by £0.064 million. 

 

• £2.371 million of funding has been brought forward from 2024-25 to reflect revised 

spend profiles. 

This brings the revised budget for 2023-24 to £51.849 million. 
 

3.1.3 Total expenditure as at 31 March 2024 was £31.813 million which, after slippage of 
£19.453 million into 2024-25, and adjustments to grant funded schemes of £0.548 
million, results in a total under spend of £0.035 million. Slippage has arisen for a 
number of reasons, including delays in starting projects due to the need to undertake 
more detailed survey works, supply chain issues and ongoing discussions with 
funding bodies and other general programme delays. 

 
3.1.4 Slippage forecast to be spent in 2024-25 of £19.453 million is required, the main 

schemes being: 
 

• £2.429 million School Capital Maintenance Grant. There have been a number of 
delays on the individual projects within the scheme due to capacity issues, plus 
an additional £0.371 million was awarded by Welsh Government in March 2024 
for use in 2023-24 which increased the available budget. The remaining budget is 
being slipped forward for use in 2024-25. 
 

• £0.547 million Flying Start Extension Nantymoel. The Flying Start provision for 
Nantymoel was originally intended to be located at Nantymoel Primary but 
following site investigation work the site was deemed to be unsuitable, which has 
resulted in the scheme being delayed. A second site has now been identified 
within Nantymoel and site investigation and design works are now underway at 
the new location. 
 

Page 71



 

• £0.948 million Porthcawl Metro Link. Due to delays encountered by sub- 
contractors in procuring materials for the roof and guttering system, the scheme 
wasn’t completed by the end of 2023-24, therefore £0.948 million has been 
slipped for use in 2024-25. The main contractor has advised that the handover 
date to the Council will be the end of July 2024. 
 

• £0.607 million Shared Prosperity Framework. The Shared Prosperity Fund is 
working with local businesses, providing funding to assist with capital works and 
refurbishments. Due to delays with the legal and procurement processes, works 
being funded from the Shared Prosperity Fund were delayed until these processes 
were finalised. Grant payments will be made to the recipients once the work has 
been completed, which means the majority of grant payments will now be made 
in 2024-25. 
 

• £0.530 million Homelessness and Housing. To respond to increasing numbers of 
housing and homelessness cases, Valleys to Coast (V2C) secured £2.1 million of 
grant funding from Welsh Government to support a refurbishment programme to 
bring back into use 35 long term empty properties, or ‘voids’, which required 
significant investment. In July 2022 Council approved match funding of £530,000 
to support this work and V2C confirmed that the properties would be available to 
the Council for nomination rights and to support those individuals and families in 
temporary accommodation. Due to technicalities with the Welsh Government 
funding V2C were unable to utilise the funding for the properties originally 
identified. It is therefore requested that the allocation be refocused in 2024-25 to 
fund other works undertaken by V2C to manage voids and to bring houses back 
into use. It has been confirmed that these works have been completed and 
nomination rights for the upgraded homes were given to BCBC. 
 

• £1.066 million Affordable Housing. The Council was successful in purchasing one 
property in March 2024 and the remaining budget has been slipped to 2024-25 to 
purchase additional properties, with the council currently in the process of 
completing the purchase of a second property.  
 

£0.573 million Corporate Capital Fund. This is an annual allocation of funding of 
£200,000, approved in 2019, and intended to be used to provide, amongst other 
things, match funding for new grant schemes, ICT and equipment replacement 
and to meet unanticipated pressures. Allocation of this funding is subject to 
Corporate Management Board approval. This will be monitored during 2024-25 
and, if it is deemed that it is not needed in part or full, an element of this budget 
could be allocated to other capital schemes. 
 

• £2.765 million Minor Works. Due to delays in completing a number of minor works 
schemes across all directorates, funding has been slipped for use in 2024-25. 

3.2 Capital Programme Quarter 1 Update 2024-25 
 
3.2.1 This section of the report provides Members with an update on the Council’s capital 

programme for 2024-25 since the budget was last approved by Council and 
incorporates any new schemes and grant approvals. The revised programme for 
2024-25 currently totals £82.082 million, of which £43.944 million is met from 
Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC) resources, including capital receipts, 
revenue contributions from earmarked reserves and borrowing, with the remaining 

Page 72



 

£38.138 million coming from external resources, including Welsh Government 
General Capital Grant. Table 1 below shows the capital programme for each 
Directorate from the February 2024 approved Council position to Quarter 1: 
 
Table 1 – Capital Programme per Directorate 2024-25 
 

Directorate 

 
 

Approved 
Council  

 
Net 

Slippage     
to / (from)       
2023-24 

New 
Approvals/ 

(Reductions)  

Slippage 
to future 

years 

Revised 
Budget 
2023-24 

February 
2024 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Education & 
Family 
Support 

58,564 6,115 1,118 (48,151) 17,646 

Social 
Services and 
Wellbeing 

503 731 (395) - 839 

Communities 48,138 7,188 1,759 - 57,085 

Chief 
Executive’s  

2,881 2,504 132 - 5,517 

Council Wide 451 544 - - 995 

Total 110,537 17,082 2,614 (48,151) 82,082 

  
3.2.2 Table 2 below summarises the current funding assumptions for the capital 
programme for 2024-25. The capital resources are managed to ensure that maximum 
financial benefit for the Council is achieved. This may include the realignment of 
funding to maximise government grants. 
 
Table 2 – Capital Programme 2024-25 Resources 

 

CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 

£’000 
 

BCBC Resources:  

Capital Receipts 18,421 

Earmarked Reserves 15,605 

Unsupported Borrowing 5,244 

Supported Borrowing 3,937 

Other Loans 160 

Revenue Contribution 577 

Total BCBC Resources 43,944 

External Resources:  

S106 2,695 

Grants 35,443 

Total External Resources 38,138 

TOTAL RESOURCES 82,082 

Page 73



 

 
 
3.2.3 Appendix B provides details of the individual schemes within the capital programme, 

 showing the budget available in 2024-25 compared to the projected year end spend 
at 30 June 2024. There are currently no projected under or over spends on any of the 
schemes at year end. 

 
3.2.4 However, a number of schemes have been identified as requiring slippage of budget 

to future years (2025-26 and beyond).  
 
 Highways/Other Offsite Works Band B Schools (£3.300 million) 
 The highways budget in relation to Band B schemes will be expended once works 

have been designed and commissioned. It is anticipated that costs will be incurred in 
future years and will align to the revised Band B programme. Therefore £3.300 million 
has been slipped to 2025-26. 

 
 Heronsbridge Replacement (£22.029 million) 
 The Royal Institute of British Architecture (RIBA) Stage 2 has concluded. A revised 

outline business case will be submitted to Welsh Government, and confirmation of 
Welsh Government and BCBC funding will be required in order to progress the 
scheme. Therefore £22.029 million has been slipped to 2025-26. 

   
 Mynydd Cynffig Replacement (£9.008 million) 
 The scheme is being progressed through RIBA Stage 3. Confirmation of the total 

funding of the scheme will be required in order to progress and £9.008 million is being 
slipped to 2025-26. 

 
 Y G Bro Ogwr Replacement (£9.791 million) 
 The scheme is being progressed through RIBA Stage 2. Confirmation of the total 

funding of the scheme will be required in order to progress and £9.791 million has 
been slipped to 2025-26. 

 Bridgend West Mutual Investment Model (MIM) (£1.995 million) 
 Confirmation of the total funding of the scheme will be required in order to progress 

and £1.995 million has been slipped to 2025-26. 
  

Land Purchase Band B (£2.028 million) 
 The programmes for Heronsbridge School and Bridgend West Mutual Investment 

Model (MIM) have slipped, and land will be acquired to deliver the projects in line with 
revised programmes once they are confirmed. Therefore £2.028 million has been 
slipped to 2025-26.  

  
3.2.5 There are a number of amendments to the capital programme for 2024-25, such as 

new and amended schemes, since the capital programme was last approved, 
including:  

 
 Schools Minor Works (£0.175 million) 
 The Council has been awarded £0.175 million from Welsh Government’s Voluntary 

Aided Urgent Repair Programme, which will allow flat roof and window replacement 
works to commence at St Mary’s Catholic Primary School. The total cost of the works 
will be £0.250 million, with the Council’s £0.075 million contribution being funded from 
the Schools Minor Works budget. 

 

Page 74



 

 Additional Learning Needs (ALN) Grant (£0.913 million) 
 Welsh Government has awarded the Council £0.913 million to optimise learning 

environments for disabled children and young people and those with additional 
learning needs, to increase accessibility, promote inclusive practice, support learning 
and pupil wellbeing. This will support the objectives of the Additional Learning Needs 
and Education Tribunal (Wales) Act (ALNET) and ALN reform, to create a unified 
bilingual system for supporting children and young people from 0 to 25 with ALN, and 
the delivery of the Curriculum for Wales in school settings. 

 
 Flying Start Extension – Nantymoel Primary (£0.030 million) 
 The Council were awarded £0.580 million in October 2023 to provide a new build 

Flying Start childcare facility at Nantymoel Primary School. After initial site 
investigation works at the school it was deemed the site was unsuitable. A second 
site in Nantymoel has since been identified and site investigation and design works 
are now underway at the new location. As a result, Welsh Government have awarded 
the Council an additional £0.030 million for the project to fund the additional cost of 
conducting two site investigations. 

 
 Flying Start Highways (£0.036 million) 
 As stated above, the site of Nantymoel Flying Start provision has now been identified 

and as part of the site investigation and feasibility work, technical officers have 
identified that there will be a need for highways works to be undertaken to improve 
pedestrian safety as well as associated traffic orders at an estimated cost of £0.036 
million. Welsh Government have given approval for £0.014 million of the Flying Start 
Extension to part fund this work, with £0.022 million to be funded by the Council. The 
Council’s contribution will be vired from the Welsh Medium Childcare Highways 
budget, as the builds at Ogmore and Bettws are now complete and no further 
expenditure is expected. 

 
Parks/Pavilions/Community Centres Community Asset Transfers (£0.167 million)The 
Council have been awarded £0.167 million from Sport Wales Court Collaboration 
funding to refurbish sports courts at Maesteg Welfare Park and Caedu Park. The total 
cost of the refurbishments will be £0.223 million, and the Council will fund the balance 
of £0.056 million from the existing Community Asset Transfers budget. 
 
Coychurch Crematorium Works (£0.075 million) 

 As the work on the Flower Court is now complete, the only planned capital work at 
Coychurch Crematorium this financial year is for the improvement of pathways within 
the grounds. The addition of £0.075 million will be funded from the Crematorium’s 
accumulated balance. 

  
Road Signs 20 mph Default Speed (£0.328 million) 

 Welsh Government have awarded the Council £0.328 million to support the 
implementation of the 20 mph default speed limit on restricted roads across the 
County Borough, which came in to force on 17 September 2023. 

  
 Fleet Vehicles (£0.179 million) 
 There have been a number of adjustments to the fleet budget as follows: 
 
⦁ Coleg Cymunedol Y Dderwen had intended on purchasing a new minibus, and a 

revenue contribution of £0.042 million was included within the Fleet Vehicles budget. 

Page 75



 

The school have now made the decision not to purchase a new minibus, and 
therefore £0.042 million has been removed from the programme.  

⦁ The existing fleet of waste vehicles is experiencing reliability issues which is having 
a significantly detrimental impact to service delivery. Due to what can be a long lead 
time for the purchase of waste and recycling vehicles, approval was given via a 
delegated power dated 14 June 2024 for Plan B to procure a number of replacement 
vehicles, up to a total value of £0.981 million. The installation of CCTV cameras and 
livery have increased the total cost of the vehicles to £1.037 million. Refurbishment 
of three existing vehicles is also required, at a cost of £0.090 million, giving a total 
cost for waste vehicles of £1.127 million. 

 
 Of the current £1.702 million Fleet Vehicles budget £0.754 million has already been 

committed and orders placed for 2 Whale tankers and 3 minibuses. There is currently 
an uncommitted budget of £0.906 million for fleet vehicles and therefore an additional 
£0.221 million is required to meet the balance of funding required for the waste 
vehicles. The additional budget will be funded by a virement of £0.146 million from 
the Waterton Depot Upgrade scheme, with the balance of £0.075 million funded from 
prudential borrowing as follows. 

  

 £ million 

Budget Requirement:  

New Waste Vehicles 1.037 

Waste Vehicle Refurbishment 0.090 

Whale Tankers and Minibuses 0.754 

Total Budget 1.881 

  

Funded by:  

Current Budget 1.702 

Removal of CCYD Minibus (0.042) 

Prudential Borrowing 0.075 

Virement form Waterton Depot 0.146 

Total Funding 1.881 

 
 Coal Tip Safety (£0.067 million) 
 Following a further grant funding application submitted by officers, an additional 

£0.067 million has been awarded by Welsh Government for the Coal Tip Safety 
scheme, which brings the total capital funding available for the scheme to £0.457 
million. 

 
 Maesteg Town Hall (£0.250 million) 
 The National Lottery Heritage Fund (NLHF) have awarded the Council £0.250 million 

for the Maesteg Town Hall scheme, to assist in addressing the additional costs 
incurred due to dry rot and time extensions. Council approval was given in November 
2023 to vire £1.174 million from the Waterton Upgrade scheme to Maesteg Town Hall 
to fund the additional costs being incurred, with the understanding that any funding 
received from NLHF would result in the equivalent amount being returned to the 
Waterton Upgrade budget. Therefore, £0.250 million will be vired back to the 
Waterton Upgrade budget. 

 
 Low Carbon Heat Grant (£0.799 million) 

 The Council have been awarded a total £0.799 million from Welsh Government’s 
Energy Service to replace existing fossil-fuelled heating and Domestic Hot Water 

Page 76



 

(DHW) provision with low-carbon alterative Air Source Heat Pump (ASHP) systems 
at Bryn Y Cae Residential Care Home and Bridgend Resource Centre. Rooftop solar 
panels will also be installed at both sites to aid the decarbonisation of the buildings. 
The Council will be providing match funding of £0.290 million for the project, which 
will be funded by a virement from the 2030 Decarbonisation budget. 

  
Bryncethin Depot (£0.040 million) 
An additional £0.040 million of Salix interest free loan funding has been made 
available for the installation of solar panels and LED lighting at Bryncethin Depot. 
 
Disabled Facilities Grant (£0.132 million) 
Cwm Taf Morgannwg Regional Partnership Board have awarded the Council £0.132 
million from their Housing with Care Fund to support independent living in the 
community for residents with care and support needs. The funding will help provide 
intermediate care settings in the community so that people who need care, support 
and rehabilitation can return to living independently or maintain their existing 
independence. 
 
 In addition to the above schemes, one scheme has had their funding reduced and 
one scheme has been removed from the capital programme. These are shown as 
negative approvals: 
 
Telecare (£0.395 million) 
After reviewing the expenditure in 2023-24, the Telecare scheme has been deemed 
to be revenue in nature and therefore the budget for 2024-25 has been removed from 
the capital programme and is now included in the revenue budget.  
 

3.2.6 A revised Capital Programme is included as Appendix C. 
 
 
3.3 Prudential and Other Indicators 2024-25 Monitoring 
 

3.3.1 The Capital Strategy is intended to give an overview of how capital expenditure; 
capital financing and treasury management activity contribute to the provision of 
services along with an overview of how associated risk is managed and the 
implications for future sustainability. To this end a number of prudential indicators 
were included in the Capital Strategy which was approved by Council. In line with the 
requirements of the Prudential Code, the Chief Finance Officer is required to establish 
procedures to monitor both performance against all forward-looking prudential 
indicators and the requirement specified. 

 
3.3.2 In February 2024, Council approved the Capital Strategy for 2024-25, which included 

the Prudential Indicators for 2024-25. 
 
3.3.3 Appendix C details the actual indicators for 2023-24, the estimated indicators for 

2024-25 set out in the Council’s Capital Strategy and the projected indicators for 
2024-25 based on the revised Capital Programme. These show that the Council is 
operating in line with the approved indicators.  
 

4. Equality implications (including Socio-economic Duty and Welsh Language) 
 

Page 77



 

4.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic Duty, 
and the impact on the use of the Welsh Language have been considered in the 
preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales the Council must consider the 
impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies, 
strategies, services, and functions. It is considered that there will be no significant or 
unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report.  

 

5. Well-being of Future Generations implications and connection to Corporate 
Well-being Objectives 

 
5.1 The Act provides the basis for driving a different kind of public service in Wales, with 

five ways of working to guide how public services should work to deliver for people. 
The well-being objectives are designed to complement each other and are part of an 
integrated way of working to improve well-being for the people of Bridgend. It is 
considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable impacts upon the 
achievement of the well-being goals or objectives as a result of this report. 

 
6. Climate Change Implications  
 
6.1 These are reflected within the report where relevant to specific schemes.  
 
7. Safeguarding and Corporate Parent Implications 
 
7.1 There are no safeguarding and corporate parent implications arising from this 

report.  
 
8.  Financial Implications  
 
8.1 These are reflected within the report. 
 
9. Recommendations 

 
9.1 It is recommended that Council: 
 

• notes the Council’s Capital Programme Outturn for 2023-24 (Appendix A). 

• notes the Council’s Capital Programme 2024-25 Quarter 1 update to 30 June 2024 

(Appendix B)   

• approves the revised Capital Programme, noting the slippage into 2024-25 of 
£17.082 million, and approves the virements between schemes and new 
schemes/additions of £2.614 million to the capital programme (Appendix C). 

• notes the projected Prudential and Other Indicators for 2024-25 (Appendix D). 

 
Background documents 
 
None 

Page 78



Bridgend County Borough Council APPENDIX A

CAPITAL MONITORING REPORT 2023-24 OUTTURN REPORT

Budget 23-24 

(Council Feb 

24)

New Approvals Virement Slippage   from         

2024-25

Revised 

Budget        

2023-24

Total 

Expenditure 

2023-24

Over / (Under) 

spend

Slippage to 

2024-25

Impact on 

Grant Funding

Impact on 

BCBC 

Resources

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Education & Family Support
1 HIGHWAYS SCHEMES BAND B SCHOOL 100                  100                   -                  (100)                 100                  

2 HERONSBRIDGE REPLACEMENT 500                  500                  333                  (167)                 167                  

3 MYNYDD CYNFFIG REPLACEMENT 398                  398                  397                  (1)                     1                      

4 Y G BRO OGWR REPLACEMENT 127                  127                  123                  (4)                     4                      

5 YSGOL GYFYN GYMRAEG LLANGYNWYD 100                  100                  3                      (97)                   97                    

6 GATEWAY TO THE VALLEYS SECONDARY SCHOOL 32                    (32)                   -                    -                   -                   -                  

7 GARW VALLEY SOUTH PRIMARY PROVISION 70                    70                    9                      (61)                   61                    

8 PENCOED PRIMARY SCHOOL BAND A 53                    53                    2                      (51)                   51                    

9 GARW VALLEY PRIMARY HIGHWAYS WORKS 30                    (30)                   -                    -                   -                   -                  

10 PENCOED PRIMARY SCHOOL HIGHWAYS WORKS 56                    56                     -                  (56)                   56                    

11 ABERCERDIN PRIMARY HUB 277                  277                   -                  (277)                 277                  

12 BRYNTEG COMPREHENSIVE ALL WEATHER PITCH 402                  108                  510                  472                  (38)                   38                    

13 CHILDRENS DIRECTORATE MINOR WORKS 255                  (5)                     250                  63                    (187)                 187                  

14 SCHOOLS TRAFFIC SAFETY 68                    68                    12                    (56)                   56                    

15 SCHOOL MODERNISATION 386                  (45)                   341                  5                      (336)                 336                  

16 PENCOED PRIMARY CLASSROOM EXTENSION 102                  102                  38                    (64)                   64                    

17 COETY PRIMARY SCHOOL EXTENSION 144                  144                  12                    (132)                 132                  

18 BRYNTIRION COMPREHENSIVE SIX CLASSROOMS 100                  100                  20                    (80)                   80                    

19 BRYNTIRION COMP HIGHWAYS 141                  141                  7                      (134)                 134                  

20 EUCATION S106 SCHEMES 169                  169                   -                  (169)                 169                  

21 MYNYDD CYNFFIG PRIMARY SCHOOL MOBILES 79                    (79)                   -                    -                   -                   -                  

22 SCHOOLS CAPITAL MAINTENANCE GRANT 4,629               401                  (108)                 4,922               2,493               (2,429)              2,429               

23 WELSH MEDIUM GRANT - BETTWS  -                  5                      5                      5                       -                   -                  

24 WELSH MEDIUM GRANT - OGMORE 65                    40                    105                  105                   -                   -                  

25 WELSH MEDIUM - HIGHWAYS 22                    22                     -                  (22)                   22                    

26 FREE SCHOOL MEALS 2,535               (3)                     2,532               2,123               (409)                 409                  

27 COMMUNITY FOCUSED SCHOOLS 924                  (62)                   862                  714                  (148)                 148                  

28 ALN CAPITAL GRANT 928                  928                  612                  (316)                 316                  

29 YSGOL GYMRAEG BRO OGWR MOBILE CLASSROOMS 249                  249                  35                    (214)                 214                  

30 PORTHCAWL WELSH MEDIUM SEEDLING SCHOOL 20                    20                     -                  (20)                   20                    

31 FLYING START CHILDCARE 185                  185                  173                  (12)                    -                  (12)                   

32 FLYING START EXTENSION - NANTYMOEL PRIMARY 580                  (33)                   547                   -                  (547)                 547                  

33 ICT SCHOOL EQUIPMENT BRYNTEG I PADS 96                    96                    96                     -                   -                  

34 YOUTH SERVICE VEHICLE 75                    75                    75                     -                   -                  

TOTAL Education & Family Support 13,756              303                  (5)                      -                  14,054              7,927               (6,127)              6,115               (12)                    -                  

Social Services and Wellbeing
35 BRYN Y CAE - UPGRADE HFE'S 40                    40                     -                  (40)                   40                    

36 TY CWM OGWR 41                    41                    18                    (23)                   23                    

37 WELLBEING MINOR WORKS 110                  150                  260                  48                    (212)                 212                  

38 BAKERS WAY MINOR WORKS 10                    10                     -                  (10)                   10                    

39 CHILDRENS RESIDENTIAL HUB 444                  444                  370                  (74)                   74                    

P
age 79



Budget 23-24 

(Council Feb 

24)

New Approvals Virement Slippage   from         

2024-25

Revised 

Budget        

2023-24

Total 

Expenditure 

2023-24

Over / (Under) 

spend

Slippage to 

2024-25

Impact on 

Grant Funding

Impact on 

BCBC 

Resources

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

40 TELECARE TRANSFORMATION 893                  (893)                  -                   -                   -                   -                  

41 TY CWM OGWR RESIDENTIAL CARE HOME HCF 41                    41                    38                    (3)                      -                  (3)                     

42 BREAKAWAY 100                  100                  2                      (98)                   98                    

43 COMMUNITY CENTRES 197                  197                  30                    (167)                 167                  

44 BRYNGARW HOUSE 8                      8                       -                  (8)                     8                      

45 YSGOL BRYN CASTELL HARD COURT 99                    99                     -                  (99)                   99                    

TOTAL Social Services & Wellbeing 1,983               (893)                 150                   -                  1,240               506                  (734)                 731                  (3)                      -                  

Communities

Street Scene
46 COMMUNITY PLAY AREAS 106                  106                  55                    (51)                   51                    

47 PARKS/PAVILIONS/OTHER COMMUNITY ASSET TRANSFERS 1,019               1,019               650                  (369)                 369                  

48 ABERFIELDS PLAYFIELDS 11                    11                     -                  (11)                   11                    

49 COYCHURCH CREM WORKS 802                  143                  945                  945                   -                   -                  

50 REMEDIAL MEASURES - CAR PARKS 135                  135                   -                  (135)                 135                  

51 CIVIL PARKING ENFORCEMENT CAR 38                    38                    18                    (20)                   20                    

52 20 MPH DEFAULT SPEED 1,089               1,089               865                  (224)                 (224)                 

53 ROAD SAFETY SCHEMES 38                    38                    32                    (6)                     6                      

54 HIGHWAYS STRUCTURAL WORKS 385                  (38)                   27                    374                  374                   -                   -                   -                  

55 CARRIAGEWAY CAPITAL WORKS 250                  1                      251                  251                   -                   -                   -                  

56 CARRIAGEWAY & FOOTWAYS RENEWAL 45                    45                    45                     -                   -                   -                  

57 HEOL MOSTYN JUNCTION 168                  168                   -                  (168)                 168                  

58 PROW CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT STRUCTURES 68                    (10)                   58                    57                    (1)                     (1)                     

59 HIGHWAYS MAINTENANCE GRANT 1,000               19                    1,019               1,019                -                   -                  

60 REPLACEMENT OF STREET LIGHTING 400                  45                    445                  445                   -                   -                  

61 RIVER BRIDGE PROTECTION MEASURES 22                    22                     -                  (22)                   22                    

62 COMMUNITIES MINOR WORKS 484                  35                    200                  719                  157                  (562)                 562                  

63 ULEV TRANSFORMATION FUND 2 299                  299                  276                  (23)                   23                    

64 FLEET TRANSITION-ULEV 220                  220                  65                    (155)                 155                  

65 NET ZERO CARBON FLEET 264                  264                  117                  (147)                 147                  

66 PORTHCAWL METRO LINK 3,778               3,778               2,830               (948)                 948                  

67 PENPRYSG ROAD BRIDGE 13                    13                     -                  (13)                   13                    

68 RESIDENTS PARKING BRIDGEND TOWN CENTRE 109                  109                   -                  (109)                 109                  

69 FLEET VEHICLES 279                  29                    598                  906                  906                   -                   -                  

70 AHP WASTE 6                      6                      2                      (4)                     4                      

71 CORNELLY CEMETERY EXTENSION 217                  217                  27                    (190)                 190                  

72 PORTHCAWL CEMETERY EXTENSION 177                  177                  13                    (164)                 164                  

73 S106 HIGHWAYS SMALL SCHEMES 42                    42                    3                      (39)                   39                    

74 UNADOPTED ROADS 53                    30                    (27)                   56                    56                     -                   -                  

75 TONDU WASTE DEPOT UPGRADE FIRE 17                    17                     -                  (17)                   17                    

76 PUFFIN CROSSING KENFIG HILL 14                    14                    8                      (6)                     6                      

77 YNYSAWDRE TO BRYNCETHIN ATR 784                  784                  629                  (155)                 (155)                 

78 COAL TIP SAFETY 200                  200                   -                  (200)                 200                  

79 TRAFFIC SIGNAL REPLACEMENT 299                  299                  9                      (290)                 290                  

TOTAL Streetscene 12,786 243 229 625                  13,883 9,854 (4,029)              3,649               -380 0

P
age 80



Budget 23-24 

(Council Feb 

24)

New Approvals Virement Slippage   from         

2024-25

Revised 

Budget        

2023-24

Total 

Expenditure 

2023-24

Over / (Under) 

spend

Slippage to 

2024-25

Impact on 

Grant Funding

Impact on 

BCBC 

Resources

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Regeneration & Development
80 EU CONVERGANCE SRF BUDGET     436                  436                   -                  (436)                 436                  

81 COSY CORNER (PRIF)            1,430               1,430               1,417               (13)                   (13)                   

82 PORTHCAWL REGENERATION PROJECT 420                  420                  304                  (116)                 116                  

83 ECONOMIC STIMULUS GRANT 484                  (67)                   417                   -                  (417)                 417                  

84 COASTAL RISK MANAGEMENT PROGRAM 764                  764                  554                  (210)                 210                  

85 ARBED PHASE 1 CESP            273                  987                  1,260               1,260                -                   -                  

86 BRIDGEND HEAT SCHEME  -                   -                   -                   -                   -                  

87 MAESTEG TOWN HALL CULTURAL HUB 2,452               2,452               2,079               (373)                 373                  

88 TOWN & COMMUNITY COUNCIL FUND 232                  232                  63                    (169)                 169                  

89 PORTHCAWL TOWNSCAPE HERITAGE INITIATIVE 124                  124                   -                  (124)                 124                  

90 BRDGND BUS SUP NETWORK 5                      67                    72                    72                     -                   -                  

91 COMM PROP ENHANCEMENT FUND    134                  134                   -                  (134)                 134                  

92 CWM TAFF NATURE NETWORK       209                  209                  165                  (44)                   (44)                   

93 URBAN CENTRE PROPERTY ENHANCE 562                  562                  101                  (461)                 461                  

94 2030 DECARBONISATION          400                  400                  85                    (315)                 315                  

95 SHARED PROSPERITY FRAMEWORK   989                  989                  382                  (607)                 607                  

96 BRILLIANT BASICS 110                  110                   -                  (110)                 (88)                   (22)                   

97 LOCAL PLACES FOR NATURE 115                  115                  94                    (21)                   (21)                   

98 PORTHCAWL GRAND PAVILION 537                  268                  805                  805                   -                   -                  

TOTAL Regeneration & Development 9,671               5                      -                   1,255               10,931              7,381               (3,550)              3,362               (153)                 (35)                   

Corporate Landlord
99 CAPITAL ASSET MANAGEMENT FUND 273                  273                   -                  (273)                 273                  

100 RAVENS COURT 446                  446                   -                  (446)                 446                  

101 DDA WORKS 82                    150                  232                  26                    (206)                 206                  

102 MINOR WORKS 1,497               (595)                 902                   -                  (902)                 902                  

103 FIRE PRECAUTIONS MINOR WORKS 110                  100                  210                  133                  (77)                   77                    

104 BRYNCETHIN DEPOT FACILITIES 151                  151                  74                    (77)                   77                    

105 EVERGREEN HALL 89                    170                  259                  230                  (29)                   29                    

106 INVESTING IN COMMUNITIES 47                    47                     -                  (47)                   47                    

TOTAL Corporate Landlord 2,695               170                  (345)                  -                  2,520               463                  (2,057)              2,057                -                   -                  

TOTAL Communities 25,152              418                  (116)                 1,880               27,334              17,698              9,636-               9,068               533-                  35-                    

Chief Executive
107 MANDATORY DFG RELATED EXPEND 2,561               (114)                 435                  2,882               2,882                -                   -                   -                  

108 TARGET HARDENING GRANTS  -                  92                    92                    92                     -                   -                   -                  

109 EMERGENCY REPAIR LIFETIME GRANT  -                  128                  128                  128                   -                   -                   -                  

110 COMFORT SAFE & SECURITY GRANTS  -                  14                    14                    14                     -                   -                   -                  

111 HOUSING RENEWAL AREA 315                  (245)                 27                    97                    97                     -                   -                   -                  

112 EMPTY HOMES GRANTS-GRANTS ONLY  -                  124                  124                  124                   -                   -                   -                  

113 ENABLE GRANT 270                  1                      271                  271                   -                   -                   -                  

114 HOMELESSNESS AND HOUSING 530                  530                   -                  (530)                 530                   -                  

115 HEALTH & WELLBEING VILLAGE 480                  480                   -                  (480)                 480                   -                  

116 AFFORDABLE HOUSING 1,444               1,444               378                  (1,066)              1,066                -                  

117 LEASING SCHEME WALES 26                    26                     -                  (26)                   26                     -                  

TOTAL Housing/Homelessness 5,626                -                   -                  462                  6,088               3,986               (2,102)              2,102                -                   -                  

P
age 81



Budget 23-24 

(Council Feb 

24)

New Approvals Virement Slippage   from         

2024-25

Revised 

Budget        

2023-24

Total 

Expenditure 

2023-24

Over / (Under) 

spend

Slippage to 

2024-25

Impact on 

Grant Funding

Impact on 

BCBC 

Resources

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

118 ICT INFRA SUPPORT 766                  766                  371                  (395)                 395                  

119 DIGITAL TRANSFORMATION 180                  (64)                   116                  14                    (102)                 102                  

120 CCTV SYSTEMS REPLACEMENT 38                    38                     -                  (38)                   38                    

121 ICT DATA CENTRE REPLACEMENT 1,260               1,260               1,022               (238)                 238                  

122 HWB SCHOOLS IT 380                  380                  289                  (91)                   91                    

TOTAL ICT 2,624               (64)                    -                   -                  2,560               1,696               (864)                 864                   -                   -                  

TOTAL Chief Executive 8,250               (64)                    -                  462                  8,648               5,682               (2,966)              2,966                -                   -                  

Council Wide Capital Budgets 
123 CORPORATE CAPITAL FUND 573                  573                   -                  (573)                 573                  

124 UNALLOCATED  -                  (29)                   29                     -                   -                   -                   -                  

573                   -                  (29)                   29                    573                   -                  (573)                 573                   -                   -                  

GRAND TOTAL 49,714           (236)               (548)               (35)                  -                2,371             51,849           31,813           (20,036)          19,453           

P
age 82



Bridgend County Borough Council APPENDIX B

CAPITAL MONITORING REPORT QUARTER 1 TO 30 JUNE 2024

Budget      24-

25 (Council 

Feb 24)

2023-24 Slippage 

b/f

New Approvals 

and Adjustments

Virement Slippage   to 

Future Years

Revised 

Budget        

2024-25

Total 

Expenditure to 

Date

Projected 

Spend

Over / (Under) 

Spend

Impact on 

BCBC 

Resources

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Education & Family Support
1 HIGHWAYS SCHEMES BAND B SCHOOL 3,300               100                     (3,300)              100                  7                      100                   -                  

2 HERONSBRIDGE REPLACEMENT 23,200             167                     (22,029)            1,338                -                  1,338                -                  

3 MYNYDD CYNFFIG REPLACEMENT 9,294               1                         (9,008)              287                  29                    287                   -                  

4 Y G BRO OGWR REPLACEMENT 10,198             4                         (9,791)              411                  68                    411                   -                  

5 BRIDGEND WEST MIM 1,995               (1,995)              -                    -                   -                   -                  

6 YSGOL GYFYN GYMRAEG LLANGYNWYD  -                  97                       97                     -                  97                     -                  

7 LAND PURCHASE BAND B SCHOOLS 2,028               (2,028)              -                    -                   -                   -                  

8 GARW VALLEY SOUTH PRIMARY PROVISION  -                  61                       61                     -                  61                     -                  

9 PENCOED PRIMARY SCHOOL BAND A  -                  51                       51                     -                  51                     -                  

10 PENCOED PRIMARY SCHOOL HIGHWAYS WORKS  -                  56                       56                     -                  56                     -                  

11 ABERCERDIN PRIMARY HUB  -                  277                     277                   -                  277                   -                  

12 BRYNTEG COMPREHENSIVE ALL WEATHER PITCH  -                  38                       38                     -                  38                     -                  

13 CHILDRENS DIRECTORATE MINOR WORKS  -                  187                     175                      362                   -                  362                   -                  

14 SCHOOLS TRAFFIC SAFETY  -                  56                       56                     -                  56                     -                  

15 SCHOOL MODERNISATION  -                  336                     336                   -                  336                   -                  

16 PENCOED PRIMARY CLASSROOM EXTENSION 798                  64                       862                  5                      862                   -                  

17 COETY PRIMARY SCHOOL EXTENSION 1,506               132                     1,638               7                      1,638                -                  

18 BRYNTIRION COMPREHENSIVE SIX CLASSROOMS 1,580               80                       1,660                -                  1,660                -                  

19 BRYNTIRION COMP HIGHWAYS  -                  134                     134                   -                  134                   -                  

20 EUCATION S106 SCHEMES  -                  169                     169                   -                  169                   -                  

21 SCHOOLS CAPITAL MAINTENANCE GRANT  -                  2,429                  2,429               78                    2,429                -                  

22 WELSH MEDIUM GRANT - BRIDGEND 550                  550                   -                  550                   -                  

23 WELSH MEDIUM GRANT - OGMORE  -                  -                   (19)                    -                   -                  

24 WELSH MEDIUM GRANT - PORTHCAWL 550                  550                   -                  550                   -                  

25 WELSH MEDIUM - HIGHWAYS  -                  22                       (22)                   -                    -                   -                   -                  

26 FREE SCHOOL MEALS 1,035               409                     1,444               141                  1,444                -                  

27 COMMUNITY FOCUSED SCHOOLS 2,180               148                     2,328               14                    2,328                -                  

28 ALN CAPITAL GRANT  -                  316                     913                      1,229               56                    1,229                -                  

29 YSGOL GYMRAEG BRO OGWR MOBILE CLASSROOMS  -                  214                     214                   -                  214                   -                  

30 PORTHCAWL WELSH MEDIUM SEEDLING SCHOOL 350                  20                       370                  2                      370                   -                  

31 FLYING START EXTENSION - NANTYMOEL PRIMARY  -                  547                     30                        (14)                   563                  3                      563                   -                  

32 FLYING START HIGHWAYS 36                    36                     -                  36                    

TOTAL Education & Family Support 58,564             6,115                  1,118                    -                  (48,151)            17,646              391                  17,646               -                   -                  

Social Services and Wellbeing
33 BRYN Y CAE - UPGRADE HFE'S  -                  40                       40                     -                  40                     -                  

34 TY CWM OGWR  -                  23                       23                     -                  23                     -                  

35 WELLBEING MINOR WORKS  -                  212                     212                  16                    212                   -                  

36 BAKERS WAY MINOR WORKS  -                  10                       10                     -                  10                     -                  

37 CHILDRENS RESIDENTIAL HUB  -                  74                       74                     -                  74                     -                  

38 TELECARE TRANSFORMATION 395                  (395)                      -                   -                   -                   -                  

P
age 83



Budget      24-

25 (Council 

Feb 24)

2023-24 Slippage 

b/f

New Approvals 

and Adjustments

Virement Slippage   to 

Future Years

Revised 

Budget        

2024-25

Total 

Expenditure to 

Date

Projected 

Spend

Over / (Under) 

Spend

Impact on 

BCBC 

Resources

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

39 BREAKAWAY  -                  98                       98                    1                      98                     -                  

40 COMMUNITY CENTRES  -                  167                     167                  12                    167                   -                  

41 BRYNGARW HOUSE  -                  8                         8                       -                  8                       -                  

42 YSGOL BRYN CASTELL HARD COURT  -                  99                       99                     -                  99                     -                  

43 OGMORE VALLEY LIFE CENTRE 108                  108                   -                  108                   -                  

TOTAL Social Services & Wellbeing 503                  731                     (395)                      -                   -                  839                  29                    839                   -                   -                  

Communities

Street Scene
44 COMMUNITY PLAY AREAS 2,800               51                       2,851               27                    2,851                -                  

45 PARKS/PAVILIONS/OTHER COMMUNITY ASSET TRANSFERS 400                  369                     167                      936                  109                  936                   -                  

46 ABERFIELDS PLAYFIELDS  -                  11                       11                     -                  11                     -                  

47 CITY DEAL 1,190               1,190                -                  1,190                -                  

48 COYCHURCH CREM WORKS  -                  75                        75                    18                    75                     -                  

49 REMEDIAL MEASURES - CAR PARKS  -                  135                     135                   -                  135                   -                  

50 CIVIL PARKING ENFORCEMENT CAR  -                  20 20                     -                  20                     -                  

51 20 MPH DEFAULT SPEED  -                  328                      328                   -                  328                   -                  

52 ROAD SAFETY SCHEMES  -                  6                         6                      (2)                     6                       -                  

53 PENCOED TECH PARK ACT TRAVEL  -                   -                  (41)                    -                   -                  

54 HIGHWAYS STRUCTURAL WORKS 521                  (27)                      494                  (50)                   494                   -                  

55 CARRIAGEWAY CAPITAL WORKS 250                  250                  (30)                   250                   -                  

56 CARRIAGEWAY & FOOTWAYS RENEWAL  -                   -                  (252)                  -                   -                  

57 HEOL MOSTYN JUNCTION  -                  168                     168                   -                  168                   -                  

58 PROW CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT STRUCTURES 65                    65                    1                      65                     -                  

59 HIGHWAYS MAINTENANCE GRANT 1,000               1,000               (184)                 1,000                -                  

60 REPLACEMENT OF STREET LIGHTING 400                  400                  6                      400                   -                  

61 RIVER BRIDGE PROTECTION MEASURES  -                  22                       22                     -                  22                     -                  

62 COMMUNITIES MINOR WORKS  -                  562                     562                  (4)                     562                   -                  

63 ULEV TRANSFORMATION FUND 2  -                  23                       23                     -                  23                     -                  

64 FLEET TRANSITION-ULEV  -                  155                     155                  10                    155                   -                  

65 NET ZERO CARBON FLEET  -                  147                     147                   -                  147                   -                  

66 PORTHCAWL BUS STATION CCRMETRO  -                  948                     948                  405                  948                   -                  

67 PENPRYSG ROAD BRIDGE  -                  13                       13                     -                  13                     -                  

68 RESIDENTS PARKING BRIDGEND TOWN CENTRE  -                  109                     109                   -                  109                   -                  

69 FLEET VEHICLES 2,300               (598)                    33                        146                  1,881                -                  1,881                -                  

70 AHP WASTE  -                  4                         4                       -                  4                       -                  

71 CORNELLY CEMETERY EXTENSION  -                  190                     190                  5                      190                   -                  

72 PORTHCAWL CEMETERY EXTENSION  -                  164                     164                  35                    164                   -                  

73 S106 HIGHWAYS SMALL SCHEMES  -                  39                       39                    2                      39                     -                  

74 UNADOPTED ROADS 380                  380                  (3)                     380                   -                  

75 TONDU WASTE DEPOT UPGRADE FIRE  -                  17                       17                     -                  17                     -                  

76 PUFFIN CROSSING KENFIG HILL  -                  6                         6                      (2)                     6                       -                  

77 YNYSAWDRE TO BRYNCETHIN ATR  -                   -                  (20)                    -                   -                  

78 COAL TIP SAFETY 190                  200                     67                        457                   -                  457                   -                  

79 TRAFFIC SIGNAL REPLACEMENT  -                  290                     290                   -                  290                   -                  

TOTAL Streetscene 9,496 3,024 670 146 0 13,336 30 13,336 0 0

Regeneration & Development

P
age 84



Budget      24-

25 (Council 

Feb 24)

2023-24 Slippage 

b/f

New Approvals 

and Adjustments

Virement Slippage   to 

Future Years

Revised 

Budget        

2024-25

Total 

Expenditure to 

Date

Projected 

Spend

Over / (Under) 

Spend

Impact on 

BCBC 

Resources

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

80 EU CONVERGANCE SRF BUDGET      -                  436                     436                   -                  436                   -                  

81 COSY CORNER (PRIF)             -                  (73)                    -                   -                  

82 PORTHCAWL REGENERATION PROJECT 2,500               116                     2,616               9                      2,616                -                  

83 ECONOMIC STIMULUS GRANT  -                  417                     417                  16                    417                   -                  

84 COASTAL RISK MANAGEMENT PROGRAM  -                  210                     210                  2                      210                   -                  

85 EWENNY ROAD INDUSTRIAL ESTATE 3,493                -                     3,493                -                  3,493                -                  

86 ARBED PHASE 1 CESP            2,791               (987)                    1,804               19                    1,804                -                  

87 BRIDGEND HEAT SCHEME 3,265                -                     3,265                -                  3,265                -                  

88 MAESTEG TOWN HALL CULTURAL HUB 1,174               373                     250                      (250)                 1,547               439                  1,547                -                  

89 TOWN & COMMUNITY COUNCIL FUND 50                    169                     219                  4                      219                   -                  

90 PORTHCAWL TOWNSCAPE HERITAGE INITIATIVE  -                  124                     124                   -                  124                   -                  

91 COMM PROP ENHANCEMENT FUND     -                  134                     134                   -                  134                   -                  

92 URBAN CENTRE PROPERTY ENHANCE 614                  461                     1,075               32                    1,075                -                  

93 2030 DECARBONISATION          400                  315                     (290)                 425                  4                      425                   -                  

94 SHARED PROSPERITY FRAMEWORK   4,614               607                     5,221               113                  5,221                -                  

95 LOCAL PLACES FOR NATURE 110                  110                   -                  110                   -                  

96 PORTHCAWL GRAND PAVILION 10,631             (268)                    10,363              28                    10,363               -                  

97 LOW CARBON HEAT GRANT  -                   -                     799                      290                  1,089                -                  1,089               

TOTAL Regeneration & Development 29,642             2,107                  1,049                   250-                  -                   32,548              609                  32,548               -                   -                  

Corporate Landlord
98 CAPITAL ASSET MANAGEMENT FUND 500                  273                     773                   -                  773                   -                  

99 RAVENS COURT  -                  446                     446                   -                  446                   -                  

100 DDA WORKS  -                  206                     206                  (8)                     206                   -                  

101 MINOR WORKS 1,130               902                     2,032                -                  2,032                -                  

102 FIRE PRECAUTIONS MINOR WORKS  -                  77                       77                    18                    77                     -                  

103 BRYNCETHIN DEPOT FACILITIES 400                  77                       40                        517                  50                    517                   -                  

104 WATERTON UPGRADE 6,970                -                     104                  7,074                -                  7,074                -                  

105 EVERGREEN HALL  -                  29                       29                    60                    29                     -                  

106 INVESTING IN COMMUNITIES  -                  47                       47                     -                  47                     -                  

TOTAL Corporate Landlord 9,000               2,057                  40                        104                   -                  11,201              120                  11,201               -                   -                  

TOTAL Communities 48,138             7,188                  1,759                    -                   -                  57,085              759                  57,085              -                       -                       

Chief Executive
107 MANDATORY DFG RELATED EXPEND 1,750               (435)                    132                      1,447               531                  1,447                -                  
108 DISCRETIONARY HOUSING GRANTS 200                  200                   -                  200                   -                  

109 HOUSING RENEWAL AREA 100                  (27)                      73                    15                    73                     -                  

110 ENABLE GRANT 270                  270                  21                    270                   -                  

111 HOMELESSNESS AND HOUSING  -                  530                     530                   -                  530                   -                  

112 HEALTH & WELLBEING VILLAGE  -                  480                     480                   -                  480                   -                  

113 AFFORDABLE HOUSING  -                  1,066                  1,066                -                  1,066                -                  

114 LEASING SCHEME WALES 161                  26                       187                   -                  187                   -                  

TOTAL Housing/Homelessness 2,481               1,640                  132                       -                   -                  4,253               567                  4,253                -                   -                  

115 ICT INFRA SUPPORT 400                  395                     795                  18                    795                   -                  

116 DIGITAL TRANSFORMATION  -                  102                     102                   -                  102                   -                  

117 CCTV SYSTEMS REPLACEMENT  -                  38                       38                     -                  38                     -                  

P
age 85



Budget      24-

25 (Council 

Feb 24)

2023-24 Slippage 

b/f

New Approvals 

and Adjustments

Virement Slippage   to 

Future Years

Revised 

Budget        

2024-25

Total 

Expenditure to 

Date

Projected 

Spend

Over / (Under) 

Spend

Impact on 

BCBC 

Resources

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

118 ICT DATA CENTRE REPLACEMENT  -                  238                     238                  56                    238                   -                  

119 HWB SCHOOLS IT  -                  91                       91                    2                      91                     -                  

TOTAL ICT 400                  864                      -                       -                   -                  1,264               76                    1,264                -                   -                  

TOTAL Chief Executive 2,881               2,504                  132                       -                   -                  5,517               643                  5,517                -                   -                  

Council Wide Capital Budgets 
120 CORPORATE CAPITAL FUND 200                  573                     773                   -                  773                   -                  

121 UNALLOCATED 251                  (29)                      222                   -                  222                   -                  

451                  544                      -                       -                   -                  995                   -                  995                   -                   -                  

GRAND TOTAL 110,537         2,614                17,082               -                 -                (48,151)          82,082           1,822             82,082            -                

P
age 86



CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2024-2034 APPENDIX C

CUMULATIVE

Date 

Approved

Improvement 

Priority Total Cost

BCBC 

Funding

External 

Funding

Council                                                   

Feb 24       

2024-25

2023-24 

Slippage b/f

New 

Approvals / 

Reductions Virement Slippage Revised 2024-25 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 2029-2030 2030-2031 2031-2032 2032-2033 2033-2034 Total 2023 - 2034

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

1 Highways / Other Offsite Works Band B Schools 20/21 IP3 3,400            3,400           -           3,300               100                (3,300)             100                         3,300         3,400                   
2 Heronsbridge Replacement   22/23 IP3 34,171          7,550          26,621      23,200             167                (22,029)           1,338                      32,028       805 34,171                 
3 Mynydd Cynffig Replacement  22/23 IP3 12,317          4,163          8,154        9,294               1                    (9,008)             287                         11,740       290 12,317                 
4 Y G Bro Ogwr Replacement      22/23 IP3 15,001          5,381          9,620        10,198             4                    (9,791)             411                         14,248       342 15,001                 
5 Bridgend West MIM 22/23 IP3 1,995            623             1,372        1,995               (1,995)              -                        1,995         1,995                   
6 Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Llangynwyd 21/22 IP3 97                 97                -           97                  97                           97                        
7 Land Purchase Band B 21/22 IP3 2,028            2,028           -           2,028               (2,028)              -                        2,028 2,028                   

8 Garw Valley South Primary Provision 14/15 IP3 61                 61                -           61                  61                           61                        

9 Pencoed Primary School - Band A 14/15 IP3 51                 51                -           51                  51                           51                        

10 Pencoed School Highways Works 16/17 IP3 56                 56                -           56                  56                           56                        

11 Abercerdin Primary School Hub 21/22 IP3 277               277              -           277                277                         277                      

12 Brynteg Comprehensive School All Weather Pitch 21/22 IP3 38                 38                -           38                  38                           38                        

13 Schools Minor Works RECURRENT IP3 362               187             175           187                175                  362                         362                      

14 Schools Traffic Safety 16/17 IP3 56                 56                -           56                  56                           56                        

15 School Modernisation 14/15 IP3 336               336              -           336                336                         336                      

16 Pencoed Primary School - Classroom Extension 22/23 IP3 862               862              -           798                  64                  862                         862                      

17 Coety Primary School - Extension 22/23 IP3 1,638            1,638           -           1,506               132                1,638                      1,638                   

18 Bryntirion Comprehensive School - New Teaching Block 22/23 IP3 1,660            391             1,269        1,580               80                  1,660                      1,660                   

19 Bryntirion Comprehensive School Highways 23/24 IP3 134               134              -                               134                134                         134                      

20 Education S106 Schemes 16/17 IP3 169                -             169           169                169                         169                      

21 School's Capital Maintenance Grant 19/20 IP3 2,429            2,397          32             2,429             2,429                      2,429                   

22 Welsh Medium Childcare Provision - Bridgend 19/20 IP3 550                -             550           550                  550                         550                      

23 Welsh Medium Childcare Provision - Ogmore 19/20 IP3  -                -              -            -                         -                     

24 Welsh Medium Childcare Provision - Porthcawl 19/20 IP3 550                -             550           550                  550                         550                      

25 Welsh Medium Childcare Provision - Highways Schemes 19/20 IP3  -                -              -           22                  (22)                 -                         -                     

26 Free School Meals 22/23 IP3 1,444            409             1,035        1,035               409                1,444                      1,444                   

27 Community Focused Schools 22/23 IP3 2,328            69               2,259        2,180               148                2,328                      2,328                   

28 ALN Capital Grant 22/23 IP3 1,229            316             913           316                913                  1,229                      1,229                   

29 Y G Bro Ogwr Mobile Classrooms 22/23 IP3 214                -             214           214                214                         214                      

30 Porthcawl Welsh Medium Seedling School 22/23 IP3 370               370             350                  20                  370                         370                      

31 Flying Start Extension - Nantymoel Primary 23/24 IP3 563               563           547                30                    (14)                563                         563                      
32 Flying Start Highways 24/25 IP3 36                 22               14             36                 36                           36                        

84,422          30,912        53,510      58,564             6,115             1,118                -               (48,151)           17,646                    65,339       1,437         -           -           -           -           -           -           -          84,422                 

33 Bryn Y Cae 19/20 IP2 40                 40               40                  40                           40                        

34 Ty Cwm Ogwr Care Home 21/22 IP3 23                 23               23                  23                           23                        

35 Wellbeing Minor Works RECURRENT IP2 212               212             212                212                         212                      

36 Bakers Way 17/18 IP2 10                 10                -           10                  10                           10                        

37 Children's Residential Accommodation Hub 18/19 IP2 74                 74                -           74                  74                           74                        

38 Telecare Transformation Project 22/23 IP2  -                -              -           395                  (395)                  -                         -                     

39 Breakaway 23/24 IP2 98                  -             98             98                  98                           98                        

 -                        

40 Community Centres 20/21 NONPTY 167               167             167                167                         167                      

41 Bryngarw House 20/21 NONPTY 8                   8                 8                    8                             8                          

42 Ysgol Bryn Castell Hard-Court 22/23 IP3 99                  -             99             99                  99                           99                        
43 Ogmore Valley Life Centre 23/24 108               11               97             108                  108                         108                      

839               545             294           503                  731                (395)                  -                -                 839                          -             -           -           -           -           -           -           -           -          839                      

44 Community Children's Play Areas 20/21 IP2 2,851            2,851           -           2,800 51                  2,851                      2,851                   

45 Parks/Pavilions/Community Centres CAT 14/15 IP3 936               716             220           400                  369                167 936                         936                      

46 Aber Playing Fields 19/20 NONPTY 11                 11                -           11                  11                           11                        

47 Cardiff Capital Region City Deal 17/18 IP1 7,691            7,691           -           1,190               1,190                      1,244         940                        1,039        1,648        1,630        7,691                   

48 Coychurch Crem Works RECURRENT NONPTY 75                  -             75             75                    75                           75                        

49 Remedial Measures - Car Parks 17/18 IP3 135               135              -           135                135                         135                      

50 Civil Parking Enforcement 17/18 IP3 20                 20                -           20                  20                           20                        

51 Road Signs 20mph Default Speed 22/23 IP2 328                -             328           328                  328                         328                      

52 Road Safety 14/15 IP1 6                   6                  -           6                    6                             6                          

53 Pencoed Tech Park Act Travel 20/21 IP1  -                -              -           

54 Highways Structural Works RECURRENT IP3 3,554            3,554           -           521                  (27)                 494                         340            340           340           340           340           340           340           340           340           3,554                   

55 Carriageway Capital Works RECURRENT IP3 2,500            2,500           -           250                  250                         250            250           250           250           250           250           250           250           250           2,500                   

56 Carriageway & Footway Renewal 1 IP3  -                -              -            -                         -                     

57 Road Safety Improvements - Heol Mostyn 19/20 IP1 168               168              -           168                168                         168                      

58 Prow Capital Improvement Programme 15/16 IP3 65                  -             65             65                    65                           65                        

59 Highways Refurbishment 19/20 IP3 1,000            1,000           -           1,000               1,000                                   1,000                   

60 Replacement of Street Lighting Columns/ River Bridge Protection Measures RECURRENT IP3 4,000            4,000           -           400                  400                         400            400           400           400           400           400           400           400           400           4,000                   

61 River Bridge Protection Measures 16/17 IP1 22                 22                -           22                  22                           22                        

62 Communities Minor Works RECURRENT IP3 562               562              -           562                562                         562                      

63 Ultra Low Emissions Vehicle Transformation Fund 2 22/23 IP1 23                  -             23             23                  23                           23                        

64 Fleet Transition Ultra Low Emmissions Vehicles 21/22 IP1 155                -             155           155                155                         155                      

65 Net Zero Carbon Fleet 21/22 NONPTY 147               147              -           147                147                         147                      

66 Porthcawl Metro-Link (CCR) 21/22 IP1 948               948              -           948                948                         948                      

67 Penprysg Road Bridge - LTF/CCR 19/20 IP1 13                 13                -           13                  13                           13                        

68 Residents Parking Bridgend Town Centre 14/15 IP1 109               109              -                               109                109                                                                              109                      

69 Fleet Vehicles 14/15 IP3 1,881            1,881           -           2,300               (598)               33                    146               1,881                                                                           1,881                   

70 AHP Waste 19/20 IP3 4                   4                  -           4                    4                             4                          

71 Extension to Cornelly Cemetery 18/19 NONPTY 190               190              -                               190                190                                                                 190                      

72 Extension to Porthcawl Cemetery 18/19 NONPTY 164               164              -           164                164                         164                      

73 S106 Highways Small Schemes 14/15 IP3 39                  -             39                                 39                  39                                                                                39                        

Street Scene

FUTURE YEARSTotal 2024-2034 2024-25

Education & Family Support

Total Education and Family Support

Social Services and Well-being

Adult Social Care

Culture

Total Social Services and Well-being

Communities

P
age 87



CUMULATIVE

Date 

Approved

Improvement 

Priority Total Cost

BCBC 

Funding

External 

Funding

Council                                                   

Feb 24       

2024-25

2023-24 

Slippage b/f

New 

Approvals / 

Reductions Virement Slippage Revised 2024-25 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 2029-2030 2030-2031 2031-2032 2032-2033 2033-2034 Total 2023 - 2034

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

FUTURE YEARSTotal 2024-2034 2024-25

Education & Family Support74 Unadopted Roads 14/15 IP2 380               380              -           380                  380                         380                      

75 Fire Suppression System Tondu Waste Depot 21/22 NONPTY 17                 17                -           17                  17                           17                        

76 Puffin Crossing Kenfig Hill 22/23 IP3 6                   6                  -           6                    6                             6                          

77 Ynysawdre to Bryncethin ATR 23/24 IP2  -                -            -                         -                     

78 Coal Tip Safety 23/24 NONPTY 457               457           190                  200                67                    457                         457                      

79 Traffic Signal Replacement (Coity Castle Pub Gyratory) 23/24 290               290             290                290                         290                      

 -                     

80 Special Regeneration Funding 17/18 IP1 436               436              -           436                436                         436                      

81 Cosy Corner (PRIF)    21/22 IP1  -                -              -            -                         -                     

82 Porthcawl Regeneration 20/21 IP1 2,616            2,616           -           2,500               116                2,616                      2,616                   

83 Economic Stimulus Grant 19/20 IP1 417               417              -           417                417                         417                      

84 Coastal Risk Management Programme 20/21 IP1 210               210              -           210                210                         210                      

85 Ewenny Road Industrial Estate 21/22 IP1 3,493             -             3,493        3,493               3,493                      3,493                   

86 CESP/Arbed Phase 1 21/22 NONPTY 2,233            855             1,378        2,791               (987)               1,804                      429            2,233                   

87 Bridgend Heat Scheme 16/17 IP1 3,265            2,276          989           3,265               3,265                                                                           3,265                   

88 Maesteg Town Hall Cultural Hub 17/18 IP1 1,547            1,297          250           1,174               373                250                  (250)              1,547                      1,547                   

89 Town & Community Council Fund RECURRENT IP3 669               669              -           50                    169                219                         50              50             50             50             50             50             50             50             50             669                      

90 Porthcawl Townscape Heritage Initiative 14/15 IP1 124               124              -                               124                124                                                                              124                      

91 Commercial Property Enhancement Fund  21/22 IP1 134               134             134                134                         134                      

92 Urban Centre Property Enhancement 19/20 IP1 1,075            1,075        614                  461                1,075                      1,075                   

93 2030 Decarbonisation RECURRENT IP3 2,825            2,825 400                  315                (290)              425                         400            400           400           400           400           400           2,825                   
94 Shared Prosperity Fund 22/23 IP1 5,221            5,221 4,614               607                5,221                      5,221                   
95 Local Places for Nature 23/24 IP1 110               110 110                  110                         110                      
96 Porthcawl Grand Pavilion 22/23 NONPTY 19,193          2,000          17,193      10,631             (268)               10,363                    8,830         19,193                 
97 Low Carbon Heat 24/25 1,089            290             799           799 290 1,089                      1,089                   

98 Capital Asset Management Fund 18/19 IP3 773               773              -           500                  273                773                         773                      

99 Raven's Court 18/19 IP3 446               446             446                446                         446                      

100 DDA Works 14/15 NONPTY 206               206              -           206                206                         206                      

101 Minor Works Asset Management RECURRENT IP3 12,202          12,202         -           1,130               902                2,032                      1,130         1,130        1,130        1,130        1,130        1,130        1,130        1,130        1,130        12,202                 

102 Fire Precautions 14/15 NONPTY 77                 77                -           77                  77                           77                        

103 Bryncethin Depot Facilities 14/15 IP3 517               517              -           400                  77                  40                    517                         517                      

104 Waterton Upgrade 18/19 IP3 7,074            7,074           -           6,970               104               7,074                      7,074                   

105 Evergreen Hall 19/20 IP3 29                 29                -           29                  29                           29                        

106 Investing in Communities 19/20 IP3 47                 47                -           47                  47                           47                        

94,775          62,905        31,870      48,138             7,188             1,759                -                -                 57,085                    13,073       3,510        2,570        3,609        4,218        4,200        2,170        2,170        2,170        94,775                 

107 Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG) RECURRENT IP2 17,197          17,065        132           1,750               (435)               132                  1,447                      1,750         1,750        1,750        1,750        1,750        1,750        1,750        1,750        1,750        17,197                 

108 Discretionary Housing Grants RECURRENT IP2 2,000            2,000          200                  200                         200            200           200           200           200           200           200           200           200           2,000                   

109 Housing Renewal / Empty Properties RECURRENT IP1 973               973              -           100                  (27)                 73                           100            100           100           100           100           100           100           100           100           973                      

110 Enable Grant 16/17 IP2 270                -             270           270                  270                                                                              270                      

111 Homelessness and Housing 22/23 IP2 530               530           530                530                         530                      

112 Health and Wellbeing Village 21/22 IP1 480                -             480           480                480                         480                      

113 Affordable Housing 23/24 IP1 1,066            530             536           1,066             1,066                      1,066                   

114 Leasing Scheme Wales 23/24 1,402             -             1,402        161                  26                  187                         305            370           108           108           108           108           108           1,402                   

115 Investment in ICT RECURRENT IP3 4,395            4,395           -           400                  395                795                         400            400           400           400           400           400           400           400           400           4,395                   

116 Digital Transformation 22/23 IP3 102               102              -                               102                102                                                                              102                      

117 Replacement CCTV 21/22 IP3 38                 38                -           38                  38                           38                        

118 ICT Datacentre Replacement 22/23 IP3 238               238             238                238                         238                      

119 HWB Schools IT 21/22 IP3 91                 91                -           91                  91                           91                        

28,782          25,432        3,350        2,881               2,504             132                   -                -                 5,517                      2,755         2,820        2,558        2,558        2,558        2,558        2,558        2,450        2,450        28,782                 

120 Corporate Capital Fund RECURRENT NONPTY 2,573            2,573          200                  573                773                         200            200           200           200           200           200           200           200           200           2,573                   

121 Unallocated RECURRENT NONPTY 12,663          12,663         -           251                  (29)                 222                                       1,203        1,434        1,434        1,434        1,434        1,834        1,834        1,834        12,663                 

15,236          15,236         -           451                  544                 -                   -                -                 995                         200            1,403        1,634        1,634        1,634        1,634        2,034        2,034        2,034        15,236                 

224,054        135,030      89,024      110,537           17,082           2,614                -               (48,151)           82,082                    81,367       9,170        6,762        7,801        8,410        8,392        6,762        6,654        6,654        224,054               

28,568          28,568         -           4,043               4,043                      2,725         2,725        2,725        2,725        2,725        2,725        2,725        2,725        2,725        28,568                 

39,298          39,298         -           3,937               3,937                      3,929         3,929        3,929        3,929        3,929        3,929        3,929        3,929        3,929        39,298                 

2,951            2,951           -           1,883               222                (1,883)             222                         2,729                                                2,951                   

20,845          20,845         -           11,943             7,797             (1,541)             18,199                    2,125         521                                     20,845                 

35,087          35,087         -           22,353             5,014             (339)                 (11,423)           15,605                    14,225       940                        1,039        1,648        1,630        35,087                 

577               577              -           110                  565                (98)                   577                                                                              577                      

3,644            3,644           -           3,816               (247)               75                    3,644                                                                           3,644                   

3,900            3,900           -           3,900               (2,300)             1,600                      2,300                                                3,900                   
160               160                                 120                40                    160                                                                              160                      

135,030        135,030       -           51,985             13,471           (322)                  -               (17,147)           47,987                    28,033 8,115 6,654 7,693 8,302 8,284 6,654 6,654 6,654 135,030               

15,852           -             15,852      11,334             991                2,312               14,637                    305            370           108           108           108           108           108           15,852                 

45,718           -             45,718      30,383             604                (30,987)            -                        45,033       685                                     45,718                 

270                -             270           270                  270                                                                              270                      

480                -             480                               480                                    480                                                                              480                      

1,314             -             1,314        1,100               214                1,314                                                                           1,314                   

18,115           -             18,115      10,490             (322)               10,168                    7,947                                                18,115                 

230                -             230                               98                  132                  230                                                                                           230                      

2,744             -             2,744        1,318               1,394             (17)                  2,695                      49                                                     2,744                   

3,493             -             3,493        3,493               3,493                      3,493                   

ICT

Total Chief Executive's

Council Wide Capital Budgets

Housing / Homelessness

Total Council Wide Capital budgets

Regeneration & Development

Corporate Landlord  

Total Communities

Chief Executive's

S106

Cardiff Capital Region (CCR)

WG - 21st Century Schools

WG - Enable Grant

WG - Integrated Care Fund (ICF)

WG - Welsh Medium Capital Grant

Westminster

SALIX Interest Free Loan - WG

Sub-Total General Capital Funding

External Funding Approvals

WG - Other

Revenue Contribution

Prudential Borrowing (Directorate Funded)
Prudential Borrowing (Corporately Funded)

General Capital Funding - Supported Borrowing

Capital Receipts - Schools

Capital Receipts - General

Earmarked Reserves

Total  Expenditure

Expected Capital Resources

General Capital Funding

General Capital Funding - General Capital Grant

Cwm Taf Morgannwg (HCF)

P
age 88



CUMULATIVE

Date 

Approved

Improvement 

Priority Total Cost

BCBC 

Funding

External 

Funding

Council                                                   

Feb 24       

2024-25

2023-24 

Slippage b/f

New 

Approvals / 

Reductions Virement Slippage Revised 2024-25 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 2029-2030 2030-2031 2031-2032 2032-2033 2033-2034 Total 2023 - 2034

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

FUTURE YEARSTotal 2024-2034 2024-25

Education & Family Support  -                -              -                                -                                                                              -                     

250                -             250                               250                  250                                                                              250                      

363               363           97                    99                  167                  363                         363                      

195                -             195           67                    53                  75                    195                                                                              195                      

89,024           -             89,024      58,552             3,611             2,936                -               (31,004)           34,095                    53,334       1,055        108           108           108           108           108            -           -          89,024                 

224,054        135,030      89,024      110,537           17,082           2,614                -               (48,151)           82,082                    81,367       9,170        6,762        7,801        8,410        8,392        6,762        6,654        6,654        224,054               

 -                -              -            -                   -                 -                   -                -                  -                         -             -           -           -           -           -           -           -           -           -                     

Other

Sub-Total External Funding Approvals

Total Funding Available

Funding Shortfall/(Surplus)

Transport Grant

Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF)

Sport Wales

P
age 89



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX D 

 

PRUDENTIAL AND OTHER INDICATORS 2023-24 and 2024-25  
 
The Prudential Indicators are required to be set and approved by Council in accordance with 
CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities.  
 
Table 1 shows the 2023-24 actual capital expenditure, the capital programme approved by 
Council on 28 February 2024 and the projected capital expenditure for the current financial 
year which has incorporated slippage of schemes from 2023-24 together with any new grants 
and contributions or changes in the profile of funding for 2024-25.  

 
Table 1: Prudential Indicator: Estimates of Capital Expenditure  

 

 2023-24 

 

Actual 

 

£m 

2024-25 

Estimate 

(Council  

 Feb 24) 

£m 

2024-25 

 

Projection 

 

£m 

Council Fund services 31.813 110.537 82.082 

Right of Use Assets 0.00 3.149 3.149 

TOTAL 31.813 113.686 85.231 

 
All capital expenditure must be financed, either from external sources (government grants and 
other contributions), the Council’s own resources (revenue, reserves and capital receipts) or 
debt (the ‘net financing requirement’ - borrowing, leasing and Private Finance Initiative). The 
planned financing of the expenditure has been projected as follows: 
Table 2: Capital financing 

 

 2023-24 

 

Actual 

 

£m 

2024-25 

Estimate 

(Council  

Feb 24) 

£m 

2024-25 

 

Projection 

 

£m 

External sources 18.677 62.595 38.138 

Own resources 7.420 36.289 34.603 

Net Financing 

Requirement  

5.716 14.802 9.341 

TOTAL 31.813 113.686 82.082 

 

The net financing requirement is only a temporary source of finance, since loans and leases 
must be repaid, and this is therefore replaced over time by other financing, usually from 
revenue which is known as the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP). As well as MRP, the 
Council makes additional voluntary revenue contributions to pay off Prudential or Unsupported 
Borrowing. The total of these are shown in Table 3 below: 
 

 

Page 91



 

Table 3: Replacement of debt finance  

 

 2023-24 

 

Actual 

 

£m 

2024-25 

Estimate 

(Council  

Feb 24) 

£m 

2024-25 

 

Projection 

 

£m 

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 3.298 3.385 3.385 

Additional Voluntary Revenue Provision (VRP) 2.273 2.788 2.295 

Total MRP & VRP 5.571 6.173 5.680 

Other MRP on Long term Liabilities 0.929 1.148 1.148 

Total Own Resources 6.500 7.321 6.828 

 

The Council’s cumulative outstanding amount of debt finance is measured by the Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR). This increases with new debt-financed capital expenditure and 
reduces by the MRP amount within the year. Based on the above figures for expenditure and 
financing, the Council’s actual CFR is as follows based on the movement on capital 
expenditure during the year: 

Table 4: Prudential Indicator: Estimates of Capital Financing Requirement 

 

 2023-24 

Actual 

£m 

2024-25 

Estimate – 

Capital 

Strategy 

£m 

2024-25 

Projection 

£m 

Capital Financing Requirement    

Opening CFR excluding PFI & other 

liabilities 

 

162.600 

 

170.246 

 

162.745 

Opening PFI CFR 13.903 12.974 12.974 

Total opening CFR 176.503 183.220 175.719 

Movement in CFR excluding PFI & 

other liabilities 

 

0.145 

 

5.333 

 

3.513 

Movement in PFI and other long term 

leases CFR 

(0.929) 2.148 2.148 

Total movement in CFR (0.784) 7.481 5.661 

Closing CFR 175.719 190.701 181.380 

Movement in CFR represented by:    

Net financing need for year (Table 2 

above) 

 

5.716 

 

14.802 

 

12.490 

Minimum and voluntary revenue 

provisions 

 

(5.571) 

 

(6.173) 

 

(5.681) 

MRP on PFI and other long term 

leases (Table 3) 

 

(0.929) 

 

(1.148) 

 

(1.148) 

Total movement (0.784) 7.481 5.661 

 

 

Page 92



The capital borrowing need (Capital Financing Requirement) has not been fully funded with 
loan debt as cash supporting the Council’s reserves, balances and cash flow has been used 
as a temporary measure. This is known as Internal Borrowing. Projected levels of the Council’s 
total outstanding debt, which comprises of borrowing, PFI and Other Long Term Liabilities, are 
shown below compared with the Capital Financing Requirement:  
 
 
Table 5: Prudential Indicator: Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement 

 

 2023-24 

 

Actual 

 

£m 

2024-25 

Estimate 

(Council  

Feb 24) 

£m 

2024-25 

 

Projection 

 

£m 

Debt (incl. PFI & leases) 117.676 118.049 118.049 

Capital Financing 

Requirement 

175.719 190.701 178.231 

 
Statutory guidance is that debt should remain below the capital financing requirement, except 
in the short-term. As can be seen, the Council expects to comply with this in the medium term. 
 
The Council is legally obliged to set an affordable borrowing limit (also termed the authorised 
limit for external debt) each year. In line with statutory guidance, a lower “operational 
boundary” is also set as a warning level should debt approach the limit. 

Table 6: Prudential Indicators: Authorised limit and operational boundary for external debt in £m 

 

 2023-24 

 

Actual 

 

£m 

2024-25 

Estimate 

(Council  

Feb 24) 

£m 

2024-25 

 

Projection 

 

£m 

Authorised limit – 

borrowing 

Authorised limit – other 

long term liabilities 

170.000 

30.000 

170.000 

25.000 

170.000 

25.000 

Authorised Limit Total 200.00 195.000 195.000 

Operational boundary – 

borrowing 

Operational boundary – 

other long term liabilities 

130.000 

 

25.000 

120.000 

 

20.000 

120.000 

 

20.000 

Operational Boundary 

Limit Total 

155.000 140.000 140.000 

    

Total Borrowing and 

Long Term Liabilities 

117.676 118.049 118.049 

 
 

Page 93



Although capital expenditure is not charged directly to the revenue budget, interest payable 
on loans and MRP are charged to revenue, offset by any investment income receivable. The 
net annual charge is known as financing costs; this is compared to the net revenue stream i.e. 
the amount funded from Council Tax, business rates and general government grants 

Table 7: Prudential Indicator: Proportion of financing costs to net revenue stream 

 2023-24 

 

Actual 

 

£m 

2024-25 

Estimate 

(Council  

Feb 24) 

£m 

2024-25 

 

Projection 

 

£m 

Capital Financing Central 
 

5.658 7.519 7.519 

Other Financing costs  4.220 4.735 4.735 

TOTAL FINANCING COSTS 
 

9.878 12.255 12.255 

Proportion of net revenue stream 2.89% 3.58% 3.58% 

 

This shows that in 2024-25, it was forecast that 3.58% of the Council’s net revenue income 
will be spent on paying back the costs of capital expenditure. The current projection is 
anticipating it will be 3.58%. 

The net revenue stream is calculated as the income from Welsh Government Revenue 
Settlement Grant plus Council Tax and NNDR, less Police and Community Council precepts. 

The table below shows the Prudential Indicator of estimates of net income from commercial 
and service investments to net revenue stream. 

Table 8: Prudential Indicator: Net Income from Commercial and Service Investments to Net Revenue 
Stream 

  2023-24 
Actual 

£m 

2024-25 
Estimate 

£m 

2024-25 
Projection 

£m 

Net Revenue Budget  
     

343.841  
     

360.671       363.436  

Income from Commercial Investments 
        

0.459  
        

0.459          0.459  

        

% Ratio 0.13% 0.13% 0.13% 

 

The income receivable from the commercial property portfolio is not deemed to be a financial 
resilience risk in terms of being ‘disproportionate’ to the Council’s overall income.  

Page 94



 

 
Meeting of:  

 
COUNCIL 

 
 

Date of Meeting:  
 

24 JULY 2024 
 

 
Report Title:  

 
TREASURY MANAGEMENT OUTTURN REPORT 2023-24 

 
 

Report Owner / 
Corporate Director:  

 

 
CHIEF OFFICER – FINANCE, HOUSING AND CHANGE 

Responsible 
Officer:  

 
NIGEL SMITH, GROUP MANAGER – CHIEF ACCOUNTANT 
 

Policy Framework 
and Procedure 
Rules:  

Paragraph 22.5 of the Financial Procedure Rules requires 
the Chief Finance Officer to prepare an annual report to 
Council summarising borrowing and investment activity 
and indicating compliance with any statutory or Council 
approved guidelines. 

Executive 
Summary:  
 

The report outlines the Treasury Management activity for 
the year 1 April 2023 – 31 March 2024. 
 
As at 31 March 2024 the Council had £99.61 million of long 
term debt, £5 million of short term borrowing, £12.97 million 
of other long term liabilities and £50 million of investments. 
The overall net debt position was £67.58 million.   
 
The average interest rate for debt was 4.78% (including £5 
million short term borrowing but excluding Salix borrowing 
which is interest free).  For investments during the year, it 
was 4.50%. 
 
The Council has a manageable maturity structure of 
borrowing, with its current debt repayable at various points 
over the next 30 years, the first repayment being due in 
March 2025. 
 
The Council is required to set and report against Treasury 
Management Indicators, details of which are included in 
Appendix A. These show that the Council operated within 
the approved limits throughout the year. 

 
The Council has complied with the Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountancy’s Treasury Management 
Code and Welsh Government Investment Guidance. 

 
1. Purpose of Report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to  

 

Page 95

Agenda Item 9



 

 comply with the requirement of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy’s (CIPFA’s) Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code 
of Practice’ (the TM Code) to report an overview of treasury activities for the 
preceding financial year. 

 
 report the actual Treasury Management Indicators for 2023-24. 

2. Background  
 
2.1 Treasury Management is the management of the Council’s cash flows, borrowing and 

investments, and the associated risks. The Council is exposed to financial risks 
including the loss of invested funds and the revenue effect of changing interest rates. 
The successful identification, monitoring and control of financial risk are therefore 
central to the Council’s prudent financial management. 

 
2.2 Treasury risk management at the Council is conducted within the framework of the 

Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Treasury Management in 
the Public Services: Code of Practice 2021 edition (the TM Code), which requires the 
Council to approve a Treasury Management Strategy before the start of each 
financial year and, as a minimum, a semi-annual and annual treasury outturn report. 
The TM Code also requires the Council to set a number of Treasury Management 
Indicators, which are forward looking parameters, and enable the Council to measure 
and manage its exposure to treasury management risks, and these are included in 
the report. Welsh Government (WG) guidance issued in November 2019 on Local 
Authority Investments requires the Council to approve an Investment Strategy before 
the start of each financial year. This report fulfils the Council’s legal obligation under 
the Local Government Act 2003 to have regard to both the TM Code and the Welsh 
Government Guidance.  
 

2.3 In 2021 CIPFA published an updated version of the Prudential Code for Capital 
Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential Code). The Prudential Code includes a 
requirement for Local Authorities to provide a Capital Strategy, which is a summary 
document approved by full Council covering capital expenditure and financing, 
treasury management and non-treasury investments. The definition of investments in 
the revised Prudential Code covers all the financial assets of the Council as well as 
other non-financial assets which the authority holds primarily for financial return. The 
Council’s Capital Strategy 2023-24 complied with CIPFA’s requirement and included 
the Prudential Indicators along with the details regarding the Council’s non-treasury 
investments. The Capital Strategy and Treasury Management Strategy should be 
read in conjunction with each other as they are interlinked, as borrowing and 
investments are directly impacted upon by capital plans, and both were approved 
together by Council on 1 March 2023.  
 

 
2.4 The Council’s treasury management advisors are Arlingclose. The current services 

provided to the Council include:  
  

 advice and guidance on relevant policies, strategies and reports  
 advice on investment decisions  
 notification of credit ratings and changes  
 other information on credit quality  
 advice on debt management decisions  

Page 96



 

 accounting advice  
 reports on treasury performance  
 forecasts of interest rates  
 training courses  

 

3. Current situation / proposal  
 
3.1 External Context – Economic Background  
 
3.1.1 At the commencement of the 2023-24 financial year the rate of UK inflation (CPI) was 

at 8.7%. Over the year there was a steady decline in the figure, standing still between 
months on a few occasions with a slight upturn of 0.1% between November 2023 and 
December 2023, finally ending the year at 3.2%. This still, however, exceeded the 
Bank of England’s target of 2%. 

 
3.1.2 At the start of the financial year the Bank Rate was 4.25%. The Bank of England’s 

Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) then increased Bank Rate to 5.25% in August 
2023 with a 3-way split in the Committee’s voting as the UK economy appeared 
resilient in the face of the dual headwinds of higher inflation and interest rates. Bank 
Rate was however maintained at 5.25% through to March 2024. The vote at the 
March 2024 MPC meeting was 8-1 in favour of maintaining rates at this level, with 
the single dissenter preferring to cut rates immediately by 0.25%. Although financial 
markets shifted their interest rate expectations downwards with expectations of a cut 
in June, the MPC’s focus remained on assessing how long interest rates would need 
to be restrictive in order to control inflation over the medium term. 

 
3.1.3 In response to an improving outlook for credit markets, in January 2024 Arlingclose 

moved away from its previous temporary stance of a 35-day maximum duration for 
bank investments and increased its advised recommended maximum unsecured 
duration limit on all banks on its counterparty list to 100 days. 

 
3.2 Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) Lending Facility Advice, Revised CIPFA 

Codes 
 
3.2.1 The Council continues to undertake its duties in line with the current guidance for the 

PWLB lending facility which was significantly revised by HM Treasury in August 2021.  
Authorities that are purchasing or intending to purchase investment assets primarily 
for yield, or financial return, will not be able to access funding from the PWLB except 
to refinance existing loans or externalise internal borrowing. Acceptable use of PWLB 
borrowing includes service delivery, housing, regeneration, preventative action, 
refinancing and treasury management.  
 

3.2.2 The Council’s treasury management activities are undertaken in line with CIPFA’s 
Prudential Code for Capital Finance and CIPFA’s Treasury Management Code.  To 
comply with the Prudential Code authorities must not borrow to invest primarily for 
financial return. The Prudential Code also states it is not prudent for local authorities 
to make investment or spending decisions that will increase the Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR) unless directly and primarily related to the functions of the 
authority. Existing commercial investments are not required to be sold, however, 
authorities with existing commercial investments who expect to need to borrow 
should review the options for exiting these investments.  

Page 97



 

 
3.3 Treasury Management Outturn 2023-24 
 
3.3.1 The Council has complied with its legislative and regulatory requirements during 

2023-24. The Treasury Management Strategy 2023-24 was approved by Council on 
1 March 2023 with the half year report presented to Council on 18 October 2023. 
Quarterly reports were also presented to Cabinet and the Governance and Audit 
Committee for scrutiny during 2023-24.   

 
3.3.2 A summary of the treasury management activities is shown in the Treasury 

Management Outturn report to 31 March 2024 at Appendix A. The Council’s external 
debt and investment position at 31 March 2024 is shown in Table 1 below, and more 
detail is provided in Appendix A within Section 3: External Debt and Investment 
Position and Section 4: Borrowing and Section 5 Treasury Investments. As with the 
previous year, no long-term borrowing has been taken out in 2023-24 and no debt 
rescheduling has been undertaken as there has been no opportunity to make 
significant savings. However, should the opportunity arise to reschedule any loans at 
a preferential rate, this would be done. 
 
Generally, the Council has experienced favourable cash flows which have continued 
to provide surplus funds for investment and the balance on investments held at 31 
March 2024 was £50 million, with an average interest rate of 5.02%. During the end 
of the year the Council had to borrow short term for cashflow purposes. The total 
balance of investments has decreased compared to those at 31 March 2023, when 
the balance held was £74.50 million, at an average interest rate of 2.55%.  
 
Table 1: Council’s external debt and investment position as of 31 March 2024 

 
 
 

 
* Excluding Salix loans which are interest free 
** (PFI) arrangement for the provision of a Secondary School in Maesteg 10 years remaining term 

Investments for Treasury Purposes 

Principal                 
as at 

31/03/2023 

Principal                 
as at 

31/3/2024 

Average 
Rate             

31/3/2024 
£m £m % 

External Long Term Borrowing      
Public Works Loan Board 77.62 77.62 4.70 
Lender's Option Borrower's Option 19.25 19.25 4.65 
Salix Loans (interest Free) 3.06 2.74 NIL 
Short Term Borrowing  NIL 5.00 6.6 
Total External Long Term Borrowing 99.93 104.61 4.78* 
Other Long Term Liabilities     
Private Finance Initiative** 13.90 12.97    
Other Long Term Liabilities 0.23 -   
Total Other Long Term Liabilities 14.13 12.97   
Total Gross Debt 114.06 117.58   
Investments for treasury management 
purposes 

    

Debt Management Office 7.50   NIL NIL 
Local Authorities 53.00   44.00 5.22 
Money Market Funds (instant access) NIL  0.00 NIL 
Banks 14.00 6.00 3.57 
Total Treasury Investments 74.50 50.00 5.02 
Net Debt 39.56 67.58   

Page 98



 

 

3.3.3 The £19.25 million in Table 1 above relates to Lender’s Option Borrower’s Option 
(LOBO) loans which have a maturity date of 2054 though these may be rescheduled 
in advance of this maturity date. The LOBO rate and term may vary in the future 
depending on the prevailing rates at one of the bi-annual trigger points (these being 
July and January) and, therefore, the Council being given the option to accept the 
increase or repay the loan without incurring a penalty. Whilst interest rates have 
increased significantly since the start of 2022, they have more recently plateaued at 
5.25% and expectations are of a gradual reduction during the latter part of 
2024.Current expectations are that the lender is unlikely to exercise this option in the 
near future. 

 
3.3.4 The Total Other Long Term Liabilities figure of £12.97 million at 31 March 2024 is the 

Council’s Private Finance Initiative (PFI) arrangement for the provision of a 
Secondary School in Maesteg. At 31 March 2024 there were no Other Long-Term 
Liabilities. 

 
3.3.5 Both the CIPFA Code and Welsh Government Guidance require the Council to invest 

its funds prudently and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its investments 
before seeking the highest rate of return, or yield. The Council’s objective when 
investing money is to strike an appropriate balance between risk and return. 
Investment decisions are made by reference to the lowest published long-term credit 
rating from Fitch, Moody’s or Standard and Poor’s to ensure that this lies within the 
Councils’ agreed minimum credit rating.  
 

3.3.6 The Council defines high credit quality as organisations and securities having a credit 
rating of A- (A3 for Moody’s) or higher and the Council does not invest in any 
organisation below this level. Schedule A shows the equivalence table for credit 
ratings for Fitch, Moody’s, and Standard and Poor’s and explains the different 
investment grades. 

 
3.3.7 There are no long-term investments (original duration of 12 months or more) 

outstanding as at 31 March 2024. All investments at 31 March 2024 are short term 
deposits including instant access and notice accounts. 

 
3.3.8 The Treasury Management Code requires the Council to set and report on a number 

of Treasury Management Indicators. The indicators either summarise the expected 
activity or introduce limits upon the activity. Details of the estimates for 2023-24 set 
out in the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy compared to the actual at 31 
March 2024 are shown in the Appendix and these show that the Council operated 
within the approved limits throughout the year. 
 
 

4. Equality implications (including Socio-economic Duty and Welsh Language) 
 
4.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic Duty 

and the impact on the use of the Welsh Language have been considered in the 
preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales the Council must consider the 
impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies, 
strategies, services and functions. This is an information report, therefore it is not 
necessary to carry out an Equality Impact assessment in the production of this report. 
It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable equality impacts as a 
result of this report.  

Page 99



 

 
 
5. Well-being of Future Generations implications and connection to Corporate 

Well-being Objectives 
 
5.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of this 

report. It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable impacts upon 
the achievement of well-being goals/objectives because of this report. 

 
6. Climate Change Implications  
 
6.1 The Climate Change implications were considered in the preparation of this report. It 

is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable impacts upon the 
environment because of this report.   
 

7. Safeguarding and Corporate Parent Implications 
 
7.1 The Safeguarding and Corporate Parenting implications were considered in the 

preparation of this report. It is considered that there will be no significant or 
unacceptable impacts upon Safeguarding and Corporate parenting because of this 
report. 

 
8.  Financial Implications  
 
8.1 The financial implications are reflected within the report and Appendix A. 
 
9. Recommendations 

 
9.1 It is recommended that Council: 
 

 Note the treasury management activities for the year 1 April 2023 to 31 March 
2024 

 Note the Treasury Management Indicators for the period ending 31 March 
2024 against those approved in the Treasury Management Strategy 2023-24. 

 
Background documents 
 
None 

Page 100



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Treasury Management  
Outturn Report to 31 March 2024 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 

Appendix A

Page 101



TREASURY MANAGEMENT OUTTURN REPORT 31 MARCH 2024 2023-2024 

 

 

 

P a g e  2 | 17 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

 
Treasury management activities are the ‘management of the organisation’s borrowing, 
investments and cash flows, including its banking, money market and capital market 
transactions, the effective control of the risks associated with those activities, and the 
pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.’ (Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Treasury Management in the Public 
Services: Code of Practice (2021) (CIPFA TM Code). 
 
The definition of ‘Investments’ includes: 
 

• Treasury Management investments (held for the prudent management of 
financial affairs), and 

• non-Treasury Investments, undertaken as part of a Capital Strategy either in 
the course of provision of services; or made for commercial reasons purely to 
make a financial gain. These are managed outside of normal treasury 
management activity. 

 
The Council carries out its treasury management function in accordance with the 
CIPFA TM Code and the legal obligation under the Local Government Act 2003 to have 
regard to both the CIPFA TM Code and Welsh Government Guidance. 
 
The Council has an integrated Treasury Management Strategy where borrowing and 
investments are managed in accordance with best professional practice, which is 
assessed either from internal expertise or consultation with our external advisers. The 
Council will look to borrow money if needed to either meet short term cash flow needs 
or to fund capital schemes approved within the capital programme. Therefore, any 
actual loans taken are not generally associated with particular items of expenditure or 
assets.  
 
The Council delegates responsibility for the implementation and regular monitoring of 
its treasury management policies and practices to Cabinet, and for the execution and 
administration of treasury management decisions to the Section 151 Officer. The 
Governance and Audit Committee are responsible for ensuring effective scrutiny of 
the Treasury Management Strategy and policies and regular reports will be presented 
to the Committee for their consideration. 
 

2.0 ECONOMIC CONTEXT   

At the start of the 2023-24 financial year the rate of UK inflation (CPI) was at 8.7%. 
Over the year there was a steady decline in the figure, standing still between months 
on a few occasions with a slight upturn of 0.1% between November 2023 and 
December 2023, finally ending the year at 3.2%. This was still above the Bank of 
England’s 2% target. The latest core measure of CPI i.e. excluding food and energy, 
rose by 4.7% in the 12 months to March 2024. 

The UK economy entered a technical recession in the second half of 2023, as growth 
rates of -0.1% and -0.3% respectively were recorded for July 2023 to Sept 2023 and 
October 2023 to December 2023. Over the 2023 calendar year GDP growth only 

Page 102



TREASURY MANAGEMENT OUTTURN REPORT 31 MARCH 2024 2023-2024 

 

 

 

P a g e  3 | 17 
 

expanded by 0.1% compared to 2022. Of the recent monthly data available, the Office 
for National Statistics reported a rebound in activity with the economy expanding 0.2% 
in January 2024. The forecast from the first Quarter of 2024 (January 2024 to March 
2024 predicted growth of 0.6%, in June 24 this figure turned out to be higher at 0.7%. 
While the economy may somewhat recover in Q1 2024, the data suggests that prior 
increases in interest rates and higher price levels are depressing growth, which will 
continue to bear down on inflation throughout 2024. 

Labour market data provided a mixed message for policymakers. Employment and 
vacancies declined, and unemployment rose to 4.3% May to July 2023. The same 
month July 2023, saw the highest annual growth rate of 8.5% for total pay (i.e. 
including bonuses) and 7.8% for regular pay growth (i.e. excluding bonuses). 
Thereafter, unemployment began to decline, falling to 3.9% (3mth/year) in January 
2024 and pay growth also edged lower to 5.6% for total pay and 6.1% for regular pay, 
but remained above the Bank of England’s forecast at that point.  

Having begun the financial year at 4.25%, the Bank of England’s Monetary Policy 
Committee (MPC) increased Bank Rate to 5.25% in August 2023 with a 3-way split in 
the Committee’s voting as the UK economy appeared resilient in the face of the dual 
headwinds of higher inflation and interest rates. Bank Rate was maintained at 5.25% 
through to March 2024. The vote at the March MPC meeting was 8-1 in favour of 
maintaining rates at this level, with the single dissenter preferring to cut rates 
immediately by 0.25%. Although financial markets shifted their interest rate 
expectations downwards with expectations of a cut in June, the MPC’s focus remained 
on assessing how long interest rates would need to be restrictive in order to control 
inflation over the medium term. 

In the Bank’s quarterly Monetary Policy Report released in August 2023 the near-term 
projection for services price inflation was revised upwards, goods price inflation was 
widespread across products, indicating stronger domestic inflationary pressure with 
second-round effects in domestic prices and wages likely taking longer to unwind than 
they did to emerge.  In the February 2024 quarterly Monetary Policy Report the Bank’s 
expectations for the UK economy were positive for the first half of 2024, with a recovery 
from the mild recession in second half of 2023 being gradual. Headline CPI was 
forecast to dip below the 2% target quicker than previously thought due to declining 
energy prices, these effects would hold inflation slightly above target for much of the 
forecast horizon. 

Following this MPC meeting, Arlingclose, the authority’s treasury adviser, maintained 
its central view that 5.25% remains the peak in Bank Rate and that interest rates will 
most likely start to be cut later in the second half of 2024. The risks in the short-term 
are deemed to be to the downside as a rate cut may come sooner than expected, but 
then more broadly balanced over the medium term.  

Sentiment in financial markets remained uncertain and bond yields continued to be 
volatile over the year. During the first half of the year, yields rose as interest rates 
continued to be pushed up in response to rising inflation. From October they started 
declining again before falling sharply in December as falling inflation and dovish 
central bank attitudes caused financial markets to expect cuts in interest rates in 2024. 

Page 103



TREASURY MANAGEMENT OUTTURN REPORT 31 MARCH 2024 2023-2024 

 

 

 

P a g e  4 | 17 
 

When it emerged in January that inflation was stickier than expected and the Bank of 
England and the US Federal Reserve were data dependent and not inclined to cut 
rates soon, yields rose once again, ending the period some 50+ basis higher than 
when it started. 

Over the financial year, the 10-year UK benchmark gilt yield rose from 3.44% to peak 
at 4.75% in August, before then dropping to 3.44% in late December 2023 and rising 
again to 3.92% (28th March 2024). The Sterling Overnight Rate (SONIA) averaged 
4.96% over the period to 31st March. 

In response to an improving outlook for credit markets, in January 2024 Arlingclose 
moved away from its previous temporary stance of a 35-day maximum duration and 
increased its advised recommended maximum unsecured duration limit on all banks 
on its counterparty list to 100 days. 

Earlier in the period, S&P ratings agency revised the UK sovereign outlook to stable 
and upgraded Barclays Bank to A+. Moody’s also revised the UK outlook to stable, 
Handelsbanken’s outlook to negative, downgraded five local authorities, and affirmed 
HSBC’s outlook at stable while upgrading its Baseline Credit Assessment. Fitch 
revised United Overseas Bank (UOB) and Bank of Montreal (BMO) outlooks to stable. 

In the final quarter of the financial year, Fitch revised the outlook on the UK sovereign 
rating to stable from negative based on their assessment that the risks to the UK’s 
public finances had decreased since its previous review in October 2022, the time of 
the mini- budget. 

Heightened market volatility is expected to remain a feature, at least in the near term, 
and credit default swap levels will be monitored for signs of ongoing credit stress. As 
ever, the institutions and durations on the Authority’s counterparty list recommended 
by Arlingclose remain under constant review. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 104



TREASURY MANAGEMENT OUTTURN REPORT 31 MARCH 2024 2023-2024 

 

 

 

P a g e  5 | 17 
 

3.0     EXTERNAL DEBT AND INVESTMENT POSITION 

The Council’s external debt and investments at 31 March 2024 is set out in Table 1 
below. The Council held £99.61 million of Long Term Borrowing comprising: 
 

• Public Works Loan Board (PWLB - UK government) at fixed rates and duration 

• Lender’s Option Borrower’s Option (LOBO) which may be rescheduled ahead 
of their maturity of 22 July 2054 (no call was made in January 2024) 

• £2.74 million of Salix interest-free loans 
 

The Council borrowed £5 million for short-term cash flow purposes, for a period of 2 

months, from 22nd March 2024.  

As at 31st March 2024 the Council had £50 million of investments for treasury 

management purposes and £4.99 million of investments for commercial purposes.  

Table 1: Council’s external debt and investment position as of 31 March 2024 
 

Investments for Treasury Purposes 

Principal                 
as at 

31/03/2023 

Principal                 
as at 

31/03/2024 

 Average 
Rate             

31/03/2024 

£m £m % 

External Long Term Borrowing    

Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) 77.62 77.62 4.70 

Lenders Option Borrowers Option (LOBO) 19.25 19.25 4.65 

Salix Loans (Interest Free) 3.06 2.74 NIL 

Short Term Borrowing NIL 5.00 6.6 

Total External Borrowing 99.93 104.61 4.78* 

Other Long Term Liabilities     

Private Finance Initiative** 13.90 12.97    

Other Long Term Liabilities 0.23 -   

Total Other Long Term Liabilities 14.13 12.97   

Total Gross Debt 114.06 117.58   

Investments for treasury management 
purposes 

    

Debt Management Office 7.50 NIL NIL 

Local Authorities 53.00 44.00 5.22 

Money Market Funds (instant access) NIL NIL NIL 

Banks 14.00        6.00 3.57 

Total Treasury Investments 74.50 50.00 5.02 

Net Debt 39.56  67.58   

 

   

Investments for Commercial Purposes 

Fair Value 
as at 

31/03/2024 
£m 

Actual 
return 

31/03/2024 
£m 

Investments 4.990 0.459 
 
* Excluding Salix loans which are interest free and Short Term borrowing 
** (PFI) arrangement for the provision of a Secondary School in Maesteg 10 years remaining term 

Page 105



TREASURY MANAGEMENT OUTTURN REPORT 31 MARCH 2024 2023-2024 

 

 

 

P a g e  6 | 17 
 

 
The current profile of repayment of the Council’s long-term debt is set out in the 
Liability Benchmark chart below. The table assumes that the Public Works Loan Board 
and Lender’s Option Borrower’s Option loans will be repayable on their maturity date. 
However, although shown as maturing in 2054 the £19.25 million of Lender’s Option 
Borrower’s Option loans may be rescheduled at their next maturity date of 22 July 
2024. 
 
PWLB lending criteria requires that the Council does not invest purely for financial 
return if it wishes to access any new PWLB borrowing. The CIPFA TM Code sets out 
that it is not prudent for local authorities to invest for financial return. 
 
All borrowing by the Council is as a single pool of debt rather than having loans specific 
to individual schemes. Where a Council finances capital expenditure by debt, it must 
put aside revenue to repay that debt in later years, known as Minimum Revenue 
Provision (MRP). The MRP set aside for 2023-24 was £6.5 million, including MRP on 
supported and unsupported borrowing and the PFI for Maesteg School.  
 
Liability benchmark 
 
The liability benchmark is a tool which helps to assess the lowest level of borrowing 
the Council needs, taking into account available cash resources to fund capital 
expenditure in the short term. A minimum level of investments is factored into the 
calculation, set at £10 million, which are held as reasonably liquid to ensure the 
Council has available cash resources to meet day-to-day cash flow requirements. 
Forecast borrowing needs are based on capital expenditure estimates and available 
useable reserves. The underlying need to borrow to fund capital expenditure (known 
as the Capital Financing Requirement or CFR) is the amount of capital expenditure 
which is not funded via grants, capital receipts or contributions from revenue and 
earmarked reserves. 
 
Table 2 below shows the Capital Financing Requirement and the calculation of the 
liability benchmark. It is important to note that the graph is based on the current 
approved capital programme and the borrowing associated therewith. Any new 
schemes which require debt financing will increase the CFR and loans requirement. 
 
Table 2: Liability benchmark 
 

 31 March 
2023 
actual  

 
£m 

31 March 
2024 

estimate 
(TMS) 

£m 

31 March 
2024 
actual 

 
£m 

31 March 
2025 

forecast 
 

£m 

31 March 
2026 

forecast 
 

£m 

Capital Financing Requirement 176.21 184.81 175.72 183.26 179.66 

Less: Other debt liabilities (13.90) (12.97) (12.97) (15.12) (13.90) 

Loans Capital Financing 
Requirement 

162.31 171.83 162.75 168.14 165.77 
 

Less: Balance Sheet Resources (139.06) (84.14) (128.35) (66.81) (60.25) 

Plus: Liquidity allowance 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 

Liability Benchmark 33.25 97.69 44.40 111.33 115.51 

Page 106



TREASURY MANAGEMENT OUTTURN REPORT 31 MARCH 2024 2023-2024 

 

 

 

P a g e  7 | 17 
 

 
The liability benchmark is an important tool to help establish whether the Council is 
likely to be a long-term borrower or long-term investor in the future, and so shape its 
strategic focus and decision making. The liability benchmark itself represents an 
estimate of the cumulative amount of external borrowing the Council must hold to fund 
its current capital plans while keeping treasury investments at the minimum level to 
manage day-to-day cash flow. 
 

 
 

 

 
It is forecast that the Council may need to consider borrowing long term in 2024-25 
although this is based on a number of assumptions including the forecast capital 
programme expenditure and the level and use of reserves. 
 
The Section 151 Officer will monitor and update the liability benchmark assumptions 
on an on-going basis and report any significant changes within the treasury 
management monitoring reports to Cabinet, Governance and Audit Committee and 
Council as appropriate. This could be as a result of changes in the level of usable 
reserves at year end, slippage within the Capital Programme or changes within the 
working capital assumptions which may affect the Council’s need to take new long-
term borrowing. 
 

4.0 BORROWING 

As at 31 March 2024 the Council held £99.61 million of Long-Term Borrowing, £96.87 
million of which is fixed long term loans as part of its strategy for funding previous 
years’ capital programmes.  

Page 107



TREASURY MANAGEMENT OUTTURN REPORT 31 MARCH 2024 2023-2024 

 

 

 

P a g e  8 | 17 
 

 
The Council has previously raised the majority of its long-term borrowing from the 
Public Works Loan Board (PWLB). This was the source of funding the last time the 
Council took long-term borrowing of £5 million in March 2012. The Council will 
however consider long term loans from other sources including banks, pension funds 
and other local authorities if appropriate. The Council will also investigate the 
possibility of issuing bonds and similar instruments, in order to lower interest costs and 
reduce over-reliance on one source of funding in line with the CIPFA TM Code.  
 
The Council has loans from PWLB maturing within the next 3 financial years that it will 
need to repay. As noted above the Council may need to take out new borrowing, which 
may in part replace these maturing PWLB loans. The value of the loans due to be 
repaid over the next 3 years is shown in Table 3. 
 
Table 3: Value of PWLB maturing debt 
 

 2024-25 
£ million 

2025-26 
£ million 

2026-27 
£ million 

Value of maturing debt 5.580 3.709 2.790 

 
Maturity structure of borrowing 
 
The maturity structure of borrowing indicator is set to control the Council’s exposure 
to refinancing risk with respect to the maturity of the Council’s external borrowing. The 
limits are set to avoid having large amounts of debt maturing in a short space of time. 
and is the amount of projected borrowing maturing in each period as a percentage of 
total projected borrowing. Where the maturity date of borrowing is unknown, as in the 
case of LOBO loans, the maturity should normally be determined by reference to the 
earliest date at which the lender can require repayment. The £19.25 million of LOBO 
loans has therefore been included in the ‘Under 12 months’ category. The table also 
includes short-term borrowing of £5 million in March 2024. 
 
Table 4: Maturity Structure of Borrowing 
 

 
As can be seen from the table the maturity structure remains within the limits approved 
as part of the Treasury Management Strategy 2023-24. The following chart provides 
the maturity profile of the Council’s long-term debt. 
 

Maturity structure of borrowing Upper limit lower limit £ million As at  
31 March 2024 

 Under 12 months  50% 0% 24.64 23.56% 

 12 months and within 24 months 25% 0% 8.74 8.35% 

 24 months and within 5 years 25% 0% 6.20 5.93% 

 5 years and within 10 years 40% 0% 15.50 14.82% 

 10 years and within 20 years 50% 0% 13.14 12.56% 

 20 years and above 60% 25% 36.38 34.78% 

Page 108



TREASURY MANAGEMENT OUTTURN REPORT 31 MARCH 2024 2023-2024 

 

 

 

P a g e  9 | 17 
 

 
 
 
None of the LOBO loans have had to be repaid during the period to 31 March 2024. 
All the LOBO loans are subject to the lender having the right to change the rate of 
interest payable during the financial year at either of two trigger points in January and 
July, with the Council having the right to refuse the change, triggering early repayment 
and the need to re-finance. This is a manageable risk should repayment be needed 
during the current financial year as the Council has sufficient funds available in the 
short term, though would need to consider future borrowing to replace the repaid 
loans, in line with net loans requirement and liability benchmark in Table 2. 
 
Table 5: LOBO loans 
 

 
In accordance with the Treasury Management Strategy, the Council is internally 
borrowing, which is when it uses temporary cash balances it holds in the short term 
instead of undertaking external borrowing. The level of internal borrowing as at 31 
March 2024 was £58.14 million. This is shown by the Council’s Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR) net of its external level of debt including other long term debt 
liabilities. The Council’s CFR as at 31 March 2024 was £175.72 million, external 
borrowing £104.61 million and other long term debt liabilities of £12.97 million, which 
is the PFI Maesteg School scheme. 
 
The chart below shows the trend in the CFR based on current capital commitments 
within the approved capital programme. The CFR is anticipated to increase in the 
current year assuming capital expenditure is incurred as currently anticipated. The 
CFR in future years shows a reduction, however, this is on the assumption of no new 
schemes which require debt financing. If new schemes requiring debt financing are 
added, the CFR will continue to increase. 

Commencement 
date 

Loan value 
£m 

Potential 
repayment date 

Option 
frequency 

Full term maturity 

22 January 2004 4.00 22 July 2024 6 months 22 January 2054 

22 January 2004 5.00 22 July 2024 6 months 22 January 2054 

22 January 2004 10.25 22 July 2024 6 months 22 January 2054 

Page 109



TREASURY MANAGEMENT OUTTURN REPORT 31 MARCH 2024 2023-2024 

 

 

 

P a g e  10 | 17 
 

 

5.0 TREASURY INVESTMENTS 

The Council holds treasury investments as a result of temporary cash balances arising 
from its day-to-day activities. The management of the day-to-day cash requirements of 
the Council is undertaken in-house with advice from Arlingclose, the Council’s Treasury 
Management advisors. This may involve temporary borrowing to meet cash-flow needs 
or temporary lending of surplus funds. Investment balances can fluctuate daily and 
arise as a result of a range of circumstances, including timing differences of revenue 
and capital cash flows, reserves and other balances held for future use. 
 
Investments are made in institutions approved by Council as part of its Treasury 
Management Strategy and in accordance with investment guidelines issued by the 
Welsh Government. As part of the Markets and Financial Instruments Directive II, the 
Council elected for ‘professional’ status, which covers national and regional 
governments and public bodies. The categories of investments the Council can invest 
in can be changed with any proposed changes being presented to Council for approval.  
 
Treasury investments are made primarily on the basis of ensuring security of the funds 
invested, whilst managing liquidity, and only then considering a commensurate return 
on the investment. As at 31 March 2024 the Council held £50 million of investments, 
with a weighted average return of 5.02.% (£64.50 million at 4.35% as at 31 December 
2023). Table 6 below shows the investment profile as at 31 March 2024. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 110



TREASURY MANAGEMENT OUTTURN REPORT 31 MARCH 2024 2023-2024 

 

 

 

P a g e  11 | 17 
 

 
Table 6: Investments by counterparty type 
 

 
The following should be noted: 
 

• During the period to 31 March 2024 all investments made were in line with the 
approved counterparties within the Treasury Management Strategy. 

• Investments are diversified over a number of organisations across different 
sectors, demonstrating a diversified investment portfolio. 

• All investments are in sterling and are rated A- and above as per the approved 
criteria or with a public body. 

• The weighted average rates are for all investments made during 1 April 2023 to 
31 March 2024. 

 

The overall interest receivable from treasury investments for the period 1 April 2023 to 
31 March 2024 was £5.108 million. Although interest rates are expected to have 
reached their peak, the returns on new investments may vary as there will be a time 
lag on the overall average rates for existing investments until historic investments 
mature and monies are reinvested. The Council will continue to take a cautious 
approach to investing to ensure as its primary concern the security of any investments 
made. The risk of default for investments held is considered negligible. 

All investments longer than 364 days will be made with a cautious approach to cash 
flow requirements and advice from the Council’s Treasury Management advisors will 
be sought as necessary. The Treasury Management Strategy 2023-24 reduced the 
maximum duration for new investments to local authorities from 25 years (as grouped 
with other government agencies) to 2 years. All investments as at 31 March 2024 were 
short term of less than one year duration. 
 
 
 
 
 

Investment 
Category 

Balance 1 
April 2023 

 
 

£m 

Investments 
made in 
period 

 
£m 

Investments 
repaid in 

period 
 

£m 

Balance 
31 March 

2024 
 

£m 

Weighted 
interest rate      

1 April 2023 to 
31 March 2024 

% 

Government DMO 7.50 349.90 (357.40)   0.00 5.04 

Local Authorities 53.00 44.00   (53.00) 44.00 4.30 

Money Market 
Funds 

- 129.60 (129.60)   NIL 4.98 

Banks (fixed 
maturity dates) 

3.00 27.00 (30.00) NIL 4.92 

Banks (instant 
access/notice 
accounts) 

11.00 71.70 (76.70) 6.00 3.89 

TOTAL 74.50 622.20 (646.70) 50.00 4.50 

Page 111



TREASURY MANAGEMENT OUTTURN REPORT 31 MARCH 2024 2023-2024 

 

 

 

P a g e  12 | 17 
 

Table 7: Sums invested for periods longer than a year 
 

Price risk indicator TMS  
2023-24 

£m 

Actual 
 

£m 

Full term 
maturity 

Limit on principal invested beyond financial 
year end 

15 NIL 
 

NIL 

 
The below table details the Council’s investments by counterparty and maturity profile. 
 
Table 8: Investments by maturity 
 

Counterparty 
Category 

Instant 
Access 

 
 

£m 

Deposits 
maturing 
within 1 
month 

£m 

Deposits 
maturing 
within 2-3 
months 

£m 

Deposits 
maturing 

within 4-12 
months 

£m 

Deposits 
maturing 
after 12 
months 

£m 

TOTAL 
 
 
 

£m 

Government DMO - - - - - - 

Local Authorities - 5.00 4.00 35.00 - 44.00 

Money Market Funds - - - - - - 

Banks 6.00 - - - - 6.00 

Total 5.50 7.00 18.00 34.00 - 50.00 

 
The pie chart below summarises the distribution of the Council’s investments by credit 
ratings. Most local authorities do not have credit ratings but are considered secure 
investment counterparties. Although the council did not have deposits with the 
Government DMO at 31 March 2024 it did use the facility during the period. The DMO 
is the UK government and rated AA. 

 

 

Page 112



TREASURY MANAGEMENT OUTTURN REPORT 31 MARCH 2024 2023-2024 

 

 

 

P a g e  13 | 17 
 

6.0 INTEREST RATE EXPOSURES 

The Council is exposed to interest rate movements on its borrowings and 
investments. Movements in interest rates have a complex impact on the Council, 
depending on how variable and fixed interest rates move across differing financial 
instrument periods. Short term and variable rate loans expose the Council to the 
risk of short-term interest rate rises and are therefore subject to the Treasury 
Management indicator below. 

The following Table is based on investments at 31 March 2024. 
 
Table 9: Interest Rate Exposure 
 

Interest rate risk indicator £ million 

One year revenue impact of a 1% rise in interest rates (0.307) 

One year revenue impact of a 1% fall in interest rates 0.500 

 
It is important to note that this is an indicator, not a limit. It is calculated at a point in 
time on the assumption that maturing loans and investments would be replaced at 
rates 1% higher or lower than they are currently, and that the treasury investment and 
borrowing portfolios remain unchanged over the next 12 months, which in practice is 
not the case. The figure for the 1% fall in interest rates indicator is not the same figure 
as the 1% increase (but reversed) as the borrowing relates to variable LOBO loans 
where it is assumed that the lender would only exercise their option if there was an 
increase in interest rates. All other borrowing does not have a rate reset in the next 
year and is with the PWLB at fixed rates. 
 
A comparison of interest expenditure and income due for the period 1 April 2023 to 31 
March 2024 is shown below. 
 
Table 10: Interest 
 

 
01 April 2023 – 
31 March 2024 

£ million 

Interest expenditure payable on long term borrowing 
          4.528 

Other Interest expenditure payable 1.353 

Total Interest Payable  5.881 

Interest income received in period (5.108) 

Net interest cost 0.773 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 113



TREASURY MANAGEMENT OUTTURN REPORT 31 MARCH 2024 2023-2024 

 

 

 

P a g e  14 | 17 
 

7.0 NON-TREASURY INVESTMENTS 

The Council recognises that investment in other financial assets and property primarily 
for financial return, taken for non-treasury management purposes, requires careful 
investment management. Such activities include investments in subsidiaries and 
investments in property. A schedule of the Council’s existing non-treasury investments 
(currently limited to owned property) is set out in Table 11 below. Recent PWLB 
guidance requires that local authorities should review their investment portfolio if they 
wish to secure PWLB borrowing but does not require the local authority to sell existing 
investment assets. This category covers non-financial assets held primarily or partially 
to generate a profit, primarily investment property. These assets are valued on an 
annual basis to reflect market conditions and the current value at the time they are 
valued, otherwise known as Fair Value, which provides security of their value and 
continued benefit to the Council. 
 
Table 11: Non-treasury investments 
 

Non-treasury investments £ million 

Bridgend Science Park - Units 1 & 2             3.170 

Waterton Cross Land             0.560 

Brynmenyn Industrial Estate Plot 53             0.675  

Village Farm Plots 32,119 & 120             0.385  

Tyrewise Bridgend             0.200  

Total at Fair Value             4.990 

Annual return 2023-24            0.459 

 
The Council considers that the scale of its investment properties is proportionate to the 
resources of the Council as the investment represents less than 1% of its total long-
term assets. In addition, the value of these investments has increased from the 
previous year. 
 
In accordance with Welsh Government Investment Guidance, these are be classified 
as non-treasury investments.  
  

Page 114



TREASURY MANAGEMENT OUTTURN REPORT 31 MARCH 2024 2023-2024 

 

 

 

P a g e  15 | 17 
 

 
Schedule A – Credit Rating Equivalence Table 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 115



TREASURY MANAGEMENT OUTTURN REPORT 31 MARCH 2024 2023-2024 

 

 

 

P a g e  16 | 17 
 

 
 
         
 
Schedule B – Arlingclose Economic & Interest Rate Forecast – May 2024 
 

 

 
• The Bank of England is now biased towards reductions in Bank Rate, and the 
upcoming data will determine the timing of the start of the easing cycle and its extent. 
The UK economy started the year stronger than expected, and wage growth, core and 
services inflation remain high, so there remains uncertainty around the start of the 
cycle, but it will be a surprise not to see one cut this summer. 
 
• In May, the MPC continued its dovish tilt. Another committee member, Dave 
Ramsden joined Swati Dhingra in voting for a rate cut. For the remaining seven 
members the focus remains on the persistence of inflation, specifically in wages and 
services. 
 
• UK GDP growth rebounded in Q1 2024 after the technical recession in H2 2023. 
Survey data suggests that this recovery continued in April, but the UK economy 
remains relatively weak, with GDP only 0.2% higher in Q1 compared to a year ago and 
consumer spending barely growing. 
 
• Employment has started to decline, although vacancy levels stabilised suggesting 
that demand for new labour remains relatively resilient. Anecdotal evidence suggests 
lower pay growth, and we expect unemployment to rise, which will lead to some 
deterioration in consumer sentiment. Household and business spending will therefore 

Page 116



TREASURY MANAGEMENT OUTTURN REPORT 31 MARCH 2024 2023-2024 

 

 

 

P a g e  17 | 17 
 

remain relatively soft. Stronger demand in Q1, however, raises some upside risks to 
this view. 
 
• Inflation rates will move lower over the next 12 months. The headline CPI rate for 
April will be at or below the 2% target. There are upside risks from geo-political issues 
and now stronger domestic activity. With policymaker fears around the persistence of 
underlying inflationary pressure, particularly services inflation, we believe Bank Rate 
will remain unchanged until August and initially reduce slowly. 
 
• The MPC minutes suggest that some committee members may not need to see much 
more evidence on falling inflation before changing their minds, so there is certainly a 
chance of an earlier rate cut in June. 
 
• We expect that the continuation of restrictive monetary policy will bear down on 
activity and will require substantial loosening in 2025 to boost activity and inflation. 
 
• Global bond yields will remain volatile and investors’ positioning for the timing of US 
monetary loosening will continue to influence movements in gilt yields. Moreover, there 
is a heightened risk of fiscal policy, credit events and/or geo-political events causing 
substantial volatility in yields. 
 

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 119

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 12 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Approval of Minutes
	$$Decision Record Council 240417-new

	4 Presentation to Council by Representatives of Dwr Cymru Welsh Water
	7 Revenue Budget Outturn 2023-24
	Appendix 1 - Prior Year Budget Reductions Monitoring
	Appendix 2 - 2023-24 Risk Tracker Revenue Budget Outturn Reduction Proposals March 2024
	Appendix 3 Revenue Budget Outturn Monitoring 2023-24
	Appendix 4 Revenue Budget Outturn - Earmarked Reserves Quarter 4

	8 Capital Programme Outturn 2023-24 and Quarter 1 Update 2024-25
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix D

	9 Treasury Management Outturn Report 2023-24
	Appendix A - Treasury Management Outturn report 2023-24

	13 Redundancy and Early Retirement Costs

